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Exhibit 9-D Aetna's 201 l Annual Report to Shareholders (including 
audited consolidated Financial Statements and the 
independent auditors' report thereon). 
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To our shareholders: 

Aetna Inc. 
151 Farmington Avenue 
Hartford, Connecticut 06156 

Mark T. Bertolini 
·Chairman, .Chief Executive 
Officer and President 

Last year, Aetna built a sound foundatiqn for the evolving health care industry. Starting with· our 
expertise in health benefits solutions and health information technology, we added new 
relationships, new technology solutions, and new capabilities to chart a path that we believe will 
lead to better health care systems in the United States and around the globe. 

In the U.S., we fundamentally believe the American health care system needs reform. Much of the 
public and political dialogue has been focused on access to care. However, achieving reform that 
fully addresses access, cost and quality will be a journey that extends well beyond any one piece of 
legislation. We believe the most fundamental flaw to be addressed is that our current system pays 
health care providers according to activity, rather than the quality or result of care delivered. This 
payment model d~ives health .care9os~s higher than nece.ssary, witho~t providing any clear 

. advantage. in terms of quality. As such, quality and affordability are at the top of our list of reform 
goals. 

We believe Accountable Care Organizations, where health care providers are incented to help 
people get and stay healthy, are the future of the provider and health plan relationship. In 2011, we 
built our own Accountable Care Solutions business to bring the full power of our investments in 
technology and our intellectual property to the task of working with health care providers to form 
and maintain market-leading Accountable Care Organizations. With. each Accountable Care 
Organization, we move further down the path toward changing the way health care is delivered, 
and improving quality and affordability of care. 

The solutions we are developing to improve the quality and affordability of health care in the U.S. 
will be valuable in the global marketplace. Nations around the world are looking for more 
efficient ways to provide care and to do so with tighter budgets. As a global neighbor and industry 
leader, we are active in formulating public policies that will influence economies and health care 
systems in ways that can benefit generations to come. 

Making quality health care more affordable, accessible and easy to use for people around the globe 
is a worthy and attainable cause. We believe the health information technologies we are 
developing will _help nations, physicians, and consmriers use the heaLVt care system in smarter and 
simpler ways that will improve choice and affordability. · In return, our customers gain greater 
value for their health care dollar and access to higher quality care. 



I am confident that the opportunities ahead of us will c.reate greater value for our stakeholders, 
relevant solutions for our customers, and a chance for our employees to help make the world a 
healthier place. 

Mark T. Bertolini 
April 2012 

Note: As we have done in recent years, in an effort to conserve environmental resources, our 
traditional summary Annual Report will be available in an online format. Please visit 
www.aetna.com/201lannualreport to learn how we are providing consumers with the connections 
they need to access the right care at the right time. The summary Annual Report is not part of any 
proxy solicitation and is not incorporated by reference in any Aetna proxy materials. 



I. 

2011 Aetna Annual Report, Financial Report to Shareholders 

Unless the context otherwise requires, references to the tem1s we, our, or, us, used throughout this 2011 Annual 
l?eporl. Finnncial Report to Shareholders (the "Annual Report'') refer to Aetna Inc. (a Pennsylvania corporation) 
('Aetna") and its subsidiaries. 

For your reference, we provide the following index to the Annual Report: 

Page 

II 

12 

15 
41 

113 

116 

111 

Description 

Management's Discussion a·nd Analysis of Financial Conditlon and Results of Operations 
("MD&A") The MD&A provides a review of our operating results for the years 2009 through 2011, as 
well as our financial condition at December 31, 2011 and 2010. The MD&A should be read in 
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. The MD&A is comprised of the 
following: 

Overview - We begin ow.MD&A with an overview of earnings, cashjlo.ws and significant 
developments for the last three years and our outlook for 2012. 

Health Care - We discuss the factors affecting Health Care revenues and operating earnings in this 
section. 

Gro11p Insurance - We discuss the factors affecting Group Insurance revenues and operating earnings 
in this section. 

Large Case Pensi<ins - We discuss the factors affecting Large Case Pensions operating earnings, 
including the results of our discontinued products, in this section. · 

lnvestmellts - As an insurer, we have a significant investment portfolio to support our liabilities and 
capital. In this section, we discuss our investments and realized capital gains and losses and describe 
our evaluation of the risk of our market-sensitive instruments. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources - In this section, we discuss our cash flows, financing resources, 
contractual obligation~ and other matters .that may affect our liquidity and cash flows. · 

Critical Accounting Estimates - In this section, we discuss the accounting estimates we consider 
critical in preparing our financial statements. 

Regulatory E11vironment- Jn this section, we discuss the regulatory environment in which we operate. 

Fonvard-Looking Informatioii!Risk Faetots - We condude our MD&A with a diScussion oj'certain 
risks and uncertainties that, if developed into actual eve·nts, could have a material adverse impact on 
our business, cash flows, financial condition and/or operating results. · 

Selected Financial Data - We provide selected annual financial data for the most recent five years. 

Consolidated Financial Statements • We include our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 20 I ( 
and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each-: 
of the years 2009 through 2011. 

Notes to Consolidated Finalicial Statements 

Reports of Management and our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm • We include a 
report on our responsibilities for internal contro\'over financial reporting and financial statements, the 
oversight of our Audit Cominittee and KPMG LLP's opinion on our consolidated financial statements and 
internal control over financial reporting. · · · · · · · · · 

Quarterly Data (unaudited) - We provide selected quarterly financial data for each of the last eight 
quarters. 

Corporate Performance Graph - We provide a graph comparing the cumulative total shareholder return 
on our common stock to the cumulative total return on certain published indices for the years 2006 
through 2011 . 

118 Board of Directors, Management and Corporate Secretary 

119 Shareholder Information 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") 

OVERVIEW 

We are one of the nation's leading diversified health care benefits companies, serving approximately 36.4 million 
people with information and resources to help them make better infonned decisions about their health care. We 
offer a broad range of traditional and consumer-directed health insurance products and related services, including 
medical, pharmacy, dental, behavioral health, group life and disability plans, medical management capabilities, 
Medicaid health care management services and health information exchange technology services. Our customers 
include employer groups, individuals, college students, part-time and hourly workers, health plans, health care 
providers, governmental units, government-sponsored plans, labor groups and expatriates. Our operations are 
conducted in three business segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions .. 

Summarized Results 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Revenue: 

Health Care $ 31,254.0 $ 31,604.0 $ 32,073.3 

Group Insurance 2,025.6 2,118.6 2,143.0 

Large Case Pensions 500.2 523.4 547.8 

Total revenue 33,779.8 34,246.0 34,764.1 

·Net income· l,985.7 1,766.8 1,276.S 

_Operating earnings: {ll 

Health Care 1,955.7 1,650.I 1,412.7 

Group Insurance 153.0 128.0 103.8 

Large Case Pensions 20.7 27.8 32.2 

Cash flows from operations 2,507.8 1,412.1 2,488.3 

( 
11 Our discussion of operating results for our reponable business segments is based on operating earnings, which is a non-GAAP measure 

of net income (the term "GAAP" refers to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles). Refer to "Segment Results and Use ofNon­
GAAP Measures in this Document" beginning on page 5 for a discussion of non-GAAP measures. Refer to pages 7, I 0 and 11 for a 
reconciliation of operating earnings to net income for Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions, respectively. 

We analyze our operating results based on operating earnings, which excludes net realized capital gains and losses 
as well as other items from net income. Operating earnings for the past three years were primarily generated from 
our Health Care segment. This segment produced higher operating earnings in 2011 than 2010 and 2009. 

Operating earnings in 2011 were higher than 20 l 0 and 2009 primarily as a result of higher Conunercial 
underwriting margins (calculated as premiums less heaJth care costs) in our Health Care segment. In 2011, 
underwriting margins in the Health Care segment were higher than 2010 primarily as a result of low medical 
utilization, continued pricing discipline, medical cost management and unit cost controls. In 2010, underwriting 
margins in the Health Care segment were higher than 2009 primarily due to higher Cocrunercial underwriting 
margins, driven by management actions to appropriately price the business and members' lower medical utilization, 
partially offset by the effect of lower Commercial Insured membership in 2010. Our underwriting margins in 2011 
and 2010.included $207 million and $118 million, respectiveiy, ofb~fore tax fav~·rable development of prior-years 
health care cost estimates. 

Total revenue declined during each of 2011 and 20 l 0 when compared to the corresponding prior year primarily due 
to a decline in Health Care premium as a result of lower Commercial Insured membership.due primarily to lapsed 
customers and in-group attrition that exceeded new sales. During 2011, the decline in total revenue was partially 
offset by higher Health Care fees and other revenue, primarily as a result of our 2011 acquisitions. 

In 2011, our Health Care segment experienced lower medical Insured membership (where we assume all or a 
majority of the risk for medical and dental care costs) and higher medical membership in our administrative 
services contract ("ASC") products (where the plan sponsor assumes all or a majority of the risk for medical and 
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dental care costs). During_20ll, membership for our dental products was flat, while membership for pharmacy 
benefit management services products decreased. At December 31, 2011, we served approximately 18.5 million 
medical members (consisting of approximately 31% Insured members and 69%ASC members), 13.7 million dental 
members and 8.8 million phannacy benefit management services members. At December 31, 2010, we served 
approximately 18.5 million medical members (consisting of approximately 32% Insured members and 68% ASC 
members), 13. 7 million dental member~ and 9.4 million pharmacy benefit management services members. Refer to 
"Health Care - Membership" on page 9 for further information. 

During the past three years our cash nows supported. both new and ongoing initiatives. 
We generated substantial cash flows from our businesses in the past three years, which we used to support our 
growth strategies, repmchase our common stock and contribute to our pension plan. 

We completed the acquisitions ofMedicity Inc. ("Medicity"), Prodigy Health Group ("Prodigy"), Genworth 
Financial, Inc.'s (ftGenworth") Medicare Supplement business and related blocks of in-force business and PayFlex 
Holdings, Inc. ("PayFlex") in 2011, and_Horizon Behavioral Services, LLC ("Horizon") in 2009. 

Horizon Behavioral Services, LLC 
In November 2009, we acquired Horizon, a leading provider of employee assistance programs, for 
approximately $70 million, net of cash acquired. We recorded goodwill related to this transaction of 
approximately $56 million in 20091.of which $37 ~illion will .be tax ded_uctible ... 

Medicity Inc. 
In January 2011, we acquired Medicity, a health information exchange company, for approximately $490 
million, net of cash acquired. We recorded goodwill related to this transaction of approximately $385 
million, an immaterial amount of which will be tax deductible. This acquisition enables us to offer a set of 
convenient, easy-to-access technology solutions for physicians, hospitals and other health care providers. 

Prodigy Health Group 
In June 20 II, we acquired Prodigy, a third-party administrator of self-funded health care plans, for 
approximately $600 million, net of cash acquired. We preliminarily recorded goodwill related to this 
transaction of approximately $446-million; of which approximately $52 million will be tax deductible. 
Prodigy extends our capabilities in the third-party administrator business while providing a separate option 
under the Prodigy brands that addresses affordability and quality for middle-sized and small businesses and, 
customers who are primarily price-focused. " 

Genworth Financial, Inc. s Medicare Supplement Business and Related Blocks of Jn-Force Business 
In October 2011, we _acquired Genworth's Medicare Supplement business and related blocks of in-force ·, 
business for approximately $225 million, net of cash acquired. We preliminarily recorded $52 million of · · 
goodwill related to this transaction. The excess of the purchase price over the faii: market value of the net 
assets we acquired, including goodwill, is tax deductible as _a result of the transaction being treated as an 
asset purchase for tax purposes. This acquisition brought members and enhances our capabilities to grow 
our Medicare Supplement business; which include ·access to cbmnierCial retifc'es· and Medicare Prescription 
Drug Plan members, multi-channel distribution and our other product offerings. 

PayF/ex Holdings, Inc. 
In October 2011, we acquired Pay Flex, one of the nation's largest independent account-based health plan 
administrators, for approximately $200 million, net of cash acquired. We preliminarily recorded goodwill 
related to this transaction of approximately $147 million, an immaterial amount of which will be tax 
deductible. Acquiring PayFlex extends our· ability to provide members with flexible, customized, easy-to­
use tools and solutions to better manage their health care expenses. 

Refer to Notes 3 and 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on pages 74 and 77, respectively 
for additional information. . · · 
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In 2011, 2010 and 2009, we repurchased approximately 45 million, 52 million and 29 million shares of our common 
stock at a cost of approximately $1.8 billion, $1.6 billion and $773 million, respectively, under share repurchase 
programs authorized by Aetna's Board of Directors (our "Board"). 

We have contributed to our tax-qualified noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the "Aetna Pension Plan") 
in each of the past three years. During 2011, 2010 and 2009, we m<1:de voluntary cash contributions of$60 million, 
$505 million; and $45 million, respectively. We do not have any required contribution in 201_2, although we may 
voluntarily contribute approximately $60 million to the Aetna Pension Plan in 2012. 

Voluntary Early Retirement Program 
In July 2011, we announced a voluntary early retirement program. In connection with the voluntary early 
retirement program, we recorded a one-time charge for enhanced severance and benefits of $89 million ($13 7 
million pretax) in the third quarter of 201 1. 

Medicare Update 
On June 13, 20 I I, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS") lifted_ the intermediate sanctions it had 
previously imposed on us that required us to suspend the enrollment of and marketing to new members of all Aetna 
Medicare Advantage and Standalone Prescription Drug Plan ("PDP") contracts. We have resumed marketing our 
Medicare Advantage and PDP products and have been enrolling beneficiaries with effective dates on and af'.ter July 
1, 2011. CMS still is not assigning any new low income subsidy members to our PDPsat this time. However, low 
income subsidy members can make their own choice to enroll in Aetna products. As a result of these sanctions, our 
2011 Medicare membership and operating results were adversely affected because we did not participate in the 
annual enrollment process for 2011. We continue to cooperate fully with CMS to address residual matters identified 
in connection with the sanction review. 

Board of Directors Update 
Fernando Aguirre was appointed to our Board in July 20I l, for a term that will run until our 2012 Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders. Mr. Aguirre is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Chiquita Brands International, Inc. He 
also serves on our Board's Audit Cornrnittee and Medical Affairs Committee. With the addition of Mr. Aguirre, our 
Board consists of thirteen directors. 

Management Update 
On February 25, 2011, the Board elected Mark T. Bertolini Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Board's 
Executive Committee, each effective April 8, 2011, upon the retirement of Ronald A. Williams, our previous 
executive Chairman. 

Health Care Reform.Leglslation 
In March 2010, President Obama signed into law the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health 
Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, "Health Care Reform"), which makes broad-based 
changes to the U.S. health care system which could significantly affect the U.S. economy and has and will 
significantly impact our business operations and financial results, including our pricing and medical benefit 
ratios. Health Care Reform presents us with new business opportunities, but also with new financial and other 
challenges. It is reasonably possible that Health Care Reform, in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect 
on our busines~ operations and financial results. . · . 

Components of the legislation will be phased in over the next six years. We are dedicating ~d will continue to be 
required to dedicate material resources and incur material. expenses during that tiDle to implement and comply with 
Health Care Reform as well as state level health care reform. While the federal government has issued a number of 
regulations implementing Health Care Reform, many significant parts of the legislation, including health insurance 
exchanges ("Insurance Exchanges"), premium rate review, the scope of"essential health benefits", employer 
penalties and the implementation of minimum medical Joss ratios ("MLRs"), require further guidance and 
clarification at the federal level and/or in the form of regulations and actions by state legislatures to implement the 
law. As a result, many of the impacts of Health Care Reform will not be known for several years. Pending efforts 
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in the U.S. Congress to repeal, amend or restrict funding for various aspects of Health Care Refonn, the pending 
litigation challenging the constitutionality of Health Care Refonn and the 2012 presidential election create 
:1cirli1ional uncertainty about the ultimate impact of the legislation. 

BegiIUJing in 2012, we will be required to make premium rebate payments to customers that are enrolled under 
certain ofour health insuranc~ policies if specific_minirrium annual MLRs are not met in the prior year. Our results 
for full-year 2011 include an estinlate of the minimum MLR rebates we will pay in 201_2. 

In addition, during 2012 we exped to continue making compliance-related investments, including approximately 
$50 million for Health Care Refonn and $40 million for expenses relating to implementing new standardized codes 
for describing health conditions ('1ICD- l O"). . 

For additional information on Health Care Reform, refer to "Regulatory Environment" beginning on page 25 and 
"Forward-Looking Infonilation/Risk Factors" beginning on page 41. 

Outlook for 2012 
We expect to face continued external challenges in our business during 2012, in~luding the adverse and uncertain 
economic environment, the implementation of Health Care Reform (including minimum MLR rebates and 
increased governmental premium rate' review) and a cc)ntinued low interest rate environment for our investments. 
At the same time, we project that our total medical membership, particularly Commercial ASC membership, will 
decline in the first quarter of 2012 compared to year-end 2011 , and we project that medical cost trends will increase 
from their 2011 levels to more normal levels in 2012. We are seeking to offset these factors by pricing our products 
and services appropriately, managing our expenses, making strategic investments designed to diversify our revenue 
stn:ams and position us for the future and effectively managing our capital. 

Our primary business goals for 2012 are to drive profitable growth and prepare Aetna for success in 2013 and 
beyond. 

Refer to "Forward-Looking Information/Risk Factors" beginning on page ~I for infotmatio_n regarding other 
important factors that may cause our actual results to differ from those currently projected in "Outlook for 2012" 
and/or otherwise materially affect us. 

Segment Results and Use of Non-GAAP Measures in this Document 
The following discussion of operating results is presented based on our reportable segments in accordance with the 
accounting guidance for segment reporting and consisten~ with our segment disclosure included in Note 19 of Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements be.ginning on page 108 .. Our operations are conducted in three business 
segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions. Our Corporate Financing segment is not a 
business segnrent; it is added to our bu_siness segments to reconcile our consolidated results. The Corporate 
Financing segment includes interest expense on our outstanding debt and the financing components of our pension 
and other postretirement benefit plans ("OPEB") expense (the.service cost.and prior service cost components of this 
expense are allocated to our business segments).· · 

Our discussion of our operating results is based on operating earnings, which is the measure reported to our Chief 
Executive Officer for purposes of assessing financial performance and making operating decisions, such as 
allocating resources to each segment. Operating earnings exclude net realized capital gains or losses as well as 
other items, if any, from net income reported in accordance with GAAP. We believe excluding net realized capital 
gains or losses from net income to arrive at operating earnings provides more meaningful information about om 
underlying business performance. Net realized capital gains and losses arise from various types of transactions, 
primarily in the course of managing a portfolio of assets that support the payment of-liabilities; however, these 
transactions do not directly relate to the underwriting or servicing of products for our customers and are not directly 
related to the core performance of our business operations. We also may exclude other items that neither relate to 
the ordinary course of our business nor reflect our underlying business performance from net income to arrive at 
operating earnings. In each segment discussion in this MD&A, we provide a table that reconciles operating 
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earnings to net income. ·Each table details the net realized capital gains or losses and any other items excluded from 
net income, and the foo~otes ·to each table describe the nature of each other item and why we beiieve it is 

appropriate to exclude that item from net income. 

HEALTHCARE 

Health Care consists of medical, pharmacy benefit management services, dental, behavioral health and vision plans 
offered on both an In.sured basis and an ASC basis. Medical products include point-of-service ("POS"), preferred 
provider organization ("PPO"), health maintenance organization ("HM:O") and indemnity benefit plans. Medical 
products also in~lude health savings accounts ("HSAs'') and Aetna HealthFund®, consumer-directed health plans 
that combine traditional POS or PPO and/or dental coverage, subject to a deductible, with an accumulating benefit 
account. We also offer Medicare and Medicaid products and services, as well as specialty products, such as health 
information exchange technology services, medical management and data analytics services, medical stop loss 
insurance and products that provide access to our provider networks in select markets. We separately. track 
premiums and heal~ care c~sts for Medica~e and Medicaid products; all other medical, derital and other Health 
Care products are referred to as Comniercial. 

Operating Summary 

(Millions) 

Premiums: 

Commercial 

Medicare 

Medicaid 

Total premiums 

r ees and other revenue 

Net invesnnenl income 

Net realized capital gains 

Total revenue 

Health care costs · 

Operating expenses: 

Selling expenses 

General and administrative expenses 

Total operating expenses 

Amortization of other acquired intangible assets 

Total benefits and expenses 

Income befo.re ineome taxes 

Income taxes 

Net income 

?Oll 

$ 20,263.9 

5,485.0 

1,440.3 

27,189.2 

3,604.7 

338.2 

121.9 

31 ,254.0 

21,653.5 

1,027.6 

5,404.8 

6,432.4 

US.7 

28,201.6 

3,052.4 

1,106.6 

$ 1,945.8 
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2010 2009 

$ 20,632.2 $ 21 ,581.6 

5,896.1 5,735.8 

1,082.3 926.4 

27,610.6 28,243.8 

3.413.3 3,418.0 

418.8 392.5 

161.3 19.0 

31,604.0 32,073.3 

22,719.6 24,061.2 

1,148.4 1,158.7 

4,884.8 4,602.9 

6,033.2 5,761.6 

88.3 90.3 

28,841.1 . 29,913.l 

2,762.9 2,160.2 

954.2 744.9 

$ l,808.7 $ 1,415.3 



The table presented below.reconciles net income to operating earnings <1>: 

(Millions) 

Net income 
Net realized capital gains 

Voluntary.early retirement program 

Transaction~related costs 

Litigation-related insurance proceeds 

Severance and facilities charge 

ES! Settlement 

Operating earnings s 

2011 

1,945.8 $ 

(79.2) 

89.1 

1,955.7 $ 

2010 2009 

1,808.7 s 1,415.3 

(131.0) (19.0) 

43.1 

(lOl.5) (24.9) 

30.8 60.9 

(19.6) 

1,650.l $ 1,412.7 

<1l In addition to net realized capital gains, 1he following items are excluded from operating earnings because we believe !hey neither relate 
to the ordinary course of our business nor reflect our underlying business performance: 

In 2011, we announced a voluntary early retirement program. In connection with the voluntary early retirement program, we 
recorded a one-time charge of $89.1 million ($137.0 million pretax) during the third quarter of 2011 , 
In 20 I 0, we recorded transaction-related costs of S43. I million ($66.2 million pretax). These costs related to our Phannacy 
Benefit Management Subcontract Agre'ement with CVS Caremark Corporation and the announced acquisition of Medici!)'. 
Following a Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruling in June 2009, we recor~ed litigation-related pro.ceeds of.$101.5 million ($156.3 · 
million pretax) for 2010 and $24.9 million ($38.2 million pretax) for 2009 from our liability insurers related to certain litigation 
we senled in 2003. . 
In 20IO and 2009 we recorded severance and faci lities charges of$30.8 million ($47.4 million pretax) end $60.9 million ($93.7 
million pretax}, respectively. The severance and facilities charges in each year related to actions taken that year or commined 10 
be t3kcn in the following year. 
In 2009, we reached an agreement with Express Scripts, Inc. and one of its subsidiaries (collectively "ES!") to senh: certain 
li1iga1ion in which we were the plaintiff .. · Under the applicable senlement. we received approximately $19.6 million ($30.2 
million pretax}, ne1 of fees and expenses, in 2009. 

Operating earnings in 2011 improved over 2010. 
2011 operating earnings were higher than 20 l 0, primarily due to higher Commercial widerwriting margins as a 
result of low medical utilization, disciplined execution of ow pri_cing_ and medical cost management strategies and 
unit cost controls. 20 to operating e~mings were higher than 2009, primarily due to higher Cdmmefoial . 
underwriting margins driven by management actions to appropriately price the business and members' lower 
medical utilization; partially offset by the effect of lower Commercial Insured membership in 20 l 0. Our oper.ating 
earnings in 2011 and 2010 included $132 million and $76 million, respectively, of after-tax favorable development 
of prior-years health care cost estimates. Refer to our discussion of Commercial results below for additional 
information. 

We calculate our medical benefit ratio ("MBR") by dividing health care costs by premiums. Our MBRs by p~duct 
for the last three years were: 

Commercial . 

Medicare 

Medicaid 

Total 

2011 
. 77.9% . 

84.0% 

87.3% 

79.6% 

2010 ·: 2009 

80.6% 84.5% 

87.3% 87.1% 

87.5% 88.6% 

82.3% 85.2% 

Refer to our discussion of Commercial and Medicare results below for an explanation of the changes in our MBRs. 

Commercial operating results reflect higher undenvriting margins and lower Insured membership in 2011 
compared to 2010. 
Commercial premiums were $368 million lower in 20 I I than 20 I 0, primarily due to lower Commercial Insured 
membership, partially offset by premium rate increases as well as changes in the customer market, product and 
geographic mix of business. Commercial premiums were $949 million lower in 2010 than 2009, primarily due to 
lower Commercial Insured membership and the mix of business, partially offset by premium rate increases. 
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Our Commercial MBRs were 77.9%, 80.6% and 84.5% for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The lower 
Commercial MBR in 2011 compared to 2010 reflects favorable development of prior-years health care cost 
estimates as well as disciplined execution of our pricing and medical cost management strategies and unit cost 
controls. Included in the 2011 Commercial MBR is approximately $171 million of favorable development ofprior­
years health care cost estimates. The majoricy of this development resulted from lower than projected paid claims 
in the first halfof2011 for claims incurred in the latter halfof2010 caused by lower than projected utilization of 
medical services. 

The lower Commercial MBR in 2010 compared to 2009 reflects favorable development of prior-years health care 
cost estimates and a percentage i!lcrease in our per member health care premiums that exceeded the increase in per 
member health care costs. Included in the 2010 Commercial MBR is approximately $60 million of favorable 
development of prior-years health care cost estimates. This development primarily resulted from lower than 
projected paid claims in the first half of 2010 for claims incurred in the latter part of 2009 caused by lower than 
projected utilization of medical services driven by the abatement ofHlNl and other flu, among other factors. 
Included in the 2009 Commercial MBR is approximately $97 million of unfavorable development of prior-years 
health care cost estimates. This deyelopment was related to unusually high paid claims activity for the first half of 
2009, primarily related to claims incmred in the second half of 2008. 

The calculation of Health Care Costs Payable is a critical accoWlting estimate (refer to "Critical Accounting 
Estimates - Health Care Costs Payable" beginning on page 19 for additional information). 

Medicare results for 2011 reflect a decline in membership from 2010. 
Medicare premiums decreased approximately $411 million in 2011 compared to 20 l 0, and increased approximately 
$160 million in 20 lQ compared to 2009. The decrease in 2011 is primarily attributable to lower membership in our 
Medicare Advantage business, partially offset by the addition of the acquired Medicare Supplement business. The 
increase in 2010 is primarily attributable to an increase in Medicare membership in 2010. 

Our Medicare MBRs were 84.0%, 87.3% and 87.1%for2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We had approximately 
$29 million and $40 million of favorable development of prior-years health care cost estimates in 2011and2010, 
respectively. We had $11 million of unfavorable development of prior-years health care cost estimates in 2009. 
The decrease in our Medicare MBR in 2011 primarily reflects lower utilization of medical services and higher risk­
adjusted CMS revenue. Our Medicare IvfBR for 2010 remained relatively flat when compared to 2009. 

Medicaid results for 2011 reflect an increase in membership from 2010. 
In 2011, our Medicaid business experienced significant growth. During 2011, our Medicaid premiums were $358 
million higher than 2010 as we added approximately 73 thousand medical members. 

Other.Sources of Revenue. 
Health Care fees and other revenue for 2011 increased $191 million compared to 2010 primarily as a result of 
higher health care administration fee yields, primarily due to higher pharmacy benefit management fees, and the 
inclusion of revenues from our 2011 acquisitions. Health Care fees and other revenue for 2010 remained relatively 
flat when compared to 2009. 

General and Administrative Expenses 
General and administrative expenses increased during 2011 compared to 2010, due primarily to the inclusion of 
expenses associated with om 201.l acquisitions and incremental investments to promote growth. Additionally, 
included in 2010 results are litigation-related insurance proceeds which lowered general and administrative 
expenses. General and administrative expenses increased during 2010 compared to 2009, due primarily to the 
implementation of our agreement with CVS Caremark and other major programs. 
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Memhcrship 
Health Ciire·s membership at December 31, 201Iand2010 was as follows: 

2011 2010 

(Thousands) ,Insured ASC Total Insured ASC Total 

Medical: 

Comnier'cial 4,758 11,868 16,626 5,015 11,809 16,824 

Medicare 398 398 435 435 

Medicaid 436 836 1,272 381 818 1,199 

Medicare Supplement 163 163 10 JO 

Total Medical Membership .. 5,755 12,704 18,459 5,841 12,627 18,468 

Consumer~Directed Health Plans ( 1) • 2,387 2,184 

Dental: 

Commercial 4,724 7,347 ll,07i .:4.944. 7,193 12,137 

Medicare and Medicaid 194 458 652 177 462 639 

Network Access <2> 947 947 971 971 

Total Dental Membership 4,918' 8,752 13,670 5,121 8,626 13,747 

Phnrm:1cy: 

l 'omm~rcial 8,177 8,555 

Medicare PDP (stand-alone) 427 608 

Medicare Advantage PDP 189 227 

Medicaid 27 27 

Total Pharmacy Benefit Management Services 8,820 9,417 

(I) Represents members in consumer-directed healtli plans who also are included in Commercial medical membership above. 
(2) Represents members in products that allow these members access to our dental provider network for a nominal fee. 

Total medical membership at December 31, 2011 was relatively flat compared to December 31, 2010, reflecting a 
reduction in Commercial membership due primarily to lapsed customers and in-group attrition that exceeded new 
sales, as well as lower Medicare enrol.lment primarily due to CMS's sanctions that were lifted on June 13, 2011. 
Those membership declines were substantially offset by approximately 566 thousand additional ASC members 
from the Prodigy acquisition, more than 150 thousand Medicare Supplement members from the acquisition of. 
Genworth's Medicare Supplement business and related blocks of in-force business and growth in Medicaid " 
membership. · 

Total dental membership at December 31, 2011 was relatively flat compared to December 31, 2010 primarily due to 
lapsed customers that exceeded new sales, substantially offset by approximately 398 thousand additional members 
from the Prodigy acquisition. 

Total phannacy benefit management services membership decreased at December 31, 2011 compared to 
D<.:ccmber 3 I, 2010 primarily due to a decrease in Commercial medical enrollment and a decline in Medicare PDP 
membership, partially offset by approximately 282 thousand additional members from the Prodigy acquisition. 
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GROUP INSURANCE 

Group Insurance primarily includes group life insurance products offered on an Insured basis, including basic and 
supplemental group term life, group universal life, supplemental or voluntary programs and accidental death and 
dismemberment coverage. Group Insurance also includes: (i) group disability products offered to employers on 
both an Insured and an ASC basis, which consist primarily of short-term and long-term dis'ability insurance (and 
products which combine both), (ii) absence management services offered to employers, which include short-term 
and long-term disability administration and leave management, and (iii) long-term care products that were offered 
primarily on an Insured basis, which provide benefits covering the cost of care in private home settings, adult day 
care, assisted living or nursing facilities .. We no longer solicit or accept new long-term care customers. , 

Operating Summary 

(Millions) 

Premiums: 

Life 

Disability 

Loilg-tenn care. 

Total premiums 

Fees and other revenue 

Net invesonent income 

Net rea I ized capital gains 

Total revenue 

Current and furure benefits 

Operating expenses: 

Selling expenses 

General and administrative expenses 

T_ota 1 operating e_x penses 

Amortization of other acquired intangible assets 

Total benefits and expenses 

Income before income taxes 

Income taxes 

Net income 

The table presented below reconciles net income to operating earnings: 

(Millions) 

Net income 

Net realized capital gains 

Operating earnings 

s 

s 

s 

s 

2011 2010 

1,034.4 $ 1,082.5 $ 

534.S 536.5 

45.9 52.1 

I,614.8 1,67 J.J 

100.4 105.0 

266.0 275.l 

44.4 67.4 

2,025.6 2,118.6 

1,413.4 1,536.6 

77.2 78.2 

275.6 264.3 

352.8 342.5 

5.0 6.9 

1,771.2 1,886.0 

254.4 232.6 

72.6 53.0 

181.8 $ 179.6 $ 

2011 2010 

181.8 $ 179.6 $ 

(28.8) (51.6) 

153.0 $ 128.0 $ 

2009 

1,093.0 

5S9.4 

67.S 

1,720.2 

106.9 

274.1 

4 l.8 

2,143.0 

1,575.2 

93.2 

283.4 

376.6 

6.9 

1,958.7 

184.3 

38.7 

145.6 

2009 

145.6 

(41.8) 

103.8 

Operating earnings for 2011 increased $25 million when compared to 2010, primarily due to higher underwriting 
margins (calculated as premiums less current'and future benefits) from our life and disability products, partially 
offset by lower underwriting margins in our long-term care products. Operating earnings for 2010 .increased $24 
million wh.en compared to 2009, pi-iruarily due to lower total. operating expenses and improved underwriting 
margins in our disability products which were partially offset by lower underwriting margins in our long-term care 
and life products. In 20 l 0, our underwriting margins reflect an increase in our long-term disability reserves as a 
result of using a lower 4iscount rate, reflecting lower yields in the investment portfolio supporting this business. 

Our group benefit ratios, which represent cu~ent and future benefits divided by premiums, were 87.5% for 2011, 
92.0% for 2010, and 91.6% for 2009. 
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LARGE CASE PENSIONS 

Large Case Pensions manages a variety of retirement products (including pension and annuity products) primarily 
for tax qualified pension plans. These proqucts provide a variety of funding and ]>enefit payment distribution 
options and other services. The Large Case Pensions segment includes certain discontinued products. 

Operating Summary 

(Millions) 2011 2010 

Premiums s 161.0 $ 151.0 $ 

Net investment income 326.6 362.4 

Other revenue 11.0 11.2 

Net realized capital gains (losses) 1.6 (1.2) 

Total revenue 500.2 . 523.4 

Current and future benefits 463.l .476.8 

General and administrative expenses 14.3 12.6 

Total benefits and expenses 477.4 489.4 

Income before income taxes 22.8 34.0 

Income taxes 1.0 5.0 

Net income s 21.8 $ 29.0 $ 

The table presented below reconciles net income to operating earnings: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 

Net income $ 21.8 $ 29.0 $ 

Net realized capitar (gains) losses (1.1). (1.2) 

Operating earnings . $ 20.7 $ 27.8 $ 

Operating earnings declined in each of the last three years, which is consistent with the run-off nature of this 
segment. 

Discontinued Products 

2009 

172.2 

369.8 

11.6 

(5.8) 

547.8 

502.9 

10.0 

512.9 

34.9 

8.5 

26.4 

2009 

26.4 

5.8 

32.2 

Prior to 1993, we sold single-premium annuities ("SPAs") and guaranteed investment contracts ("GICs"), prima'rily 
to employer sponsored pension plans. In 1993, we discontinued selling these products to Large Case Pensions · 
customers, and now we refer to these products as discontinued products. ,, 

We discontinued selliiig these productS because they were generating losses foru~, an~ we projected that they 
would continue to generate future losses over their life (which is currently greater than 30 years for SPAs and less 
than 5 years for GICs); so we established a reserve for anticipated future losses at the time of discontinuance. We 
provide additional infonnation on this reserve, including key assumptions and other important information, in Note 
20 of Noies to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page 110. 

The operating summary for Large Case Pensions above includes revenues and expenses related to our discontinued 
products, with the exception of net realized capital gains and losses which are recorded as ·part of current and future 
benefits. Since we established a reserve for future losses on discontinued products, as long as our expected future 
losses remain consistent with prior projections, the operating results of our discontinued products are applied 
against the reserve and do not impact operating earnings or net income for Large Case Pensions. However, if actual 
or expected future losses are greater than we currently estimate, we may increase the reserve, which could adversely 
impact net income. If actual or expected future losses are less than we currently estimate, we may decrease the 
reserve, which could favorably impact net income. In those cases, we disclose such adjustment separately in the 
operating summary. Management reviews the adequacy of the discontinued products reserve quarterly. The current 
reserve reflects management's best estimate of anticipated future losses. 

Annual Report- Page 11 



The activity in the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products for the last three years (pretax) 
was: 

(Millions) 

Reserve, begiMing of period 

Operating los~ 

Net realized capital gains (losses) 

Cumulative effect of new accounting standard as of April ) , 2009 <
1
> 

Reserve, end of period 

s 

$ 

2011 

884.8 $ 

(16.9) 

28.4 

896.3 $ 

2010 2009 

789.2 $ 790.4 

(15.4) (34.8) 

111.0 (8.S) 

42.1 

884.8 $ 789.2 

(I) The adoption of new accounting guidance for other-than-temporary impainnents ("OTT!") of debt securities issued in 2009 resulted 
in a cumulative effect adjustrnent'at April I, 2009. Refer to Note 2 bcgiMing on page 66 for additional information. This amount 
is not reflected in accumulated other comprehensive loss and retained earnings in shareholders' equity since the results of 
discontinued products do not impact our operating results. 

In 2011, our discontinued products reflected net realized capital gains (primarily attributable to gains from the sale 
of debt securities partially offset by losses from derivative transactions). In 2010, our discontinued products 
reflected net realized capital gains (primarily attributable to gains from the sale of debt securities and investment 
real estate). In 2009, discontinued products reflected net realized capital losses (attributable to the unfavorable 
investment conditions that existed during the first half of 2009). During 2011, 2010 and 2009, our discontinued 
products also reflected operating losses. 

We review the adequacy of the discontinued products reserve quarterly and, as a result, the reserve at December 31, 
201 I reflects our best estimate of anticipated future losses. Specifically, we evaluated these results in 2011, 2010 
and 2009 against expectations of future cash flows assumed in estimating this reserve and do not believe au 
adjustment to this reserve was required at December 31, 2011, 2010 or 2009. 

INVESTMENTS 

At December 31, 2011 and 2010 our investment portfolio consisted of the following: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 

Debt and equity securities available for sale 17,390.8 $ 16,961.6 

Mortgage loans 1,648.5 1,509.8 

Other investments 1,255.7 1,244.6 

Total investments $ 20,295.0 $ 19,716.0 

The risks associated with investments supporting experience-rated pension and annuity products in our Large Case 
Pensions busin.ess are asswned by the contract holders and not by us (subject to, among other things, certain 
minimwn guarantees). 

As a result of the foregoing, investment risks associated with our experience-rated and discontinued products 
generally do not impact our operating results. Our investment portfolio supported the following products at 
December 31, 2011 and 20 I 0: 

(Millions) 

Experience-rated products 

Discontinued products 

Remaining products 

Total !nvestmencs 
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2011 

1,645.0 $ 

3,646.0 

15,004.0 

s ; 20,295.0 $ 

2010 

1,690.2 

3,712.3 

14,313.5 

19,716.0 
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During 2011, we observed. an increase in our completion factors relative to those assumed at year end 2010. During 
20 I 0. we: observed an increase in our completion factors relative to those assumed at year end 2009. After 
'.'.ll;1sickring !ht: chiims raid in 2011and2010 with dates of service prior to the fourth quarter of the previous year, 
we observed che assw11ed weighted average completion factors were 55 and 50 basis points higher, respectively, 
than previously estimated, resulting in a decrease of approximately $94 million in 2011 and $23 million in 201 O in 
health care costs payable that related to the prior year. We have considered the pattern of change.~ in our completion 
factors when determining the completion factors used in our estimates of IBNR at December 31, 2011. However, 
based on our historical claim experience, it is reasonably possible that our estimated weighted average completion 
factor may vary by plus or minus 50 basis points from our assumed rates, which could impact health care costs 
payable by approximately plus cir minus $75 million pretax. 

Also during 2011 and 2010: we observed 'that our. health care cost trend rates for claims with claim incuired dates of 
three months or less before the financial statement date were lower than previously estimated. Specifically, after 
considering the claims paid in 2011 and 2010 with claim incurred dates for the fourth quarter of the previous year, 

·we observed health care cost trend rates that were approximately 6.2% and 6.3%, respectively, lower than 
previously estimated, resulting in a reduction of apprp~irnately $300 million in 2011 and $303 million in 2010 in 
health care costs payable ttiat related to the prior year. 

We consider historical health care cost trend rates together with our knowledge ofrecent events that may impact 
current trends when developing o.ur estimates of current health care cost trend rates. When establishing our reserves 
at December 31, 201 J, we increased our assumed health care cost trend rates for the most recent three months by 
4.2% from health care cost trend rates recently observed. However, based on our historical claim experience, it is 
rcasonnbly possible that ol.ir estimated health care cost trend rates may vary by plus or minus 3.5% from our 
assumed r:llcs, which could impact healtJ:i care. costs payable by approximately plus or minus $161 million pretax. 

Health care costs payable as of December 31, 2011and2010 consisted of the following products: 

(Millit>DS) 20]] 1010 

Commercial s 2,046.9 $ 2,059.3 

Medicare 444.8 421.5 

Medicaid 183.8 150.J 
Total health care costs payable . s 2,675.S $ 2,630.9 

Other Insurance Liabilities 
We establish insurance liabilities other than health care costs payable for benefit claims primarily related t9 our 
Group Insurance segment. We refer to these liabilities as other insurance liabilities. These liabilities prirn~ly 
relate to our life, disability and long~term care products. . 

Life and Disability 
The liabilities for our life and disability products reflect benefit.claims that have been reported to us but not yet 
paid, estimates of claims that have been incurred but not yet reported to us, and future policy benefits earned under 
insurance contracts. We develop these reserves and the related benefit expenses using actuarial principles and 
assumptions that consider, among other things, discount, resolution and moriaHty rates. Completion factors are also 
evaluated when estimating our reserves for.claims incurred but not yet report~d for life .products. We also consider 
the benefit payments from the U.S. Social Security Administration for which our disability members may be 
eligible and which may offset our liability for disability claims (this is known as the Social Security offset). Each 
period, we estimate these factors, to the extent relevant, based primarily on historical data, and use these estimates 
to determine the assumptfons underJying our reserve calculations. Given the extensive degree of judgment and 
uncertainty used in developing these estimates, it is possible that our estimates could develop either favorably or 
unfavorably. 

The discount rate is the interest rate at which future benefit cash flows are discounted to determine the present value 
of those cash flows. The discount rate we select is a critical estimate, because higher discount rates result in lower 
reserves. We detennine the discount rate based on the Cl,llTent and estimated future yield of the asset portfolio 
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supporting our life and disability reserves. If the discount rate we select in estimating our reserves is lower (higher) 
than our actual future portfolio returns, our reserves may be higher (lower) than necessary. Our discount rates for 
life waiver of premiums and long-term disability reserves at December 31, 201 I were consistent with the rates used 
at December 31, 2010. Our discount rates for life and disability reserves at December 31, 2010 decreased by .4%, 
when compared to the rates used at December 3 l, 2009. The discount rates we selected for disability and life 
reserves at December 31, 2011 and 20 l 0 were lower than the rates we selected in 2009 due to lower projected 
future yields on the investment portfolio supporting these reserves. Based on our historical experience, it is 
reasonably possible that the assumed discount rates for our life and disability reserves may vary by plus or minus 
one-half percentage point from year to year. A one-half percentage point decrease in the discount rates selected for 
both our life and disability reserves would have increased current and future life and disability benefit costs by 
approximately $37 million preta.x for 201.1. · · 

For disability claims and a portion ofour life claims, we must estimate the timing of benefit payments, which takes 
into consideration the maximum benefit period and the probabilities ofrecovery (i.e., recovery rate) or death (i.e., 
mortality rate) of the member. Benefit payments may also be affected by a change in employment status of a 
disabled member, for example, if the member returns to work on a part-time basis. Estimating the recovery and 
mortality rates of our members is complex. Our actuaries evaluate our current and historical claim patterns, the 
timing and amount of any Social Security offset (for disability only), as well as other factors including the relative 
ages of covered members and the duration of each member's disability when developing these assumptions. For 
disability reserves, if our actual recovery and mortality rates are lower (higher) than our estimates, our reserves will 
be lower (higher) than required to cover future disability benefit payments. For certain life reserves, if the actual 
recovery rates are.lov,rer (higher) than our estimates or the actual mortality rates are higher (lower) than our 
estimates, our reserves will be lower (higher) than required to cover future life benefit payments. We use standard 
industry tabl~s and our hlstorical claim experience to develop our estimated recovery and mortality rates. Claim 
reserves for our disability and life products are sensitive to these assumptions. Our historical experience bas been 
that our recovery or mortality ra~es for our life and disability reserves vary by less than ten percent during the 
course of a year. A ten percent less (more) favorable assumption for our recovery or mortality rates would have 
increased (decreased) current and future life and disability benefit costs by approximately $60 million pretax for 
2011. When establishing our reserves at December 31, 2011, we have adjusted our estimates of these rates based on 
recent experience. 

We estimate our reserve for claims incurred but not yet reported to us for life products largely based on completion 
factors. The completion factors we use are based on our historical experience and reflect judgments and possible 
adjustments based on data such as claim inventory levels, claim payment patterns, changes in business volume and 
other factors. If claims are submitted or processed on a faster (slower) pace than historical periods, the actual 
claims may be more (less) complete than originally estimated using our completion factors, which may result in 
reserves that are higher (lower) than required to cover future life benefit payments. At December 31, 201 I, we held 
approximately $ l 89 million in reserves for life claims incurred but not yet reported to us. 

Long-term Care . 
We established reserves for future policy benefits for the long-term care products we issued based on the present 
value of estimated futu~e benefit payments less the present value of estimated future net premiums. Iri establishing 
this reserve, we evaluated assumptions about mortality, morbidity, lapse rates and the rate. at which new claims 
would be submitted to us. We estimated the futu:re ·policy benefits .reserve for long-tenn care products using these 
assumptions and actuarial principles. For long-term care insurance contracts, wt'. use our original assumptions 
throughout the life of the policy and do not subsequently modify them unless we deem the reserves to be 
inadequate. A portion of our reserves for lopg-term care products also reflect our estimates relating to future 
payments to members currentiy receiving benefits. These reserves are estimated primarily using recovery and 
mortality rates, as described above. 

Premium Deficiency Reserves 
We recognize a premium deficiency Joss when it is probable that expected future health care costs or expected 
future policy benefit costs will exceed our existing reserves plus anticipated future premiums and reinsurance 
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debt arid shareholder dividends. In addition, at our discretion, we use these funds for other purposes such as 
funding share repurchase programs, investments in new businesses and other purposes we consider advisable. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
We do not have any guarantees or other off-balance sheet arrangements that we believe, based on historical 
experience and cl1ncnl business plans, are reasonably likely to have a material impact on our cWTent or future 
opernting results, financial condition or cash flows. Refer to Notes 8 and 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements beginning on page 78 and I 04, respectively, for additional detail of our variable interest entities and 
guarantee arrangements, respectively, at December 31, 2011. 

Solvency Regulation 
The National Association oflnsurance Commissioners (the ''NAlC") utilizes risk-based capital ("RBC") standards 
for insurance companies that are designed to identify weakJy-capitalized companies by comparing each company's 
adjusted surplus to•its required·surplus (the "RBC Ratio"). The REC Ratio is deslgn6d to reflect the risk profile of 
insurance companies. Within certain ratio ranges, regulators have increasing authority to take action as the RBC 
Ratio decreases. There are four levels of regulatory action, ranging from requiring insurers to submit a 
comprehensive plan to the state insurance commissioner to requiring the state insurance commissioner to place the 
insurer under regulatory control. At December 31, 2011, the RBC Ratio of each of our primary insurance 
subsidiaries was above the level that would require regulatory action. The RBC framework described above for 
insurers has been extended by the NAIC to health organizations, including HMOs. Although not all states had 
adopted these rules at December 31, 2011, at that date, each of our active HM Os had a surplus that exceeded either 
the applicable state net worth requirements or, where adopted, the levels that would require regulatory action under 
the NAIC's RBC rules. External rating agencies use their own RBC standards when they determine a company's 
rating. 

CRTTrCALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

We prepare our corisolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The application of GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and asswnptions that affect our consolidated financial statements and related notes. 
The accounting estimates described below are those we consider critical in preparing our consolidated financial 
statements. We use information available to us at the time the estimates are made; however, as described below, 
these estimates could change materially if different information or assumptions were used. Also, these estimates 
may not ultimately reflect the actual amounts of the final transactions that occur. 

Health Care Costs Payable . . . . "' 
Approximately 90%«~fhealtfrcare costs payable are estimates of the uitiniate cost ofclaiins that have been incun:~d 
but not yet reported to us·and of those which have been reponed to us but not yet paid (collectively "IBNR") at both 
December 31, 2011 and 2010. The remainder of health care costs payable is primarily comprised of pharmacy and 
capitation payables and accruals for state assessments. We develop our estimate of IBNR using actuarial principles 
and assumptions that consider numerous factors. Of those factors, we consider the analysis of historical and 
projected claim payment patterns (including claims submission and processing patterns) and the assumed health 
care cost trend rate to be the most critical asswnptions. In developing our estimate offfiNR, we consistently apply 
these actuarial principles and assumptions each period, with consideration to the variability of related factors. 

We analyze historical claim payment patterns by comparing claim incurred dates (i.e., the date services were 
provided) to claim payment dates to estimate "completion factors." We estimate completion factors by aggregating 
cl<iim data based on the month of service and month of claim payment and estimating the percentage of claims 
inctmed for a given month that are complete by each month thereafter. For any given month, substantially all 
clain1s are paid within six months of the date of service, but it can take up to 48 months or longer before all of the 
claims are completely resolved and paid. These historically-derived completion factors are then applied to claims 
paid through the financial statement date to estimate the ultimate claim cost for a given month's incurred claim 
activity. The difference between the estimated ultimate claim cost and the claims paid through the financial 
statement date represents our estimate of claims remaining to be paid as of the financial statement date and is 
included in our health care costs payable. We use completion factors predominantly to estimate reserves for claims 
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with claim incurred dates. greater than three months prior to the financial statement date. The completion factors we 
use reflectjudgments and possible adjustments based on data such as claim inventory levels, claim submission and 
processing patterns and, to a lesser extent, other factors such as changes in health care cost trend rates, changes in 
membership and product mix. If claims are submitted or processed on a faster (slower) pace than prior periods, the 
actual claims may be more (less) complete than originally estimated using our completion factors, which may result 
in reserves that are higher (lower) than the ultimate cost of claims. 

Because claims incurred within three months prior to the financial statement date have less activity, we use a 
combination of historically-derived completion factors and the assumed health care cost trend rate to estimate the 
ultimate cost of claims incurred· for these months. We place a greater emphasis on the ·assumed health care cost . 
trend rate for the most recent claim incurred dates as these months may be influenced by seasonal patterns and 
changes in membership and product mix. 

Our health care cost trend rate is affected by changes in per member utilization of medical services as well as 
changes in the unit cost of such services. Many factors influence the health care cost trend rate, including our 
ability to manage health care costs through underwriting criteria, product design, negotiation of favorable provider 
contracts and medical management programs. The aging of the population and other demographic characteristics, 
advances in medical technology and other factors continue to contribute to rising per member utilization and unit 
costs. Changes in health care practices, inflation, new technologies, increases in the cost of prescription drugs, 
direct-to-consumer marketing by pharmaceutical companies, clusters of high-cost cases, claim intensity, changes in 
the regulatory environment, health care provider or member fraud and numerous other factors also contribute to the 
cost of health care and our health care cost trend rate. 

For each reporting period, we use an extensive degree of judgment in the process of estimating our health care costs 
payable, and as a result, considerable variability and uncertainty is inherent in such estimates; and the adequacy of 
such estimates is highly sensitive to changes in assumed completion factors and the assumed health care cost trend 
rates. For each reporting period we recognize our best estimate of health care costs payable considering the 
potential volatility in assumed completion factors and health care cost trend rates, as well as other factors. We 
believe our estimate of health care costs payable is reasonable and adequate to cover our oblig_ations at December 
31, 2011; however, actµal claim payments may differ from our estimates. A worsening (or improvement) of our 
health care cost trend rates or _changes in completion factors from those that we assumed in estimating health care 
costs payable at December 31, 2011 wouid cause these estimates· to change in the near term, and such a change 
could be material. · 

Each quarter, we re-examine previously established health care costs payable estimates based on actual claim 
payments for prior periods and other changes in facts and circumstances. Given the extensive degree of judgment 
in this estimate, it is possible that our estimates of health care costs payable could develop either favorably (that. is, 
our actual health care costs for the period were less than we estimated) or unfavorably. The changes in our estimate 
of health care costs payable may relate to a prior quarter, prior year or earher periods. As reported in the 
rollforward of our health care costs payable in Note 6 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements on page 
76, our prior year estimates of health care costs payable decreased by approximately $394 million, $326 million and 
$66 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These reductions were offset by estimated current year health 
care costs when we established our estimate of current period health care costs payable. Our reserving practice is to 
consistently recognize the actuarial best estimate of our ultimate liability for health care costs payable. ·When 
significant decreases (increases) in prior periods' health care cost estimates occur that we believe significantly 
impact our current period operating results, we disclose that amount as favorable (unfavorable) development of 
prior-period or prior-years health care cost estimates. In 2011, we had approximately $207 million pretax of 
favorable development of prior-years health care cost estimates that primarily resulted from lower than projected 
paid claims in the first half of 2011 for claims incurred in the latter half of 2010 caused by lower than proje.cted 
utilization of medical services. In 20 l 0, we had approximately $118 million pretax of favorable development of 
prior-years health care cost estimates that primarily resulted from lower than projected paid claims in the first half 
of 20 I 0 for claims incurred in the latter part of 2009 caused by lower than projected utilization of medical services 
driven by the abatement of HlNl and other flu, among other factors. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
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Assuming an immediate 100 basis point increase in interest rates and inunediate decrease of 25% in the prices for 
domestic equity securities, the theoretical decline to the fair values of our market sensitive instruments was $4 70 
million ($723 million pretax) at December 31, 2011. 

·Approximately $272 million ($418 million pretax) was the result of a theoretical reduction of the fair value 
of our long-term debt. Changes in the fair value of our long-tenn debt do not impact our financial position 
or operating results. 

The remaining $198 million ($305 million pretax) was from a theoretical reduction in the fair value ofour 
investment securities partially offset by a theoretical reduction in the value of interest rate sensitive 
liabilities. Reductions in the fair value of our investment securities would be reflected as an unrealized loss 
in equity, as we classify these securities as available for sale. We do not record our liabilities at fair value. 

Based on our overall exposure to interest rate risk and equity price risk, we believe that these changes in market 
rates and prices would not materially affect our consolidated near-tenn financial position, operating results or cash 
flows as of December 31, 2011 . . . . . 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Cash Flows 
We meet our operating cash requirements by maintaining liquidity in our investment portfolio, using overall cash 
flows from premiums, deposits and income received on investments and issuing commercial paper. We monitor the 
duration of our portfolio of highly marketable debt securities and mortgage loans, and execute purchases and sales 
of these investments with the objective of having adequate funds available to satisfy our maturing liabilities. 
Overall cash flows are used primarily for claim and benefit payments, contract withdrawals, operating expenses, 
share repurchases and shareholder dividends. In addition, we maintain a committed short-tenn borrowing capacity 
of $1.5 billion through our revolving credit facility. 

Presented below is a condensed statement of cash flows for each of the last three years (the full statements of cash 
flows are presented on page 65). We present net cash flows used for operating activities and net cash flows 
provided by investing activities separately for our Large Case Pensions segment because changes in the insurance 
reserves for the Large Case Pensions segment (which are reported as cash used for operating activities) are funded 
from the sale of investments (which are reported as cash provided by investing activities). Refer to the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows on page 65 for additional information. 

(Millions) 2011 2010 
' 

2009 

Cash nows from operating activities 

Health Care and Group Insurance $ 2,746.9 $ 1,644.9 $ 2,711.5 

Large Case Pensions (239.I) (232.8) (223.2) 

N c1 cash provided by operating accivities · 2,507.8 l ,412.1 2,488.3 

Cash nows from in\•esting activities 

Health Care and Group Insurance (2,222.3) 429.8 (2,380.0) 

Large Case Pensions 342.1 204.7 380.3 

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities (1,880.2) 634.5 (1,999.7) 

Net cash used for financing activities (1,815.S) (1,382.6) (464.5) 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalentS $· (1,187.9) $ 664.0 $ 24.\ 
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Contractual Obligations 
The following table swnmarizes certain estimated future obligations by period under our various contractual 
obligations at December 31, 201 l. The table below does not include future payments of claims to health care 
providers or pharmacies because certain terms of these payments are not determinable at December 31, 2011 (for 
example, the timing and volume of future services provided under fee-for-service arrangements and future 
membership levels for capitated arrangements). We believe that funds from future operating cash flows, together 
with cash, investments and other funds available under the Facility or from public or private financing sources, will 
be sufficient to meet our existing commitments as well as our liquidity needs associated with future operations, 
including slrategic transactions. · 

(Millions) 2012 2013 - 2014 2015 - 2016 Thereafter Total 

Long-term debt obligations, including interest $ 228.0 $ 456.0 $ I, 181.6 $ 5,426.6 $ 7,292.2 

Operating lease obligations 131.4 185.4 82.5 58.1 457.4 

Purchase obligations 202.3 170.3 52.5 3.0 428.1 

Other liabilities reflected on our balance sheet: < l) 

Furure policy_benefitsP1 668.0 1,256.1 979.0 3,857.7 6,760.8 

Unpaid claims (il 581.2 463.9 316.1 725.8 2,087.0 

Policyholders' funds (2) m 1,281.6 89.0 57.5 714.9 2,143.0 

Other liabilities <4
l 2,388.8 171.3 103.3 243.7 2,907.1 

Total $ 5,481.3 $ 2,792.0 $ 2,772.5 $ 11,029.8 $ 22,075.6 

<
11 Payments of other ~ong-term liabilities exclude Separate Account liabilities of approximately $5.2 billion because these liabilities are 

supported by assets that are legally segregated and are not subject to claims that arise out of our business. 
12

> Total payments of future policy benefits, unpaid claims and policyholders' funds include approximately $721.4 million, $46. 7 million and 
S 175. l million, respectively, of reserves for contracts subject to reinsurance. We expect the assuming reinsurance carrier to fund these 
obligations and have reflected these amounts as reinsurance recoverable assets on ou~ consolidated balance sh.~et. 

<
3

> Custorner funds associated with group life aud health contracts of approximately $334.2 million have beer. excluded from the table above 
because such funds may be used primarily at the customer's discretion to offset future premiums and/or.refunds, and the timing of the 
related cash flows cannot be determined. Additionally, net unrealized capital gains on debt and equity securities supporting experience­
rated products of $156.0 million, before tax, have been excluded from the table above. 

<
4
l Other liabilities in the table above include general expense accruals and other related payables and exclude the following: 

· Employee-related benefit obligations of$ l ·:2 billion including our pension, other postretirement and post-employment benefit 
obligations and certain deferred compensation arrangements. These liabilities do not necessarily represent future cash payments 
we will be required to make, or such payment patterns cannot be determined. However, other long-term liabilities include 
expected benefit payments of approximately $431.6 million over the next ten years for our nonqualified pension plan and our 
.postretiremenr benefit plans, which we primarily fund when paid by the plans. 
Deferred gains of $43.5 million which will be recognized in our earnings in the future in accordance with GAAP. 
Net unrealized capital gains of$345.9 million, before tax, supporting discontinued products. 
Minority interests of $71.1 million consisting of subsidiaries that we own less than 100%. This amount does not represent future 
cash payments we will be required to make. 
Income taxes payable of$49.0 million related to uncertain tax positions. 

Restrictions on Certain Payments 
In addition to general state I.aw restrictions on payments of dividends and other distributions to shareholders 
applicable to all corporations, HMOs and ins~ance companies are subject to further regulations that, among other 
things, rnay require those companies to maintain certain levels of equity (referred to as surplus) and restrict the 
amount of dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their equity holders. These regulations are not 
directly applicable to Aetna as a holding company, since Aetna is not an HMO or an insurance company. The 
additional regulations applicable to our HMO and insurance company subsidiaries are not expected to affect our 
ability to service our debt, meet our other financing obligations or pay dividends, or the ability of any of our 
subsidiaries to service other financing obligations, if any. Under regulatory requirements, at December 31, 2011, 
the amount of dividends that our insurance and HMO subsidiaries could pay to Aetna without prior approval by 
regulatory authorities was approximately $1.6 billion in the aggregate. 

We maintain capital levels in our operating subsidiaries at or above targeted and/or required capital levels and 
dividend amounts in excess of these levels to meet our liquidity requirements, including the payment of interest on 
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recoveries primarily related to our Group Insurance segment Anticipated investment income is considered in the 
calculation of expected losses for certain contracts. Ariy such reserves established would normally cover expected 
losses until the next policy renewal dates for the related policies. We did not have any premium deficiency reserves 
for om: Health Care or Group Insurance business at December 31, 2011 or 2010. 

Large Case Pensions Discontinued Products Reserve 
We discontinued certain Large Case Pensions. products in 1993 and established a reserve to cover losses expected 
during the run-off period. Since 1993, we have made several adjustments resulting in a reduction to this reserve 
that have increased our net income. These adjustments occurred primarily because our investment experience as 
well as our mortality and retirement experience have been better than the experience we projected at the time we 
discontinued the products. There was ·no release of this reserve in 2011, 2010. o.r 2009. There can be no assurance 
that adjustm~nts t6 the discontihli'ed.ptodticis reserve ~ill o~c~r in 'the fut~·e or th~i they will in,cr~ase net income. 
Future adjustments could positively .or negatively impact our net income . 

. Recoverability of Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets 
We have made acquisitions tha·t included a significant amount of goodwill and other intangible assets. Goodwill is 
subject to an annual (or under certain circumstances more frequent) impairment test based on its estimated fair 
value. Other intangible assets that meet certain criteria continue to be amortized over their useful lives, except for 
the valuation of business acquired which amortizes in proportion to estimated premiums over the.expected life of 
the acquired contracts, and are also subject to a periodic impainnent test. For these impairment evaluations, we use 
an implied fair value approach, which uses a discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation methodologies. 
These impairrnent evaluations use many assumptions and estimates in determining an impairment loss, including 
certllin assumptions and estimates related to future earnings.· Ifwe do not achieve our earnings objectives, the 
assumptions :rnd estimates underlying.these impairment evaluations could be adversely affected, which could result 
in an asset impairment charge that would.negatively impact our operating results. There were no impainnent losses 
recognized in any of the three years ended December 31, 2011. 

Measurement of Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans 
We sponsor defined benefit pension ("pension") and OPEB plans for our employees and retirees. Effective 
December 3 I, 2010, our employees will rio longer earn future pension service credits in the Aetna Pension Plan, 
although the Aetna Pension Plan will continue to operate and account balances will continue to earn annual interest 

credits. 

Major assumptions used in the accounting for our defined benefit plans indu<le the expected return ?n plan assets 
and the discount rate. We select our assumptions based on our information and market indicators, and we evaluate 
our assumptions at each a~ual measurement:date (December 31, for each year presented). A change in any of our 
assumptions would have an effect on our pensio~ and OPEB plan costs. A discussion of our assumptions.used to 
determine the expected return on plan assets can b

0

e found in Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
beginning on page 90. 

The discount rates we used in accounting for our pension and OPEB plans were calculated using a yield curve as of 
our annual measurement date. The yield curve consisted of a series of individual discount rates, with each discount 
rate corresponding to a single point in tiple, based on high-quality bonds (that is, bonds with an average rating of 
AA based on ratings from Standard and Poor's and Fitch Ratings, and the equivalent ratings from Moody's Investors 
Service). We project the benefits expected to be paid from each plan at each point in the future based on each 
participant's current service (but reflecting expected future pay increases). These projected benefit payments are 
then discounted to the measurement date using the corresponding rate from the yield curve. A lower discount rate 
increases the present value of benefit obligations and increases benefit income. In 2011, we decreased our weighted 
average discount rate to 4.98% and 4.78% for our pension and OPEB plans, respectively, from 5.50% and 5.20%, 
respectively, at the previous measurement date in 2010. A one-percentage point decrease in the assumed discount 
rate would decrease our annual pension costs by approximately $2 million after-tax and would have a negligible 

effect on our annual OPEB costs. 
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At December.31, 2011, the pension and OPEB plans had aggregate actuarial losses of $2.8 billion. A.ccumulated 
actuarial losses are primarily due to investment losses in 2008 and higher liabilities caused by lower discount rates 
used to determine th~ present value of future plan obligations. The accumulated actuarial _loss is amortized over the 
expected life' <?f pension plan participants (estimated to be up to 3 2 years at December 31, 2011) and the expected 
life ofOPEB plan participants (estimated to be up to 16 years at December 31, 2011) to the extent the loss is outside 
of a corridor established in accordance with GAAP. The corridor is established based on the greater of 10% of the 
plan assets or 10% of the projected benefit obligation. At December 31, 2011, $2.2 billion of the actuarial loss was 
outside of the corridor, resulting in amortization of approximately $49 million after-tax in our 2012 pension and 
OPEB expense. 

Our expected return on plan assets and lower discount rates discussed above have not affected the cash 
contributions we are required to make to our pension and OPEB plans because we have met all minimum funding 
requirements. However, during 2011 and 2010 we made $60 million and $505 million, respectively, in voluntary 
cash contributions to the Aetna Pension Plan. 

Refer to Note 11 ofNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page 90 for additional information on 
our defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans. 

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Debt Securities 
We regul~~ly review ~ur debt securities to determine whether a decline in fair value below the carrying value is 
other than temporary: If a decline in fair value is considered other than temporary, the cost basis or carrying amount 
of the secwity is written down. The write-down is then bifurcated into its credit and non-credit related components. 
The credit-related component is included in our operating results and the non-credit related component is included 
in other comprehensive income if we do not intend to sell the security. We analyze all facts and circumstances we 
believe are relevant for each investment when performing this analysis, in accordance with applicable accounting 
guidance promulgated by the Financial Accounting Standards Board and the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission. 

Among the factors we consider in evaluating whether a decline is other than temporary are whether the decline in 
fair value results from a change in the quality of the investment security itself, whether the decline results from a 
downward movement in the market as a whole and the prospects for realizing the carrying value of the security 
based on the investment's current and short-term prospects for recovery. For unrealized losses determined to be the 
result of market conditions (for example, increasing interest rates and volatility due to conditions in the overall 
market) or industry-related events, we determine whether we intend to sell the security or if it is more likely than 
nol that we will be required to sell the security before recovery of its cost basis. If either case is true, we recognize 
an OTTI and the cost basis/carrying amount of the security is written down to fair value. 

Securities in an unrealized loss position for which we believe we will not recover the amortized cost due to the 
quality of the security or the credit-worthiness of the issuer are categorized as credit-related OTTI. 

The risks inherent in assessing the impairment of an investment include the risk that market factors may differ from 
our projections and the risk that facts and circumstances factored into our assessment may change with the passage 
of time. Unexpected changes to market factors and circumstances that were not present in past reporting periods 
are among the factors that may result in a current period decision to sell securities that were not impaired in prior 
reporting periods. 

Annual Report- Page 24 



Assets supporting experience-rated products may be subject to contract holder or participant withdrawals. 
Experience-rated contract holder and participant-directed withdrawals for the last three years were as follows: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 

Scheduled contract maturities and benefit payments <1> s 254.4 s 261.2 $ 

Contract holder withdrawals other than scheduled contract 

maturities and benefit payments 31.1 25.9 

Participant-directed withdrawals <2> 3.9 3.9 

<1J Includes payments made upon contract marurity and other amounts distributed in accordance with contract schedules. 

2009 

267.2 

10.6 

3.1 

Cl) Approximately $549.3 million, $527.8 million and $537.0 million at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, of experience. 
rated pension contracts allowed for unscheduled conrract holder withdrawals, subject to timing restrictions and formula-based market 
value adjusnnents. Further, approximately $94.4 million, $95.3 million and $95.9 million at December 31, 2011 , 20 I 0 and 2009, 
respectively, of experience-rated pension contracts supponed by our general account assets could be withdrawn or transferred to other 
plan investment options at the direction of plan participants, without market value adjustment, subject to plan, contracrual and income 
tax provisions. 

Debt and Equity Securities 
The debt securities in our investment portfolio had an average credit quality rating of A at both December 31 , 20 I 1 
and 20 10, with approximately $4.4 billion at both December 31 , 2011 and 20 JO, rated AAA. The debt securities 
1hn1 were rated below investment grade (that is, having a quality rating below BBB-/Baa3) were $1 .2 billion at both 
DcC"ernher 31, 201land2010 (of which 20% and 17% at December 31, 2011and2010, respectively, supported our 
discontinued and experience-rated products). 

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we held approximately $733 million and $707 million, respectively, of municipal 
debt securities that were guaranteed by third parties, representing approximately 4% of our total investments on 
each date. These securities had an average credit quality rating of A+ at both December 3 I, 2011and2QIO with the 

. guarantee ... Without the guarantee, the average credit quality rating of the municipal debt securities was A+ and A at 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. We do not have any significant concentration of investments with third 
party guarantors (either direct or indirect). 

At December 31, 2011, approximately 2% of our investment portfolio is comprised of investments that are either 
European sovereign, agency, or local government debt or European corporate issuers of countries which, in our 
judgment based on an analysis of market-yields, are experiencing economic, fiscal or political strains such that the 
likelihood of default may be higher than if those factors did not exist. · 

We classify our debt and equity securities as available· for sale, and carry them at fair value on our balance _. 
sheet. Approximately 1%and2% of our debt and equity securities at Oecember 31, 201 i an~ 2010, respectively, 
were valued. using inputs that reflect our own assumptions (categorized as Level 3 inputs fo accordance with-' 
GAAP). Refer to Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page 85 for additional 
information on the methodologies and key assumptions we use to detennine the fair value of investments. 

Al D·; cember 31, 2011 and 2010, our debt and equity securities had net unrealized capital gains of $1 .5 billion and 
$985 million, respectively, of which $457 million and $30 l million, respectively, related to our experience-rated 
and discontinued products. 

Refer to Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page 78 for details of net unrealized 
capital gains and losses by major security type, as well as details on our debt securities with unrealized capital 
losses at December 31 , 2011 and 2010. We regularly review our debt securities to detennine if a decline in fair 
value below the carrying value is other-than-temporary. If we determine a decline in fair value is other·than· 
temporary, we will write down the carrying value of the security. The amount of the credit-related impainnent is 
included in our operating results, and the non-credit component is included in other comprehensive income if we do 
not intend to sell the security. Accounting for OTTI of our debt securities is considered a critical accounting 
c:.1ima1~. ·Refer to "Critical Accounting Estimates - Other· Than-Temporary Impairment ofDebt Securities" on page 
? '1 !0!· :idditional info11nation. 
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Net Realized Capital Gains and Losses 
Net realized capital gains were $168 million in 2011, $228 million in 2010 and $55 million in 2009. The net 
realized capital gains in 2011, 2010 and 2009 primarily reflect sales of debt securities. In 2011 and 2010, these 
gains were partially offset by losses on derivative transactions while in 2009, these gains were also attributable to 
gains on derivative transactions partially offset by OTTI losses. 

Yield-related OTTI los!;es were not significant in 20B or 2010. In 2009, yield-related OTTI losses were S76 
million, primarily related to U.S. Treasury and corporate securities that were temporarily' in a loss position due to 
changes in interest rates and the widening of credit spreads on corporate securities relative to the interest rates on 
U.S. Treasury securities in the first half of2009. Because we did not assert our intention to hold these securities, 
under applicable accounting guidance, we recorded a yield-related OTTI loss. We had no other individually 
material realized capital losses on debt or equity securities that impacted our operating results in 201 1, 20 l 0 or 
2009. 

Mortgage Loans 
Our mortgage loan portfolio (which is collateralized by commercial real estate) represented 8% of our total invested 
assets at both December 31, 2011 and 2010. There were no material impairment reserves on these loans at 
December 31, 20 l l or 2010. Refer to Note 8 of N(ltes to Consolidated Financial Statements on page 78 for 
additional information on our mortgage loan portfolio. 

Risk Management and Market-Sensitive Instruments 
We manage interest rate risk by seeking to maintain a tight match between the durations of our assets and liabilities 
where appropriate. We manage credit risk by seeking to maintain high average quality ratings and diversified sector 
exposure within our debt securities portfolio. ln connection with our investment and risk management objectives, 
we also use derivative financial instruments whose market-value is at least partially determined by, among other · 
things, levels of or changes in interest rates (short-term or long-tenn), duration, prepayment rates, equity markets or 
credit ratings/spreads. Our use of these derivatives is generally limited to hedging risk and has principally consisted 
of using interest rate swap agreements, forward contracts, futures contracts, put options and credit default 
swaps. Additionally, from time to time, we :receive warrants froi:n our vendors. These instruments, viewed 
separately, subject us to varying degrees of interest rate, equity price and credit risk. However, when used for 
hedging, we expect these instruments to reduce overall risk. 

We regularly evaluate our risk from market-sensitive instruments by examining, among other things, levels of or 
changes in interest rates (short-term or long-term), duration, prepayment rates, equity markets or credit ratings/ 
spreads. We also regularly evaluate the appropriateness of investments relative to our management-approved 
investment guidelines (and operate within those guidelines) and the business objectives of our portfolios. 

On a quarterly basis, we review the impact of hypothetical net losses in our investment portfolio on our 
consolidated near-term financial position, operating results and cash flows assuming the occurrence of certain 
reasonably possible changes in near-temi market ra'tes and prices. Interest rate changes represent the most material 
risk exposure category for us. We determine the potential effect of interest rate risk on near-term net income, cash 
flow and fair value based on conunonly-used models. The models project the impact of interest rate changes on a 
wide range of factors, including duration, put options an~ call options. We also estimate the impact on fair value 
based on the net present value of cash flows using a representative set of likely future interest rate scenarios. The 
assumptions used were as follows: an immediate increase of 100 basis points in interest rates (which we believe 
represents a moderately adverse scenario and is approximately equal to the historical annual volatility of interest 
rate movements for our intermediate-term available-for-sale debt securities) and an immediate decrease of 25% in 
prices for domestic equity securities. 
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Rt'Vcnu c· Recognition and Allowance for Estimated Terminations and Uncollectable Accounts 
n ur rE-venue. i~ principally derived from premiums and fees billed to customers in the Health Care and Group 
1nsurance businesses. 1n Health Care, revenue is recognized based on customer billings, which reflect contracted 
rates per employee and the number of covered employees recorded in our records at the time the biliings are 
prepared. Billings are generally sent monthly for coverage during the following month. In Group Insurance, 
premium for group life and disability products is recognized as revenue, net of allowances for uncollectable 
accounts, over the term of coverage. Amounts received before the period of coverage begins are recorded as 
unearned premiums. · · · 

Health Care .. billings may be subsequently adjusted to reflect changes in the number of covered employees due to 
terminations or other .factors.:· l"hese adjustmentS are known as retroactivity acijustments .. , We.e£timate the· amount · 
of future retroactivity each ~edod and adjust the recorded revenue accordingly. We also estimate the amount of 
uncollectable receivables each period and establish an allowance for uncollectable amounts. We base such 
estimates on historical trends, prertii.urns bill~d, the aq10unt of contract renewal activity during the period and other 
relevant information. As information regarding actual retroactivity and uncollectable amoiints becomes known, we 
refine our estimates and record any requii:ed adjustments to revenues in the period they arise. A significant 
difference in the actual level of retro?ctivit)' or uncollectable amounts when c.ompared to our estimated levels would 
have a significant effect on Heal~h Care's operating results. 

Beginning in 2011, premium revenue subject t() th'e minimum MLR rebate requirements of Health Care Reform is 
recorded net of the estimated minimum MLR rebates for 'the current calendar year. We estimate the minimum MLR 
rebates by projecting MLRS for the individual, small group and large group markets, as defined by Healch Care 
Reform, for each slate in which each of our insurance entities operate. The claims and premiums used in estimating 
~ud1 rebates arc modified for'certain adjustments allowed by Health Care Reform and include a statistical 
credibility adjustment for those states. wich a number of members that is not statistically credible. 

. . 

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS .... 
Refer to Note 2 of Notes .to Consolidated Financial Statements, beginning on page 66, for a discussion of recently 
issued accounting standards. 

REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT 

General . . 
Our operations are subject to comprehensive United States federal , state and local and comparable multi~le levels 
of international regulation in the jurisdictions in -.yhich we do business. The laws and rules governing our business 
and interpretations of those laws and rules continue to become more restrictive each year and .. are subject .tb frequent 
change. Health Care Reform has made and will continue to make extensive changes to the U.S. health care system 
and significantly increases the regulation o(our business. There also continues to be a heightened review by 
federal, slate and international regulators of the health and related benefits industry's business and reporting 
practices. 

Further, we must obtain and maintain regulatory approvals to price and market many of our products. Supervisory 
agencies, including CMS, and the Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight ("CCIIO"), as well as 
sla te health, insurance and managed care departments and state boards of pharmacy have broad authority to: 

Grant, suspend and revoke our licenses to transact business; 
Exclude us from participation in government programs; 
Suspend or limit our authority to market products; 

• . Regulate many aspects of the products and services we offer, including the pricing and underwriting of such 
products and services; 
Audit us and our performance of our contracts; 
Impose sanctions; 
Assess damages, fines and/or penalties; 
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Impose retroactive adjustments to premiums and refunds to members; 
Monitor our solvency and reseive adequacy; 

• Regulate our investment activities on the basis of quality, diversification and other quantitative criteria; and/ 

or 
Beginning in 2014, our plans may be excluded from participating in Insurance Exchanges if they are 
deemed to have a history of "unreasonable" rate increases. 

Our operations, current and past business practices, current and past contracts, and accounts and other books and 
records are subject lo routine, regular and special investigations, audits, examinations and reviews by these agencies 
as well as state attorneys general and offices of inspector general, the Office of the Inspector General (the "OIG"), 
the Office of Personnel Mailagement (the "OPM"), the U.S. Department of Health and H~an Services ("HHS") 
and other state and federal govemrnent authorities. In addition, from time to time we.receiv,e, af.\d.~xpect to .. 
continue to· receive, subpoenas and other requests for information from CMS, HHS, various state insurance and 
health care regulatory authorities, state attorneys general and offices of inspector general, the CCUO, the OIG, the 
OPM, committees, subco~ittees and members of the U.S. Congress, the U.S. Department of Justice, the Federal 
Trade Commission, U.S. attorneys and other state and federal governmental authorities regarding, among other 
things, certain of our business practices. These government actions may, among other things, prevent or delay us 
from implementing planned premium rate increases and may result, and have resulted, in restrictions on our 
business, changes to or clarifications of our business practices, retroactive adjustments to premiums, refunds to 
members, payments under policies prior to those payments being due under the terms of the policy, assessments of 
damages, civil or. criminal fines or penalties, or other sanctions, including the possible loss of licensure or 
suspension or exclusion from participation in government programs. 

The political environment i~ uncertai~. The federal and state gove~ents continue to enact and seriously consider 
many broad-based legislative and regulatory proposals that have impacted or could materially impact various 
aspects of the health care system, including pending efforts in the U.S. Congress to repeal, amend or restrict funding 
for various aspects of Health Care Refonn and pending litigation challenging the constitutionality of Health Care 
Reform. 

Health Care Reform, enacted·in March 2010, makes broad-based changes to the U.S. health care system which 
could significantly affect the U.S. economy and has and will significantly impact our business operations and 
financial results, including our pricing and medical benefit ratios. Health Care Reform presents us with new 
business opportunities, but also with new financial and other challenges. It is reasonably possible that Health Care 
Refom1, in the aggregat.e, could have a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial results. 

Components of the legislation will be phased in over the next six years. We are dedicating and will continue to be 
required to dedicate material resources and incur material expenses during that time to implement and comply with 
Health Care Reform as well as state level health care reform. While the federal government has issued a number of 
regulations implemeriting Health Care Reform, many significant parts of the legislation, including health insurance 
exchanges ("Insurance Exchanges"), premium rate review, the sc.ope·of "essential health benefits", employer 
penalties and the implementation of minimum medical loss ratios ("MLRs"), require further guidance and 
clarification at the federal level and/or in the form of regulations and actions by state legislatures to implement the 
law. As a result, many of the impacts of Health Care Reform will not be known for several years. The U.S. 
Supreme Court has agreed to review the constitutionality of several aspects of Health Care Reform and is expected 
to issue its decision in mid-20 l.~· Other litigation regarding the constitutionality of Health Care Reform also is 
pending. Pending efforts in the U.S. Congress to repeal, amend or restrict funding for various aspects of Health 
Care Reform, the pending litigation challenging the constitutionalitY of Health Care Reform and the 2012 
presidential election create additional uncertainty about the ultimate impact of the legislation. For example, we 
could be materially and adversely affected by the elimination of Health Care Re form's obligation to purchase health 
care coverage (the "individual mandate") unless our obligation to offer health insurance coverage to each person 
who wants to purchase it ("guaranteed issue") also is eliminated. We cannot predict whether pending or future 
federal or state legislation or court proceedings will change various aspects of Health Care Refonn or the impact 
those changes will have on our business operations or financial results, but the effect could be materially adverse. 
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The expansion of health care coverage contemplated by Health Care Reform will be funded in part by significant 
fees, assessments and taxes on us and other health insurers, health plans and other market participants and 
individuals beginning in 2014, as well as reductions to the reimbursements we and other health plans are paid by the 
federal government for our Medicare members, among other sources. While not all-inclusive, the following are key 
provisions of Health Care Refonil-(assumii:ig it is implemented in .its current fonn). We continue to.evaluate these 
provisions and the related regulations and regulatory guidance to determine the impact that they will have on our 
business operations and financial results: 

Requirements.that began-in· September 2010 fodiealth plans fo s~6iriifandjlistify rates;"pr<.ivide d.ependent 
coverage up to age 26, eliminate certain lifetime and annual maximum limits on the dollar value of 
coverage, eliminate payments by members for covered preventive services, provide required 
reimbursements for emergency services, eliminate prohibited policy rescissions and implement new claim 
appeal procedures. Regtilations issued to date, among other things: permit specified lifetime and minimwn 
annual coverage limits, which will be phased out by 2014; effectively guarantee issuance of insurance 
coverage for enrollees under age 19 beginning in 20 IO; clarify the rules applicable to grandfathered status; 
clarify regulations .regarding appeals; delay application of anti-discrimination requirements; and provide 
implementation guidance ac·ross ~ range of topics. 
Closure of the gap in coverage f~r Medicare Part D prescription drug coverage (the so-called "donut hole") 
which began to close in 2010 and 'Yill incrementally close until the coverage gap is eliminated in 2020. 
Require.d minimum MLRs, as defined by final regulations, for insured plans of 85% for the large group 
market and 80% for the individual and small gi:oup markets, which began January 1, 20 J I, with rebates 
issued to employers for the amqunt tinder the minimum beginning in mid-2012. Required minimum MLRs 
for Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D plans of 85% beginning with the 20 J 4 contract year, with 
rebates for amounts under the minimum MLR and contract penalties for ongoing failure to achieve 
minimum 'MLRs. In the aggregate, these minimum MLR requirements cap the level of margin WC can earn 
in our Commercial Insured and Medicare Insured business while leaving us exposed to medical costs that 
are higher than those reflected in our pricing. 

• Enhanced rate review and disclosure processes by states and HHS. HHS has iss~ed a final rule providing 
that states that havc-"effective review processes" will perform rate re"'.iews, and Iffi_S will perfonn reviews 
in all other states. JIBS has determined that a significant majority _of states. have an effective review 
process. lillS' final rule does not replace ·the current state rate appro~al process. · Instead it adds analysis 
and disclosure related to reasonableness of rate increases to that process, which may impact state approval 
decision-making and further affect our ability to price for the risk we assume on a timely basis. 
Freezing 2011 Medicare Advantage payment rates for payments to us at 2010 levels, with additional 
reductions (plans will ultimately receive a range of 95% of Medicare fee-for-service rates ih .high cost areas 
to 115% of Medicare fee-for-service rates in low cost areas) over a two- to six-year period beginning in 

· 20 I 2 based on regionally-adjusted benchmarks and the linking of Medicare Advantage payments to a plan's 
CMS quality perf onnance rating or "star rating." 

• ...N~:m-deductibility of compensation of employees and certain other persons in excess of $500,000 effective 
in 2013, for compensation earned after 2009. This increased our-federal income taxes in 2010 and will 
continue to cause an increase in our federal income taxes in future years. 
The imposirion on us and other health insurers, health plans and other market participants of significant 
fees, assessments and taxes, including an annual non-deductible induStryvwide $8 billion health insurer fee 
beginning in 2014 and increasing thereafter and industry-wide reinsurance assessments of $12 billion, $8 
billion and $5 billion in 2014, 2015 and 201 6, respectively. 
Multiple insurance refonns beginning in 2014, including rating limits and benefit requirements, guaranteed 
issue and renewability of coverage in the individual and group markets, elimination of pre-existing 
conditions exclusions for all re-enroJJees, elimination of annual limits on the dollar value of coverage, and a 
prohibition on eligibility waiting periods beyond 90 days. 
Insurance Exchanges for the individual and small group markets, which are scheduled to be operational in 
2014. Jn July 2011, HHS released proposed rules establishing a framework to assist states in setting up 
Insurance Exchanges. HHS also released proposed·mles governing-state and federal reinsurance, risk 
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adjustment and risk corridor programs designed to mitigate adverse selection and provide premium stability 
in individual and small group Insurance Exchanges: In September 2011, HHS released additional 
infonnation regarding a "partnership model" in which states could perform certain functions for an 
otherwise federally administered Insurance Exchange . 

._ Expansion of state-based Medicaid coverage beginning in 2014. 
Es~ablishment of an individual mandate and employer penalties for certain large employers whose plans do 
not provide "minimum value" or are "unaffordable", federal assistance to purchase health coverage for 
individuals, and detailed public reporting and disclosure requirements for health plans, each beginning in 
2014. 
A non-deduct~ble 40% excise tax on employer-sponsored health care benefits above a certain threshold 
beginning in 2018. 

Health Care Refonn also specifies req11ired benefit designs, limits rating and pricing practices, encourages 
additional competition (including potential incentives for new market entrants) and significantly increases federal 
oversight of health plans, inc'iuding regulations and processes that could delay or limit our ability to appropriately 
increase our health plan premiums. This in tum could adversely affect our ability to continue to participate in 
certain product lines and/or geographies we serve today. Health Care Reform will require us to phase out many of 
our current limited benefit product offerings no later than 2014, and the application of minimum MLR standards to 
both our limited benefit and student health products may have an adverse effect on our ability to sell these products 
in the future. For additional information on health care reform, refer to "Forward-Looking Information/Risk 
Factors" beginning on page 4 l. 

At the state level, more than 40 states and the District of Colwnbia will hold regular legislative sessions in 2012. In 
2011, state legislatures focused on the impact of Health Care Reform and state budget deficits as well as 
preliminary Insurance Exchange design and implementation. In addition, premiwn rate review legislation (ranging 
from new or enhanced filing requirements to prior approval requirements) was introduced or passed in more than 
half of the states in 2011. A limited number of states have passed Insurance Exchange laws, and a nwnber of states 

· have passed Insurance Exchange planning laws. We expect additional state level legislation and regulatory activity 
that impacts our business to be enacted in 2012, including additional. Insurance Exchange laws and Insurance 
Exchange planning activity. Health Care Reform significantly alters the federal structure that shapes the state 
regulation of health insurance, and requires states to significantly amend numerous existing statutes and regulations. 
Although the implementation of Health Care Reform has been delayed in many states due to the pending legal 
challenges to the constitutionality of Health Care 'Reform, we expect some of that state level legislation to be 
enacted in 2012. 

We also expect state legislatures to continue to focus on the impact of Health Care Reform and state budget deficits 
in 2012. In addition, we expect some states to continue to consider legislation to extend coverage to the uninsured 
through Insurance Exchanges and Medicaid expansion, mandate minimum MLRs, expand the maximwn size of 
"small group" business to larger groups, implement rating refonns and mandate autism coverage. For example, 
regulators or legislatures in a number of states have implemented or are considering limits on premium rate 
increases, either enforcing existing legal requirements more stringently or proposing different regulatory standards 
or procedures for reviewing proposed rate changes; requiring us and other health plans to price prospectively to 
specified minimum loss ratios and demonstrate that pricing in rate filings; and imposing taxes on insurers and other 
health plans to finance the Insurance Exchanges. We cannot predict what provisions legislation or regulation will 
contain in any state or what effect legislation or regulation will have on our business operations or financial results, 
but the effect could be materially adverse. 

Health Care Regulation 

General 
Federal, state, local and foreign governments have adopted laws and reglilations that govern our business activities 
in various ways. These laws and regulations, including Health Care Reform, restrict how we conduct our business 
and result in additional burdens and costs to .!JS. · 
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In addition to the expanded regulation created by Health Care Reform discussed above, areas of governmental 
regulation include: 

Licensi.ire 
Premium rates and rating methodologies 
Medical benefit ratios 
Underwriting rules and proce~ures 
Policy fomis, including plan d_esign and disclosures 
Benefit mandates · · ' · 

Market conduct 
• Utilization review activities 

Payment of Health Care, Group Insurance and_ other claims, including timeliness and accu·racy of payment 
Member rights and responsibilities 
Sales and marketing activities 

· Quality assurance procedures 
· Disclosure of medicai ·arid other infonnation 

In-network and out-of~network provider rates of payment 
General assessments" · 
Provider c·ontract fonns 
Pharmacy and pharmacy b.enefit mahag((rnent operations 
Required participation in coverage arrangements for high-risk insureds, either directly or through an 
assessment or other risk-pooling mechanisms 
Delegation of risk and .other financial arrangements 
Producer licensing and compensation 
Entry into and exit from geographic and product markets and market segments 
Public sector procurement 
Financial condition (including reserves) and 
Corporate governance. 

Jhcso;,: l.i\ys and ~cg~lat!ons are different in each jurisdiction. · 

States generally require health insurers and IDvl.Os. to obtain a certificate of auth.ority prior to commencing·~-· 
operations. To establish a new insurance company or an HMO in a state, we generally would have to obtain such a 
certificate. The time necessary to obtain sti~h a cert~ficate varies from state to state. Each health insurer and HMO 
must file periodic financial and operating reports with the states in \vhich it does business. In addition, health 
insurers and HMOs are subject to state examination and periodic license renewal. Applicable laws also restrict the 
ability of our regulated subsidiaries to pay div

0

idends; and c:ertt:iin dividends require prior regulat9ry approvai. In 
addition, some of our business and related activities may be -subject to PPO, managed care organization, utilization 
review or third-party adriiinistrator~reiated licensure requirements and regulations. these Hcensure requirements 
and regulations differ from state to state, but ~ay contain network, contracting, product and rate, financial and 
reporting requirements. There also are laws ~d regulations that sei specific stand.ardS for our delivery of services, 
payment of claims, fraud prevention, protection of consumer health information, payment for covered benefits and 
services and escheatment of funds to states. With the amendment of the Annual Financial Reporting Model 
Regulation by the NAIC to include provisions similar to certain elements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we 
expect states to continue to expand their regulation of the corporate governance and internal control activities of our 
HMOs and insurance companies. 

Pricing and Underwriting Restrictions 
Pricing and underwriting regulation by states limits our underwriting and rating practices and that of other health 
insurers, particularly for small employer groups and individuals. These laws and regulations vary by state. In 
gc:ncra I, Lhey apply to certain customer segments and limit c;iur ability to set prices for new or renewal business, or 
both, based ·o"ti 'speC"ific 'characteristics of the group or the group's prior claim experience.· In some states, these laws 
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and regulations restrict our ability to price for the risk we assume and/or reflect reasonable costs in our 
pricing. Health Care Reform expands the rate review process by, among other things, requiring our rates to be 
reviewed for "reasonableness" at either the state or the federal level, and HHS has begun issuing determinations that 
plans' requested rate increa~es are unreasonable. HHS' final rate review.rule does not replace the current state rate 
approval process; rather it adds a reasonableness analysis and disclosure to that process, which may impact state 
approval decision-making and further delay or otheIWise affect our ability to price for the risk we assume, which 
could adversely affect us particularly during periods of increased utilization of medical services and/or medical cost 
trend. Health Care Reform also specifies minimum MLRs, as defined by final regulations, of 85% for the large 
group market and 80o/~ for the individual and small group markets, which began in 2011. · Guidance issued in 
December ·2011 clarifies that, with some exceptions and qualifications, we are permitted to issue rebates to 
employers for the amount under the minimum beginning in 2012. Because Health Care Reform is structured as a 
"floor" for many of its requirements, states have the latitude to enact more stringent rules governing its various 
restrictions. States may adopt higher minimum MLR requirements, use more stringent definitions of "medical loss 
ratio," incorporate minimu..rn MLR requir_ements int() prospective rate filings, require prior approval of rates, or. 
impose other requirements related to minimum MLR. For example, Texas has expanded from 50 to 100 the 
maximum size of"small groups" that are subject to its minimum MLR requirements, and California has issued 
emergency regulations requiring rate filings for individual products to price prospectively to an 80% MLR. Actions 
by states such as New Jersey's 80% minimum MLR legislation for the small group and individual markets, New 
York's 82% minimum MLR for the small group and individual markets and California's regulations will further 
inhibit our ability to price for the risk we assume. Both the rate approval process and the application of minimum 
MLR thresholds may further restrict our ability to price for the risk we assume, which could adversely affect our 
ability to operate our business profitably in certain product lines and geographies we serve today, particularly 
during periods of increased utilization of medical services and/or medical cost trend. 

Many of thes.e Jaws and ~egi.ilations also limit the differentials in rates insurers and other carriers may charge 
between new and renewal business, and/or between groups or individuals based on differing characteristics. They 
may also require that carriers disclose to customers the basis on which the carrier establishes new business and 
renewal rates, restrict the application of pre-existing condition exclusions and limit the ability of a carrier to 
terminate coverage of an employer group. In addition, HHS established a federal premium rate review process that 
became effective in September 2011 and generally applies to proposed rate increases equal to or exceeding I 0% 
(with state-specific thresholds to be applicable commencing September 2012). HHS's rate review process imposes 
additional public disclosure requirements as well as additional review on filings requesting rate increases equal to or 
exceeding this "reasonableness" threshold. 

In addition to Health Care Reform requirements, the Health lnsurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 
("HIPAA").generaily n:quires insurers and other carriers that cover small employer groups in ~ny market to. accept 
for coverage 'any small employer group applying for a basic and standard plan of benefits. HIPAA also mandates 
guaranteed renewal of health care coverage for most employer groups, subject to certain defined exceptions, and 
provides for specified employer n!)tice periods in .connection with product and market withdrawals. The law further 
limits exclusions based on pre-existing conditions for individuals covered.under group policies to the extent the 
individuals had prior creditable coverage within a specified time frame. Like Health Care Refonn, HIPAA is 
structured as a "floor" requirement, allowing states latitude to enact ·more stringent rules governing each of these 
restrictions. For example, certain states have modified HIPAA's definition of a small group (2-50 employees) to 
include groups of o~e employee. 

In addition, a number of states provide for a voluntary reinsurance mechanism to spread small group risk among 
·participating insurers and other carriers. ·· rn a small number of states, participation in this pooling mechanism is 
mandatory for all small group carriers. In gene~I, we have elected not to participate in voluntary pools, but even in 
the voluntary pool states, we may be subject to certain supplemental assessments related to the state's small group 
experience. 
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HIPAAAdministrative Simplification, GLBA and Other Privacy, Security and Confidentiality Requirements 
The regulations under the administrative simplification provisions of HIPAA, as further modified by the American 
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 ("ARRA") and Health Care Reform, also impose a number of additional 

. obligations on issuers of health insurance coverage and health benefit plan sponsors. The ''Administrative 
Simplification" provisions of HIPAA and those regulations authorize HHS to issue standards for electronic 
transactions, as well as privacy and security of medical records and other individually identifiable health 
information. 

Administrative Simplification requirements apply to self-funded group health plans, health insurers and HMOs, 
health care clearinghouses and health care providers who transmit health information electronically ("Covered 
Entities"). Regulations adopted to implement Administrative Simplification also require that "business associates" 

·acting for or on behalf of these Covered Entities be· contractually obligated to meet HIPAA standards. The 
Administrative Simplification regulations establish significant criminal penalties and civil sanctions for 
noncompliance. 

Under Administrative Simpfification, ill-IS has released rules mandating the use of standard fonnats in electronic 
health care transactions (for ex-ample, health care claims submission and payment, plan eligibility, precertification, 
claims status, plan efl!cillment and disenrollment, payment and remittance advice, plan premium payments and 
coordination· of benefits). HHS also has published rules requiring the i.ise· of standardized code sets and unique 
identifiers for employers and providers. The federal government has mandated that by October 2013 the health and 
related benefits industry, including· health insurers, providers and laboratories, upgrade to an updated and expanded 
set of standardized diagnosis and procedure codes used for describing health conditions, known as ICD-10. ill-IS 
has annol.lnced that it will initiate a process to postpone the effective date for use ofICD-10 by certain health care 
entities. Implementing ICD-lOwill require substantial investments from the health and related benefits industry, 
including us, over the next several years. We currently estimate that our ICD-10 project expenses-will be between 
$20 million and $40 million each year for 2012 and 2013. 

The HJPAA privacy regulations adopted by llliS establish limits on the use and disclosure of medical records and 
other individw1lly idcnti fiable health information (protected health information or "PHI") by Covered 
Entities. Further, ARRA requires us and other Covered Entities to report an)' unauthonzed release of, use of, or 
access to PHI to any impacted individuals and to HHS in those instances where the unauthorized activity.poses a 
significant risk of financial, reputational or other harm to the individuals, and to notify the media in any states 
where 500 or more people are impacted by any unauthorized release or use of or access to PHI. Business associates 

· (e.g., entities that provide services to health plans, such as electronic claims clearinghouses, print and fulfillment 
vendors, consultants, and us for the administrative services we provide to our ASC customers) must also comply 
with certain HTPAA provisions. In addition, ARRA establishes greater civil and criminal penalties for ···:· 
Covered Entities and business associates who fail to comply with HIPAA's provisions, gives ·new enforcement 
rights.to state attorneys general an~ requires HHS to issue regulations implementing its privacy and security 
enhancements. We will continue to assess the impact of these regulations on our business as they are issued. In 
addition, the HIPAA privacy regulations provide patients with new rights to understand and control how. their health 
infonnation is used. · · · · 

The HIPAA privacy regulations do not preempt more stringent state laws and regulations that may apply to us and 
other Covered Entities, including laws that place stricter controls on the release of infonnation relating to specific 
diseases or conditions and requirements to notify members of unauthorized release or use of or access to PHI. 
Complying with additional state requirements could require us to make additional investments beyond those we 
have made to comply with the HIPAA regulations. HHS also has adopted security regulations designed to protect 
member health information from unauthorized use or disclosure. 

fn flddirion, states have adopted regulations to implement provisions of the Financial Modernization Act of 1999 
(also known as (Jramrn-Leach~Bliley Act ("GLBA")) which generally.require insurers to provide.customers with 
notice regarding how their non-public. personal health and financiai information is used and the opportunity to "opt 
out" of certain disclosures before the insurer shares such infonnation with a non-affiliated third party. The GLBA 
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regulations apply to health,. life and disability insurance. Like HIP AA, GLBA sets a "floor". standard, allowing 
states. to adopt more stringent requirements governing privacy protection. GLBA also gives banks and other 
financial institutions the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, which may lead to new competitors.in the 
insurance and health care benefits businesses. 

Other Legislative Initiatives and Regulatory Initiatives 
In addition to the Health Care Reform, HIP AA and ARRA measures discussed above, the federal and state 
governments continue to enact and seriously consider many broad-based legislative and regulatory proposals that 
have had a material impact on or could materially impact various aspects of the health care and related benefits 
system. For example: . 

As a result of the failure of the Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction to cut the federal deficit by 
$1.2 trillion, the Budget Control Act of2011 (the "BCA") triggers automatic across-the-board budget cuts 
(also known as "sequestration") starting in 2013, including Medicare spending cuts of not more than two 
percent of total program costs for nine years, starting in 2013. The BCA exemptS 'certain programs from 
these cuts, including Medicaid, and certain Medicare payments from these cuts, including Part D low­
income subsidies ("LIS"); the Part D catastrophic subsidies; and payments to states for coverage of 
Medicare cost-sharing for certain low-income Medicare beneficiaries. The Office of Management and 
Budget ("OMB ") is responsible for making these cuts. We are exploring strategies to mitigate any impact 
that may result from these cuts. 
In July 2011, New York notified insurers that it expects insurers to, and will be amending its regulations to 
require insurers to, regularly consult the U.S. Social Security Administration's Death Master File or a 
similar database to determine if unclaimed death benefits may be payable under life insurance and similar 
products, to pay any such benefits and to make certain other business process changes. Legislation 

.. mandating the use of such databases has been introduced in at least four other states. New York is one of 
over 35 states that are investigating life insurers' claims payment and related escheat practices, and these 
investigations have resulted in significant charges to earnings by other life insurers in connection with 
related settlement agreements. We have received requests for information from New York, Connecticut and 
Mirmesota with respect to our life insurance claim payment and related escheat practices. 

Other legislative measures which are or recently have been under consideration include the following: 

• 

Amending or supplementing the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERlSA") to impose 
greater requirements on the administration of employer-funded benefit plans or limit the scope of current 
ERlSA pre-emption, which would among other things expose us and other health plans to expanded 
liability for punitive and other extra-contractual damages and additional state regul~tion. 
Imposing assessments on (or to be collected by) health plans or health carriers, which may or may not be 
passed onto their customers. These assessments may include assessments for insolvency, uninsured or 
hig~·risk pools, uncompensated care, or defraying provider medical malpractice insurance costs. 
Reducing federal and/or state government funding of government-sponsored health programs in which we 
participate. 
Extending malpractice and other liability exposure for decisions made by health plans. 
Mandating coverage for .additional conditions and/or specified procedures, drugs or devices (for example, 
treatment.for autism and infertility and experimental pharmaceuticals). 
Mandating expanded employer and consumer disclosures and notices . 
Reglilating e-connectivity. 
Mandating or regulating the disclosure of provider fee schedules and other data about our payments to 
providers. · · · 

Mandating or regulating disclosure of provider outcome and/or efficiency information. 
Imposing substantial penalties for our failure to pay claims within specified time periods. 

·Imposing payment levels for services rendered to our members by providers who do not have contracts with 
us. 
Exempting physicians from the antitrust laws that prohibit price fixing, group boycotts and other horizontal 

Annual Report- Page 32 



I 
I 

restraints on competition. 

Restricting or mandating health plan or life insurer claim processing, review, payment and/or related 
procedures. 

Mandating additional internal and external grievance and appeal procedures (including expedited decision 
nrnking and access to external claim review). 
Enabling 1he creation of new types of health plans or heaJth carriers, which in some instances would not be 
subject to the. regulations or r~S:trictions that govern our operations. , 
Allowing individuais arid smatr groups to collectively purchase health care coverage without any other 
affiliations. 
Imposing requirements and restrictions on the administration of pharmacy benefits, including restricting or 
eliminating the use of formularies for prescription drugs, limiting or eliminating rebates on 
pharmaceuticals, restricting the configuration of pharmacy netWorks, and restricting or eliminating the use 
of certain drug pricing methodologies. · 
Creating or expanding state-sponsored heaith benefit purchasing risk pools, in which we may be required to 
participate. 
Imposing requirements and restrictions on certain plan designs and funding options, including consumer 
driven health plans and/or health savings accounts. 
Restricting the ability Of health plans to establish member financial responsibility. 
Further regulating individual insurance coverage by restricting or-mandating premium levels, restricting our 
underwriting discretion or restricting our ability to rescind coverage based on a member's 
misrepresentations or omissions. 
Providing members the right to receive information about anyone who has accessed their electronic PHI, 
even where such access was permitted (such as access by our authorized employees in the course of claims 
administration or medical management). ·. 

Some of the changes, if enacted, could provide us with business opportunities. However, it is uncertain whether we 

t::;n ~01rn1er the potential adverse effects of such potential legislation or regulation, includil}g whether we can 
recoup, through higher premiums, expanded membership or other measures, the increased costs of mandated 
coverage or benefits, assessments or other increased cost'\, including the cost Of modifying our systems to· · 
implement any enacted legislation or regulations. 

Our business also may be affected by other legislation. The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 
·Protection Act (the "Financial Refonn Act") was signed into law on Juiy 21, 2010. The Financial Stability· 
Oversight Council (the "Council") created by the Financial Reform Act is empowered to designate'systemically 
important non-bank financial companies that are subject to Federal Reserve Board ("Federal Reserve") 
supervision. Although the Council has indicated that it will begin to designate "systemically important" non-bank 
financial companies in 2012, we cannot predict when or if we will be so designated, and there can be no assurance 
that we will not be so designated. "Systemically important" non~bank financial companies are likely to be subject to 
intensive bank-like supervision, regulation, examination and enforcement. It is difficult to predict the scope and 
content of systemic risk regulations or their effect on us, should we be designated a systemicaily important non­
bank financial company, but we believe it would likely be adverse. In addition, the Financial Refo1m Act creates 
incentives for whistleblowers to speak dire~tly to the government rather than utilizing internal compliance 
programs, reduces the burden of proof under the FCPAand creates a Federal Insurance Office ("FIO") within the 
Department of Treasury, with powers that include information~gathering and subpoena authority. Although the FIO 
does not have authority over health insurance, it will have authority over other parts of our business, primarily life 
insurance. 

We ;ds1.' may be adversely impacted by court and regulatory decisions that expand the interpretations of existing 
sLaLulo;.s and regulations or impose medical malpractice or bad faith liability. Among other issues, federal and state 
courts continue to consider cases addressing group and individual life insurance payment practices and the pre­
emptive effect of ERISA on state laws. In general, changes. to our life insurance payment practices have the effect 
of reducing our Group Insurance operating earnings and limitations to ERISA pre-emption have the effect of 
increasing our costs and/or liability exposures. The legislative initiatives discussed above include proposals in the 
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U.S. Congress to restrict the pre-emptive effect of ERlSA and state legislative activity in several states that, if 
enacted by legislation that is not itself pre-empted by ERlSA, could increase our liability exposure and could result 
in greater state regulation of our operations. 

The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 
The provision of services to certain employee benefit plans, including certain Health Care, Group Insurance and 
Large Case Pensions benefit plans, is subject to ERISA, a complex set of laws and regulations subject to 
interpretation and enforcement by the Internal Revenue Service and the Department of Labor (the "DOL''). ERISA 
regulates certain aspects of the relationships between us and employers who maintain employee benefit plans 
subject to ERISA. Some of our administrative services and other activities may also be subject to regulation under 
ERISA. ERISA generally preempts all state and local laws that relate to employee benefit plans, but the extent of 
the pre-emption continues to be reviewed by courts. 

DOL regulations under ERlSA set standards for claim payment and member appeals along with associated notice 
and disclosure requirements. We have invested significant resources to comply with these standards. 

Certain Large Case Pensions and Group Insurance products and services are also subject to potential issues raised 
by certain judicial interpretations relating to ERISA. Under those interpretations, together with DOL regulations, 
we may have ERISA fiduciary duties with respect to certain general account assets held under contracts that are not 
guaranteed benefit policies. As a result, certain transactions related to those assets are subject to conflict of interest 
and other restrictions, and we must provide certain disclosures to policyholders annually. We must comply with 
these restrictions or face substantial penalties. 

Federal Employees Health Benefits ("FEHB") Program 
Our subsidiaries contract with the OPM to provide managed health care services under the FEHB program in their 
service areas. These contracts with the OPM and applicable government regulations establish premium rating 
arrangements for this program, and generally also require that FEHB plans receive pricing that is at least as · 
favorable as similarly sized subscriber groups ("SSSG") in the applicable market. Compliance with the SSSG 
requirements complicates pricing of our Commercial business and can result in.the payment of an unanticipated 
premium febate to the OPM. The OPM has issued new pricing regulations for 2012, which eliminate the SSSG 
requirements and move to a FEHB program-specific MLR by plan code and market. In 2012, carriers may elect the 
SSSG rules or the MLR regulations. Aetna has· elected the MLR regulations in all plan code and markets except our 
Washington D.C. area and New York HMO's. For 2013 and beyond, the new MLR regulations will be mandatory 
for all carriers in all plan codes and markets with the exception of non-traditionally rated plan codes (including our 
New York HMO) in which case the MLR regulations do not apply. Managing to these rules is further complicated 
by the simultaneous application of the minimum MLR standards and associated premium rebate requirements of 
Beal th Care Refonn. The OPM conducts periodic audits of its contractors to, among other things, verify that the 
premiums established tinder its contracts are in compliance.with the SSSG/MLR and other requirements under 
FEHB program. The OPM may seek premium refunds or institute other sanctions against us if we fail to comply 
with the FEHB program requirements. 

Medicare 
Our Medicare products, including Medicare Advantage and Part D products, are regulated by CMS. The 
regulations and contractual requirements applicable to us and other participants in Medicare programs are complex, 
expensive to comply with and subject to change. We have invested significant resources to comply with Medicare 
standards, and our Medicare compliance efforts will continue to require significant resources. CMS may seek 
premium refunds, prohibit us from continuing to market and/or enroll members in one or more Medicare products, 
exclude us from participating in one or more Medicare programs and/or institute other s~ctions against us if we fail 
to corriply with CMS regulations or our Medicare contractual requirements. · 

For example, effective April 21, 2010, CMS imposed intermediate sanctions on us suspending the enrollment of and 
marketing to new members of all Aetna Medicare Advantage and Standalone PDP contracts. As a result of these 
sanctions, our 2011 Medicare membership and operating results were adversely affected because we did not 
participate in the annual enrollment process for 2011. CMS lifted those sanctions on June 13, 2011. 
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CMS regularly audits our performance to determine our compliance with CMS's regulations, our contracts with 
CMS and the quality of services we provide to Medicare beneficiaries. CMS uses various payment mechanisms to 
allocate and adjust premium payments to our and other companies' Medicare plans by considering the applicable 
heRlLh srntus of Medicare members as supported by information maintained and provided by health care 
providers. We collect claim and encounter data from providers and generally rely on providers to appropriately 
code their sub~issions and document the.ir medical records. MedicareAd\·antitge pla..~s and PDPs receive increased 
premiums for members who have".certain _mediCal conditions identified with specific health condition 
codes. Federal regulators review and audit the providers' medical records and related health condition codes that 
determine the members' health status and the resulting risk-adjusted premium payments to us. CMS has instituted 

. risk a·djustment data validation '("RADY") audits of various Medicare Advantage organizations, including two. of 
Aetna's contracts for the 2007 contract year. Although these two audits are ongoing, we do not believe that they 
will have a material impact on our oper:ating results, financial position or cash flows. 

We believe that the OIG also is audit_ing risk adjustment data, and we expect CMS and the OIG to continue auditing 
risk adjustment data for the 2007 contract year and beyond. Aetna and other Medicare Advantage organizations 
have provided comments to CMS in response to CMS's December 2010 proposed RAI>V sampling a11d payment 
error calculation methodology by which CMS proposes to calculate and extrapoiate RADY audit payment e~or 
rates for, and determine premium refunds payable by, Medicare Advantage plans. ·Our concerns with CMS's 
proposed methodology include the fact that the proposed methodology does not take into account the "error rate" in 
the original Medicare fee-for-service data that was used to develop the risk adjustment system and that retroactive 
audit and payment adjustments undermine the actuarial soundness ofMedicar_e Advantage bids. CMS has indicated 
that it may make retroactive contract-level premium payment adjustments based on the results of these RADY 
audits, which could occur as early as 2012. CMS's premium adjustments could be implemented prior to our or 
other Medicare Advantage organiz~tions having an opportunity to appeal the audit or payment error calculation 
results or methodology. Wear~ unable fo predict the ultimate outcome ofCMS's final RADY audit methodology, 
other audits for the 2007 contract )'ear or subsequent contract years, the amoWlts of any retroactive refunds of, or 
prospective adjustments to, premium payments made to us, or whether any au.dit findings wouki cause a change to 
our inethod of estimating future premium revenue in bid submissions to CMS for the current.or future contract 
years or compromise premium assumptions made in our bids for prior contract years. Any premium refunds or 
adjustments resulting from regulatory audits, including those resulting from CMS's selection of its final RADY 
audit methodology, whether as a result of RADY or other audits by CMS or OIG or otherwise, could be material 
and could adversely affect our operating results, financial position and cash flows. · 

Since 2005, we have generally expanded the Medicare markets we serve and Medicare products we offer, including 
by acquiring the Medicare Supplement business of Genworth Financial during the fourth quarter of 2011, which 
significantly expanded our Medicare Supplement membership. This expansion of the Medicare markets we serve 
and Medicare products vie offer and the Medicare-related provisions of Health Care Refonn increase our exposure 
to changes in government policy with resp~ct to and/or regulation of the various Medicare programs in which we 
participate, including changes -in the amounts payable to us under those programs. For example, as a result of the 
failure of the Joint Select Committee on_ Deficit Reduction to cut the federal deficit by $1 .2 trillion, the BCA 
triggers automatic sequestration starting in 2013, includi~g Medicare spending cuts of not more than two percent of 
total program costs for nine years, starting in 2013. The BCA exempts certain pr~grams from these cuts, including 
Medicaid, and certain Medicare pa)tments from these cuts, including Part D LIS; the Part D catastrophic subsidies; 
and payments to states for coverage of Medicare cost-sharing for certain low-income Medicare beneficiaries. Ol'vfi3 
is respo11sible for making these cuts. We are exploring strategies to mitigate any impact that may result from these 
cuts. In adrtition, on July 15, 2008, the U.S. Congress overrode the President's veto and passed a Medicare funding 
bill that reduced amounts payable to health plans that offer Medicare Advantage plans beginning in 20 I 0 and 
imposed new marketing requirements for Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D Prescription Drug plans 
beginning in 2009. · 
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Health Care Refonn contains further significant reductions in the reimbursements we receive for our Medicare 
Advantage members, including freezing 2011 rates based on 2010 levels, with additional reductions in future years 
based on regionally adjusted benchmarks. Beginning in 2012, Health Care Reform also ties a portion of each 
Medicare Advantage plan's reimbursement to the plan's "star rating." The star rating system considers a variety of 
measures adopted by CMS, including quality of preventative services, chronic illness management and overall 
customer satisfaction. During 2011, our average star rating increased from 3.36 to 3.48, and 92% of our Medicare 
Advantage members were in plans rated at least 3.5 stars. Beginning in 2012, those p.lans that receive a rating of 
four or more stars are eligible for quality bonus payments. Plans with 3 or 3.5 stars are eligible for quality-based 
payments in 2012, 2013 and 2014 under CMS's Quality Bonus Payment Demonstration. As a result, our plans' star 
ratings are likely to be a significant determinant of overall profitability for our Medicare Advantage plans. 
Beginning with the 2014 contract year, Health Care Reform also requires minimum MLR.s for Medicare Advantage 
and Medicare Part D plans of 85%. 

It is not possible to predict the longer term adequacy of payments we receive under the Medicare program. We 
currently believe that the payments we receive and will receive in the near term are adequate to justify our 
continued participation in the Medicare program, although there are economic and political pressures to continue to 
reduce spending on the program, and this outlook could change. 

Going forward, we expect the U.S. Congress to continue to closely scrutinize each component of the Medicare 
program (including Medicare Part D drug benefits) and possibly seek to limit private insurers' role. For example, 
the federal government may seek to negotiate drug prices for PDPs and Medicare Advantage-Prescription Drug 
Plans, a function we currently perform as a plan sponsor or administrator. It is not possible to predict the outcome 
of this Congressional oversight or any legislative activity, either of which could adversely affect us. 

Medicaid 
Since our 2007 acquisi.tion of Schaller Anderson, we have more than doubled our Medicaid revenues and have 
begun to serve the Aged, Blind and Disabl.ed and Long Term Care Medicaid populations. As a result, we also 
increased our exposure to changes in government policy with respect to and/or regulation of the various Medicaid 
programs in which we participate, including changes in the amounts payable to us under ~o~e programs. 

In addition, Health Care Reform includes a significant expansion of Medicaid coverage in January 2014. Health 
Care Reform also includes a "maintenance of effort" ("MOE") provision that requires states to maintain their · 
eligibility rules for people covered by Medicaid until the Secretary of HHS determines that an insurance exchange 
is operational in a given state. The MOE provision is intended to prevent states from reducing eligibility standards 
or altering determination procedures as a way to remove adults above 133 percent of the federal poverty level from 
Medicaid before implementation of expanded Medicaid coverage begins in January 2014. However, states with, or 
projecting, a budget deficit may apply for an exception to the MOE provision. If states are successful in obtaining 
MOE waivers and allow certain Medicaid programs to expire, w~ could experien~e reduced Medicaid enrollme.nt. . 

The economic aspects of the Medicaid business vary from state to state and are subject to frequent change. 
Medicaid premiums are paid by each state and differ from state to state. The federal government and various states 
are also considering proposals and legislation for Medicaid program reforms or redesigns, including changes to 
benefits, reimbursement or payment levels or eligibility crite.ria. Current Medicaid funding and premium revenue 
may not be sustainable due to state and federal budgetary constraints, which have become particularly acute at the 
state level in the past few years, and continuing efforts to reduce health care costs. In addition, our Medicaid 
contracts with states are subject to cancellation by the state after a short notice period without cause (for example, 
when a state discontinues a managed care program) or in the event of insufficient state funding. 

Our Medicaid products also are regulated by CMS, which has the right to attdit our performance to determine 
compliance with CMS contractS and regulations. Our Medicaid products and State Children's Health Insurance 
Program ("SCHIP") contracts also are subject to federal and state regulations and oversight by state Medicaid 
agencies regarding the services we provide to Medicaid enrollees, payment for those services and other aspects of 
these programs, and by external review organizations which audit Medicaid plans on behalf of the state Medicaid 
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agencies. The regulations .and contractual requirements applicable to us and other participants in Medicaid 
programs :ire extensive, complex and subject to change. We have invested significant resources to comply with 
: hl·Sl' stand:irds, and our Medicaid compliance efforts will continue to require significant resources. CMS and/or 
sla1e Medicaid agencies may fine us, seek premium refunds, elect not to award us new contracts or renew our 
existing contracts, prohibit us from continuing to market and/or enroll members in one or more Medicaid products, 
exclude us from participating in one or more Medicaid progrmns and/or institute other sanction5 against us if we fail 
to comply with CMS or state regulations or our contractual requirements. 

HMO and Insurance Holding Company Laws 
A number ·or states, includii1g Pennsylvania and Connecticut, regulate affiliaied: groups of HMOs and insurers such 
as the Company under holding company sfatUtes. These laws may, among other things, require us and our 
subsidiaries to maintain certain levels of equity'. Holding company laws and.regulations generally require insurance 
companies and HMOs within an insurance.holding company system to register with the insurance department of 
each state where they are domidled and to file reports with those states' insurance departments regarding capital 
structure, ownership, financial condition, intercompany transactions and general business operations. In addition, 
various notice or prior regulatory approval requirements apply to transactions between insurance companies, HMOs 
and their affiliates within an insurance holding Company system, depending on· the size. and nature of the 
tra~sactions. With the amendment of the Annual Financial Reporting Model Regulation by the NAIC to include 
provisions similar to certain elemr;:nts of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we expect that the states in which our 
insurance and HMO subsidiaries are licensed will continue to expand their regulation of the corporate governance 
and internal control activities Of our HMOs and insurance companies. 

The states of domicile of our regulated subsidiaries have statutory risk-based capital, or "RBC", requirements for 
hc"llh ai,d other insurance companies and 1™0s based on the RBC Moder Act. These RBC requirements are 
in1cndecl to assess the capital adequacy of life and health insurers and HMOs, taking into account the risk 
characteristics of a company's investments and products. The RBC Model Act sets forth the formula for calculating 
RBC requirements, which are designed to take into account asset risks, ins~a~ce risks, interest rate risks and other 
relevant risks with respect to an individual company's business. · In geil'eral, under these laws; an insurance company 
or HMO must submit a report of its RBC level to the insurance department or insurance commissioner of its state of 
domicile for each calendar year. 

. . 
The RBC Model Act requires increasing degrees of regulatory oversight and intervention as a.company's RBC 
declines and provides for four different levels of regulatory attention depending 0!1 the ratio of a company's total 
adjusted capital (defined as the total of its statutory capital, surplus and asset valuation reser-ve) to i1S risk-based 
capital. The level of regulatory oversight ranges from requiring the company to inform and obtain approval from 
the domiciliary insurance commissioner of a comprehensive financial plan for increasing its RBC, to mandatory 
regulatory intervention requiring a company to be placed under regulatory control in a rehabilitatiori or liquidation 
proceeding. As of December 31, 2011, the RBC levels of our insurance and HMO subsidiaries exceedec,l ali RBC . . ' . 
thresholds. 

In addition, changes to regulations or the interpretation of those regulations due to regulators' increasing concerns 
regarding insurance company and/or HMO solvency due, among other things, to the current adverse and uncertain 
economic environment, could negatively impact our business in various ways, including through increases in 
solvency fund assessments, requirements that the Company hold greater levels of capital and/or delays in approving 
dividends from regulated subsidiaries. 

For information regarding restrictions on certain payments of dividends or other distributions by our HMO and 
insurance company subsidiaries, refer to Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements on page 103. 

The holding company laws for the states of domicile of Aetna and certain of its subsidiaries also restrict the ability 
of any pel"Son to obtain control of an insurance company or HMO without prior regulatory· approval. Under those 
statutes, without such approval (or an exemption), no person may acquire any voting seci.irity of an insurance 
holding company (such as our parent company, Aetna Inc.) that c.ontrols an insurance company or HMO, or merge 
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with such a holding company, if as a result of such transaction such person would control the insurance holding 
company. Control is generally defined as the direct or indirect power to direct or cause the direction of the 
management and policies of a person and is presumed to exist if a person directly or indirectly owns or controls 
10% or more <;>f the voting securities of another person. 

Audits and Investigations . . . . . 
We typically have been and are currently involved in various governmental investigations, audits, examinations, 
reviews, s~bpoenas a~o ~ther requ.~s~ for infQrmation, the intensity and ·scope ~f ~hi~h. f.~I1tinue to in"rease. These 
include routine, regular and special investigations, audits, examinations and reviews by, as well as subpoenas and 
other requests for information from, CMS, HHS, various state insurance and h_ealth care regulatory authorities, state 
attorneys general and offices of inspector general, the CCIIO, the OIG, the OPM, committees, subcommittees and 
members of the U.S. Congress, the U.S. Department of Justice, the Federal Trade Commission, U.S. attorneys and 
other state and federal governrriental authorities. Such government actions may result and have resulted in 
restrictions on our business, changes to or clarifications of our business practices, retroactive adjustments to 
premiums, refunds to members, assessments of damages, civil or criminal fines or penalties (including under the 
False Claims Act), or other sanctions, including the possible loss of !!censure or suspension or exclusion from 
participation in government programs. Fm ~xample, effe<etive April 21, 2010, CMS imposed intermediate sanctions 

. o~ us suspending the enrollment of and ~ark~ting to new members of all Aetna Medicare Advantage and . 
Standalone PDP contracts. In addition, CMS has instituted RADY audits of our risk adjustment payments under 
certain of our Medicare Advantage contracts. For additional information on these Medicare matters, refer to 

"Medicare" begiMing on page 34. 

In July 2011, New York notified insurers that it expects insurers to, and will be amending its regulations to require 
insurers to, regularly consult the U.S. Social Security Administration's Death Master File or a similar database to 
determine if unclaimed death benefits may be payable under life insurance and similar products, to pay any such 
benefits and to make certain other business process changes. Legislation mandating the use of such databases has 
been introduced in at least four other states. New York is one of over 35 states that are investigating life insurers' 
claims payment and related escheat practices, and these investigations have resulted in significant charges to 
earnings by other life insurers in coMection with related settlement agreements. We have received requests for 
information from New York, Connecticut and Minnesota with respect to our life insurance claim payment arid 
related escheat practices. 

In January 2009, following an investigation by the New York Attorney General, we agreed with the New York 
Attorney General to discontinue the use of a database of provider charges compiled by lngenix and to utilize a new 
database for a period of at least five years in connection with out-of-network reimbursements in those benefit plans 
that employ a reasonable and customary standard for such reimbursements. We used the lngenix database for many 
planno determine the level of reimbursement when our members utilize hospitals, physicians and other h~alth care 
providers who do not have a contract with us. We have transitioned to the new database and have increased the use 
ofallemative benefit designs to determine these payments; however, paymentlev.els for non-contracted provider 
services will likely remain the subject of further investigations, challenges and regulations. 

Refer to "Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings" in Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
beginning on page I 05 for more information regard mg pending audits and investigations. 

Federal and State Reporting 
We are subject to extensive financial and business reporting requirements, including penalties for inaccuracies and/ 
or omissions, at both the state and federal level. Health Care Reform significantly expands these reporting 
requirements and adds additional penalties for inaccuracie~ and omissions. · In some instances, our ability to comply 
with these requirements will depend on receipt of information from third parties, particularly employers, that we do 
not receive today and that may not be readily available or reliably provided in all instances. We are and will 
continue to be required to _modify .our information systems, dedicate significant resources and incur significant 
expenses t.o comply with. these requirements. However, we cannot eliminate the risks of unavailability of or errors 
in our reports. 
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Fraud, 'Vastc and Abuse Laws 
Federal and state governments have made investigating and prosecuting health care fraud, waste and abuse a 
priority. Fraud, waste and abuse prohibitions encompass a wide range of activities, including kickbacks for referral 
of members, billing for unnecessary 11?-edical services, improper marketing, and violations of patient privacy 
rights. Companies involved in .public health care programs such as Medicare and Medicaid are often the subject of 
fraud, waste and abuse investigations, as well as False Claims Act lawsuits by whistle blowers and others. In 
addition, Health Care Reform expanded the jurisdiction of, and our exposure to, the False Claims Act to Insurance 

. Exchanges, which will begin. to operat~ in 2014. The regulations and contractual requirements .. applicable to us and 
other participants in these public-sector programs are complex and subject to change. We have invested significant 
resources to comply with Medicare and Medicaid standards. Ongoing vigorous law enforcement and the highly 
technical regulatory scheme mean that our compliance efforts in this area will continue to require significant 
resources. 

Product Design and Sales Practices 
State and/or federal regulatory scrutiny of life and health insurance company and HMO marketing and advertising 
practices, including the adequacy of disclosure regarding products and their administration,_is increasing as are the 
penalties being imposed for inappropriate practices. Medicare and Medicaid products and products offering more 
lirnited benefits, such as those we issue and sell through Strategic Resource Company and some of our student 
health plans, in particular are attracting increased regulatory scrutiny. 

Guaranty Fund Assessments/Solvency Protection 
Under guaranty fund laws existing in all states, insurers doing business in those states can be assessed (up to 
prescribed limits) for certain obligations of insolvent insurance companies to policyholders and claimants. These 
laws are administered by state liealth insurance guaranty associations in which we and other irisurers· participate. 
These health insurance guaranty associations respond to insolvendes of long-teim care insurers as well as health 
insurers. Our assessments gencrally'are based on a (onnula relating to our premiums in the stat~ compared' to the 
premiums of other insurers. Certain states allow assessments to be recovered as offsets to premium taxes. Some 
states have similar laws relating to HMOs. ·The Pennsylvania Insurance Commissioner has placed long-term care 
insurer Penn Treaty Network America Insurance Company and one of its subsidiaries (collectively, "Penn Treaty") 
in rehabilitation, an intermediat·e action before insolvency, and has petitioned a state court for liquidation .. We 
cannot predict when a d_ecision will be made, although we believe it is likely that the state court will rule within the 
next twelve months. If Penn Treaty is deClared insolvent and placed in liquidation, we and other insurers likely · 
would be assessed over a period of years by guaranty associations for the payments the guaranty associations are 
required to make to Penn Treaty policyholders. We are currently unable to predict the ultimate outC'ome of, or 
reasonably estimate the Joss or range of losses resulting from, this potential insolvency because we-caru10t predict 
when the state court will render a decision, the amount of the insolvency, if any, the amount and timing of 
associated guarantY association assessments or the amount or availability of potential offsets, such as premium tax 
offsets. It is reasonably possible that in future reporting periods we may record a liability and expense relating to 
Penn Treaty or other insolvencies which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, financial 
position and cash flows. While we have historically recovered more than half of guaranty fund assessments through 
statutorily-permitted preiniuin tax offsets, significant increases in assessments could lead to legislative and/or 
regulatory actions that may limit future offsets. 

Hcgulatfon of rlrnrmacy Operations 
On July 27, 2010, we ent~ted into the PBM Agreement, under which CVS Caremark provides certain pharmacy 
benefit management ("PBM") services to us and our customers and members. The PBM Agreement has a tenn of 
up to 12 years, although we have certain termination rights beginning in January 2018. CVS Caremark began 
providing services under the PBM Agreement on January 1, 2011. Notwithstanding our contracting with CVS 
Caremark, we will remain responsible to regulators and members for the delivery of PBM services. In addition, we 
continue to own two mail order pharmacy facilities and one specialty pharmacy facility (our "Pharmacies") and 
utilize certain CVS Caremark pharmacies. One mail order pharmacy is located in Missouri, and the specialty 
phannacy and our second mail order pharmacy are located in Florida. Our Pharmacies dispense pharmaceuticals 
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throughout the U.S. and are participating providers in Medicare, Medicare Part D and various Medicaid 
programs. The pharmacy practice is generally regulated at the state level by state boards of pharmacy. Our 
Pharmacies are required to be licensed in the state where they are located, as well as the states that require 
registration or licensure of mail order pharmacies with the state's board of pharmacy or similar regulatory 
body. Our Pharmacies also must register with the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration and individual state 
controlled substance authorities in order to dispense controlled substances and must comply with applicable 
Medicare, Medicaid and other provider rules and regulations, including federal and state false claims and anti­
kickback laws. CVS Caremark',5 phannacies are subject to these same licensing requirements and other laws and 
regulations. Loss or suspension of any such licenses or registrations could have a material adverse effect on our 
ability to meet our commitments to our customers, which could, in tum, have a material adverse effect on our 
pharmacy business and/or operating results. 

Regulation of Pharmacy Benefit Management Operation 
Our PBM services are regulated directly and indirectly at the federal and state levels, including federal and state 
false claims and anti-kickback laws. These laws and regulations govern, and proposed legislation may govern, 
critical P:f3M practices, including disclosure, receipt and retention of rebates and other payments received from 
phannaceutical manufacturers, disclosure of data to third parties, dmg utilization management practices, the level of 
duty a PBM owes its c0stomers arid registration or licensing of PBMs. Failure by us or CVS Caremark to comply 
with these laws or regulations could result in material fines and/or sanctions and could have a material adverse 
effect on our operating results. 

Life and Disability Insurance 
Our life and disability insurance operations are subject to extensive regulation. Changes in these regulations, such 
as expanding the definition of disability or mandating changes t() claim payment, determination and/or settlement 
practices, could have a material adverse impact on our life insurance and/or disability insurance operations and/or 
operating results. In July 2011, New York notified insurers that it expects insurers to, and will be amending its 
regulations to require insurers to, regularly consult the U.S. Social Security Ad.ministration's Death Master File or a 
similar database to determine if unclaimed death benefits may be payable under life insurance and similar products, 
to pay any such benefits and to make certain other business process changes. Legislation mandating the use of such 
databases has been introduced in at least four other states. New York is one of over 35 states that are investigating 
life insurer~' claims payment and related escheat practices, and these investigations have resulted in significant 
charges to earnings by other life insurers in connection with related settlement agreements. We have re.ceived 
requests for information from New York, Connecticut and Minnesota with respect to our life i~surance claim 
payment and related escheat practices. 

International Regulation 
We continue to expand our Health Care operations that are conducted in foreign countries and Cl;IITently have 
insurance licenses in several countries and do business in over twenty countries. These international operations are 
subject to different, and sometimes more . .stringent, legal and regulatory requirements, which vary widely by 
jurisdiction, including anti-corruption laws; various privacy, insurance, tax, tariff and trade laws and regulations; 
and corporate, employment, iiltellectual property and investment laws and regulations. In addition, the expansion 
of our operations into foreign countries increases our exposure to the anti-bribery, anti-corruption and anti-money 
laundering provisions of U.S. law, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, and foreign laws, including 
the U.K. Bribery Act 2010. 

Anti-Money Laundering Regulations 
Certain of our lines of business are subject to U.S. Department of the Treasury anti-money laundering 
regulations. Those lines of business have implemented anti-money laundering policies designed to insure their 
affected products comply with the regulations. 
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fOR\Vl\RU-LOOKJNG INFORMATION/RISK FACTORS 
The Private Sec\irities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the "l 995 Act") provides a "safe harbor" for fmward-looking 
statements, so long as (l) those statements are identified as forward-looking, and (2) the statements are . 
accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements that identify important factors ·1batcould cause actual results to 
differ materially from those discussed in the statement. We want to take advantage of these safe harbor provisions . 

. Certain information contai_ned _in this _.MD&A and elsewhere in theAnnual Report and our Annual Report on Fonn 
I 0-K is forward~fooking wi.thin the.meaning of the 1995 Act or SEC rules. This information includes, but is not 
limited to: the "Outlook for 201°2'' on page 5, "Risk Management and Market-Sensitive Instruments" beginning on 

· page 14 and "Regulatory Enviroliment" beginning on page 25 of the Annual Report. In addition, throughout this 
:MD&A and elsewhere, we use the following words, or variations or negatives of these words and similar 
expressions, when we intend to identify forward-looking statements: 

Expects Intends Seeks Will ·Potential 
Projects Plans Estimates Should Continue 
Anticipates Believes May Could. View 
Outlook Guidance Predict 

r-orwn rd- looking statements rely on a number of estimates, assumptions and projections concerning future events, 
:rnc! arc ;;ubject to a number of significant uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ · 
materially from those statements. Many of these factors are outside our control. You should not put uridue reliance 
on forward-looking statements. We disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise forward-looking 
statements, w~ether as a result of new infonnation, future events or otherwise. 

Risk Factors 
You should carefully consider each of the following risks and all of the other"infomiation set forth in this rvID&A or 
elsewhere in our Annual Report or our Arinual Report on Form 10-K. These risks and other factors may affect 
forward-looking statements, including those we make in th!s .rvID&A or. cJs·ewhere, such as in news. releases or 
investor or analyst calls, meetings or presentations. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only 
ones we face. Additional risks a·rid uncertainties not presently kno">v:n to us or that we currently believe to be 
immaterial may also adversely· affect our business. Any of these risks or uncertainties could cause our actuakresults 
to differ materially from our expectations an.d the expected results discussed in our forward-looking statements. 
You should not consider past results to be an indication of future performance. · ,. 

If any of the following risks or uncertainties develops into actual events or if the circumstances described in. the 
risks or uncertainties occur or continue to occur, these events or circumstances could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, cash flows, financial condition or operating results. In that case, the trading price of our common 
stock could decline materially.' · . 

The continuing public policy debate on Health Care Reform, additional changes to the U.S. health care 
sysicm :ind the stressed economic environment, with high U.S. unemployment, present overarching risks to 
~u aspects of our enterprise. 
The political environment in which we operate remains uncertain. There can be no assurance that the 
implementation of Health Care Reform, additional changes to the U.S. health care system, including changes to 
Health Care Reform, or the impact of the economic environment will not adversely affect our business, cash flows, 
financ.ial condition or operating results. See "Regulatory Euvironmenl"- General" beginning on page 25 and 
"Adverse economic conditions in the U.S. and abroad can significantly and adversely affect our businesses and 
profitability, and we do not expect these conditions to improve in the near future" begirming on page 45. 
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We are subject to potential changes in public policy and Health ~are Reform that can adversely affect the 
markets for our products and services and our profitability. The federal and state governments continue to 
enact and seriously consider many broad-based legislative and regulatory measures that have mat.erially 
impacted and will continue to materially impact various aspects of the health care system and our business. 
The political environment in which we operate remains uncertain. It is not possible to predict with certainty or 
eliminate the impact of additional. fundamental public policy changes, including changes to H~alth Care Reform, 
that could adversely affect us. Examples of these changes include policy chang~s that would fundamentally change 
the dynamics of our industry, such as the federal or one or more state governments assuming a larger role in the 
health and related benefits industry or managed care operations, fundamentally restructuring or reducing the 
funding available for Medicare or Medicaid programs, or a repeal or significant alteration of Health Care Reform, 
such as the elimination of the obligation to purchase health care coverage (the "individual mandate") without the 
elimination of our obligation to offer health insurance to each person who wants to purchase it ("guaranteed issue"). 
Our business and operating results could be materially and adversely affected by such changes even if we correctly 
predict their occurrence. For more information on these matters, refer to "Regulatory Environrrient" beginning on 
page 25. 

/ 

In March 20 I 0, Health Care Reform was enacted, legislating broad-based changes to the U.S. health care system. 
Components of the legislation will be phased in over the next six years. While the federal government has issued a 
number of regulations implementing Heaith Care Reform, many significant parts .. ofHealth Care Reform, including 
health insurance exchanges ("Insurance Exchanges"), premium rate review, the scope of "essential health benefits", 
employer penalties and the implementation of minimum MLRs, require fi,uther guidance and clarification at the 
federal level and/or in the form of regulations and actions by state legislatures to implement the law'. As a result, 
many of the impacts of Health Care Reform will not be known until those regulations and related regulatory 
guidance are issued and action.5 are taken, which is expected to occur over the next several ye.ars. 

Health Care Reform imposes significant fees, assessments and taxes on us and other health insurers, health plans 
and other industry participants. Health Care Reform imposes an annual industry-wide $8 billion health insurer fee 
beginning in 2014 and increasing thereafter. This health insurer fee is not deductible for income tax purposes and 
will be allocated pro rata among us and other industry participants based on net premiums written. Health Care · 
Reform also imposes industry-wide reinsurance assessments of$12 billion, $8 billion and $5 billion in 2014, 2015 
and 2016, respectively, which will be allocated pro rata among us and other industry participants based on net 
premiums written for insured business plus the fees received and cost of coverage administered for self-insured 
business. As we are one of the nation's largest health care benefits companies, we expect.our share of the Health 
Care Reform assessments, fees and taxes to be significant. Jfthe Health Care Reform assessments, fees and taxes 
are imposed as enacted and we are unable to factor these assessments, fees and taxes into our premi1.1ms and fees or 
otherwise adjust our business model to address them, these assessments, fees and taxes could have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position and/or cash flows. 

In addition, at the state level, more than 40 states and the District of Columbia will hold regular legislative sessions 
in 2012. ln 2011, state legislatures focused on the. impact of Health Care Reform and state budget deficits as well as 
preliminary Insurance Exchange des{gn and i~plementation. We expect state legislatures to focus on these issues · 
again in 2012. For more ~nformation on these matters, refer to "Regulatory Environment" beginning on page 25. 

The U.S. Supreme Court has agreed to review tlie constitutionality of several·aspects of Health Care Reform and is 
expected to issue its decision in mid-2012. This review, as well as other pending litigation regarding the 
constitutionality of Health Care Reform, increases the risk of significant alteration of Health Care Reform that 
could materially and adversely affect our health care operations and/or financial results. For example, if the 
Supreme Court were to find the individual mandate unconstitutional, but generally uphold the remainder of Health 
Care Reform, particularly guaranteed issue, people with greater needs for health care services could make up an 
increased portion of our Insured membership, which would adversely affect our operating earnings and medical 
benefit ratios. These effects could be magnified if we are unable to obtain, or are delayed in obtaining, approval of 
adequate premium rate increases for the risk we assume. These court proceedings, the 2012 presidential election 
and pending efforts in the U.S. Congress to repeal, amend or restrict funding for various aspects of Health Care 
Reform create additional uncertainty about the ultimate impact of the legislation on us. 

Annual Report- Page 42 



In addition to the Health Care Reform measures described above, we expect the federal and state governments to 
continue to enact and seriously consider many broad-based legislative and regulatory proposals .that have materially 
impacted or could materially impact various aspects of the health care system and our business, including changes 
to Health Care Reform. 

We will need to continue to dedicate material resources and incur material expenses to implement and comply with 
Health Care Reform and any future changes in Health Care Refonn at both the state and federal level, including 
implemenring and complying with the future regulations that will provide guidance on and clarification of 
significant parts of the legislation. In addition, we anticipate that additional health care reforms will be enacted at 
the state level; however, we cannot predict what provisions they will contain in ariy state or what effect they will 
have on our business operations or financial results. While health care reform at the state and federal level presents 
us with new business opportunities and new financial and other challenges and may, for example, cause 
membership in our health plans to increase· or decrease or make doing business in particular states more ·or Jess 
attractive, it is reasonably possible that our business operations and financial results could be materially adversely 
affected by such reform. 

We must continue to differentiate our products and services from those of our competitors; we operate in an 
e,•olving industry that requires _us to anticipate changes in customer preferences and to innovate and deliver 
products and services that demonstrate value to our customers, particularly in response to market changes 
from public policy. 
We operate in a highly competitive environment and in an industry that is subject to significant ongoing changes 
from market pressures brought about by customer demands, business consolidations, strategic alliances, Health · 
Care Reform, and other legislative and regulatory changes and marketing practices. For example, beginning in 
2014, we expect to compete for sales on Insurance Exchanges~ which will rcqufre us fo develop or acquire· the tools 
necessary to interact with Insurance Exchanges and individual consumers using Insurance Exchanges (including 
social media tools), increase our focus on individual conswners and improve our consumer-focused sales and 
marketing channels, customer interfaces and product offerings. In addition, our customers generally, and our larger 
customers particularly, are well-informed and organized and can easily move between us and our competitors. 
These factors require us to differentiate our products and services, anticipate changes in customer preferences and 
i1movate and deliver new and existing products and services that demonstrate value to our customers, particularly in 
response to market changes from public policy. Failure to differentiate our products and services, anticipate 
changes in customer or consumer preferences or innovate and deliver products and services that demonstrate value 
to our customers can affect oui ability to retain or grow profitable membership, which can adversely affect'our 
operating results. · 

Our ability to antidpate and detect medical cost trends and achieve appropriate pricing affects our ·· 
profitability, and our business and profitability may continue to be adversely affected by pre.vailing economic 
conditions. There can be no assurance that future health care and other benefit costs will not deviate from 
our projections. 
Adverse economic conditions and unanticipated increases in our health care and other benefit costs can significantly 
and adversely affect our businesses and profitability in a number of ways. The current economic-envirorunent is 
challenging and less predictable than the economic environment of the recent past, which has caused and may 
continue to cause unanticipated increases and volatility in our health care and other benefit costs. Premium 
revenues from our Insured Health Care products comprised approximately 80% and 81% Of our total consolidated 
revenues for 2011 and 2010, respectively. While we generally have increased_ our premium rates for Insured 
business under contract in ·2012, our health care premfoms are· priced in advance ~nd generally fixed for one-year 
periods. Accordingly, cost increases in excess of health care or other benefit cost projections reflected in our 
pricing cannot be recovered in the fixed premium period through higher premiums. As a result, our profits are 
particularly sensitive to the accuracy of our forecasts of the increases in health care and other benefit costs that we 
expect to occur during the fixed premium period. Those forecasts typically are made several months before the 
fixed premiwn period begins, require a significant degree of judgment and are dependent on our ability to anticipate 
and detect medical cost trends. The aging of the population and other demographic characteristics, advances in 
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medical technology and other factors contribute to rising health care costs and medical cost trends. Medical cost 
trends may also be impacted by a number of other factors that are beyond our control, such as epidemics, 
pandemics, terrorist attacks, natural disasters or other extreme events that materially increase utilization of medical 
services, as weU as changes in members' healthcare utilization patterns and provider billing practices. During the 
year ended December 31, 2009, medical costs were higher and more volatile than we projected. During the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, medical costs and members' utilization of medical services were lower than we 
projected and members' utilization was below historical levels. Our 20 I 0 and 2011 experience is not projected to 
continue in 2012; we expect utilization to increase to more normal levels in 2012. As a result of the volatility we 
have experien<;;ed in recl?nt years, accurately anticipating, detecting, forecasting, managing and reserving for 
utilization of medical services for ourselves and our self-insured customers and medical cost trends have become 
more challenging~ Such challenges are particularly heightened during and following periods when such utilization 
and/or trends are below historical levels such as we experienced during 2010 and 2011. There can be no assurance 
regarding the accuracy of the health care or other benefit cost projections reflected in our pricing, and our health 
care and other benefit costs can be affected by external events that we cannot forecast or project and over which we 
have no control, such as the higher than projected HINI influenza and COBRA related health care costs w~. 
experienced in 2009, as weil as changes in our products, contracts with providers, medical management, 
underwriting, rating and/or claims processing methods and processes. Relatively small differences between 
predict~d and actual health care and other benefit costs as a percentage of premium revenues can result in 
significant adverse changes in our operating 1:esults .. Furthermore, if we are w1able to acci.µately and promptly 
anticipate' and detect medical cost trends, our ab.ility to take timeiy pricing and other corrective actions may be 
limited, which would further exacerbate the extent of the adverse impact on our profitability. This risk is magnified 
by Health Care Reform and other legislation and regulations (such as rate reviews and limits on premium rate 
increases) that limit our ability to price for our projected and/or experienced increases in utilization of medical 
services and/or such trend. If health care and other benefit costs are higher than we predict or if we are not able to 
obtain appropriate pricing on new or renewal business, our prices will not reflect the risk we assume and our 
profitability will be adversely affected. If health care and other benefit costs are lower than we predict, our prices 
may be higher than those of our competitors, which may cause us to lose membership. For more information, see 
"Critical Accounting Estimates - Health Care Costs Payable" beginning on page 19. 

Our ability to manage hea,lth care and o,tl,ier benefit costs affects our profitability and competitiveness. 
Our profitability and competitiveness depend in large part on our ability to appropriately manage future health care 
and other benefit costs through underwriting criteria, product design, negotiation of favorable provider contracts 
and medical management programs. Government-imposed limitations on Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement 
also have caused the private sector to bear a greater share of increasing health care and other beriefits costs over 
time. The aging of the population and other demographic characteristics, advances in medical technology and other 
factors continue to contribute to rising health care and other benefit costs. Changes as a result of Health Care 
Reform and other changes in the regulatory environment, implementation of ICD-10, changes in health care 
practices, general economic conditions such as inflation and employment levels, new technologies, increases in the 
cost of prescription drugs, direct-to-consumer marketing by pharmaceut.ical companies, clusters of high-cost cases, 
health care provider or member fraud, changes to Medicare and/or Medicaid reimbursement levels to health plans 
and provider~ and numerous other factors affecting the cost of health care can be beyond any health plan's control 
and may adversely affect our ability to predict and manage health care and other benefit cosrs, which can adversely 
affect our competitiveness and operating results. 

We face risks from industry, public policy and economic forces that can change the fundamentals of the 
health and related benefits industry and adversely affect our business and operating results. 
Various factors particular to the health and related benefits industry may affect our business model. Those factors 
include, among others, the rapid evolution of the business model, particularly as that model moves to a direct-to­
consumer marketing model, such as the model contemplated by the Insurance Exchanges, which will begin to 
operate in 2014; shifts in public policy, including those embodied in Health Care Reform; adverse changes in laws 
and regulations or the interpretation of laws and regulations; consumerism; pricing actions by competitors; 
competitor and supplier consolidation and integration; a declining number of commercially insured people; and 
changes in technology .. We also face th~ pctential of competition from existing or new companies that have not 
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historically been in the health or group insurance industries, such as health information technology ("HIT") 
companies. If we are unable to anti~ipate or detect these and other rele.vant external factors and deploy meaningful 
responses to all relevant external factors, our business and operating results may be adversely affected. 

Adverse economic conditions in the U.S. and abroad can significantly and adversely affect our businesses and 
profitability, and we do not expect these conditions to improve in the near future. 
The current volatile U.S. and global economic environment has resulted in significantly diminished expectations of, 
and higher uncertainty with respect to, the prospects for the U.S. and global economies going forward. Our 
customers, medical providers and the other companies with which we do business are generally headquartered in 
the U.S.; however, many of our largest customers are global companies with operations around the world. As a 
result, adverse economic conditions in the U.S. and abroad have adversely affected and can in the future 
significantly and adversely affect, out businesses and profitability by: 

Leading to reductions in workforce by our customers, which would reduce both the nllinber of members we 
serve and out revenues. 
Leading our customer5 ~nd potential customers, particularly those with the most members, and state and 
local governments, to force us t~ compete more vigorously on factors 'such as price and service, including 
service and other perf onnance guarantees, to retain or obtain· their business. 
Leading our customers and potential customers to purchase less profitable mixes of products from us (i.e., 
purchase products that generate less profit for us (such as our adm.inistrative services products) than the 
ones they currently purchase or otherwise would have purchased) or purchase fewer products from us. 
Leading our customers and potential cu·stomers, particularly smallef.employers and individuals, to elect not 
to obtain or renew their health and other coverage with us. 
Adversely affecting state and federal budgets, resulting in reduced reimbursements or payments to us in 
Medicare, Medicaid, SCHIP and/or other fed~i'ral arid ·state.govertuneiit health. care.covei·age progra1ns. 
Causing unanticipated increases and volatility in utilization of medical services by our members and/or 
increases in medical unit costs, ea~h of which would increase our health care· and other benefit costs and 
limit our ability to accurately detect, forecast, manage and reserve for our members' utilization of medical 
sei'vices and our self-insured customers' medical cost trends and/or changes in· those trends and/or future 
health care and other benefit costs. 
increasing our medical unit costs as hospitals and other providers attempt to maintain revenue levels in their 
efforts to adjust to their own economic challenges. 
Contributing to inflation that could cause interest rates to increase and thereby increase our interest expense 
and adversely affect that component of our operating results. 
Weakening the ability or perceived ability of the issuers and/or guarantors of the debt or other-securities we 
. hold in our itlvesttnent portfolio to 'perf onn on their obligations to i.is, ~hich could' result in defaults in those 
securities .or reduce the value of those securities and create realized capital losses for us that r~duce our 
operating results. . · 
Weakening the ability of our customers, medical providers and the other companies with whiCh we do 
business to perfohn their obligations to us or causing them not to perform those obligations, either of which 
could reduce our operating results. . 
Causing goverrunents to impose new or higher taxes or assessments on us in response to budgetary 
pressures. 

Furthennore, reductions in workforce by our customers in excess of, or at a faster rate than, those we project could 
reduce both our membership and revenue below our proj~cted levels and cause .un.anti.cipated increases in our health 
care and other benefit costs. There can be no assurance that oi.ir heal ih ·care and other beriefit costs, business and 
profitability will not be adversely affected by .these economy-related conditions or other factors. 

Our continued business success is dependent on our ability to diversify our sources of revenue and earnings. 
As a result o.fHealth Care Refonn, the declining number of commercially insured people and other factors, our 
ability to grow profitably through the sale of traditional Insured health care and related benefits products in the U.S. 
may be limited. In order to profitably grow our business in the future, we are diversifying the sources of our 
revenue and earnings through invesnnents in HIT, international expansion and a transformational change to our 
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business model. Accomplishing these strategic objectives will require us to simultaneously acquire and develop 
new personnel, products and systems to serve existing and new markets and enhance our existing information 
technology, control and compliance processes and systems to deliver the new products and., in the case of 
international operations, meet country-specific customer and member preferences as well as country-specific legal 
requirements, including those relating to data storage location, protection and security. Accomplishing these 
objectives will require us to devote significant senior management and other· resources to acquisitions or other 
transactions and to develop new products, services and technology internally before any significant revenues or 
earnings are generated. In addition, many of our international and HIT competitors have longer operating histories, 
better brand recognition and greater scale in many of the areas in which we are seeking to expand and more 
experience at rapidly i~ovating products. If we are not able to expand our µitemationaJ business in countries 
where we ciirrently operate and in targeted new countries and acquire and/or develop and launch products and 
services outside of our core Health Care products and services, our ability to profitably grow our business could be 
adversely affected. 

Our international operations face political, legal and compliance, operational, regulatory, economic and other risks 
that we do not face or that are more significant than in our domestic operations. Our exposure to these risks will 
increase as our international operations expand. These risks vary widely by country and include government 
intervention and censorship, discriminatory regulation, nationalization or expropriation of assets, pricing issues and 
currency exchange controls or other restrictions that prevent us from transferring funds from these operations out of 
the countries in which they operate or converting local currencies that we hold into U.S. dollars or other currencies. 
Additionally, foreign currency exchange rates and fluctuations may have an impact on the future costs of or on 
future revenues and cash flows from our international operations, and any measures we may implement to reduce 
the effect of volatile currencies and other risks on our international operations may not be effective. Some of our 
operations are, and are likely to increasingly be, in emerging markets where these risks are heightened. In addition, 
our international busines.s relies on local sales forces and other staff for some of its operations and may encounter 
labor laws, labor problems and less flexible employee relationships that can be difficult and expensive to terminate. 
In some countries, our international business operates or is required to operate with local business partners with the 
resulting risk of managing partner relationships in addition to managing the business to reach business objectives. 
International operations also increase our exposure to and require us to devote significant m"'nagement resources to 
comply with the privacy laws of non-U.S. jurisdictions and the anti-bribery, anti-conuption and anti-money 
laundering provisions of U.S. (including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (the "FCPA")) and United 
Kingdom law and similar laws in other jurisdictions and to overcome logistical and other challenges based on 
differing languages, cultures, legal and regulatory schemes and time zones. 

We are subject to funding and other risks with respect to revenue received from our participation in 
Medicare and Medicaid programs. We are also subject to retroactive adjustments to certain premiums, 
including as a result of CMS risk adjustment data validation ("RADV") audits. 
We continue to increase our focus on the non-Conunercial part of our Health Care segment as part of our business 
diversification efforts. In many instances, to acquire and retain our non-Commercial business, we must bid against 
our competitors in an increasingly competitive envirorunent, and winning bids increasingly are being challenged 
successfully. For the government-funded health program business we obtain, such as Medicare and Medicaid, our 
revenues are dependent on annual funding by the federal government and/or applicable state governments, and both 
federal and state govemments· have the right to non-renew or cancel their contracis\vlth us on short notice without 
cause or if funds are not available. Funding for these programs is dependent on many factors outside our control, 
including general economic conditions and budgetary constraints at the federal or applicable state level and general 
political issue.sand priorities. For example, under Health Care Reform, 2011 Medic'are Advantage payment rates to 
us were frozen based on 2010 levels with additional reductions over a multi year period beginning in 2012 based on 
regionally adjusted benchmarks, competitive bidding was introduced for Medicare Advantage plans for the 2012 
plan year, and our Medicare Advantage plans' profitability is likely to be significantly detennined by their "star 
ratings" from CMS beginning in 2012. We also may be adversely affected by sequestration of Medicare payments 
starting in 2013. In.addition, while Health Care Reform will significantly expand the number of people who will 
qualify to enroll in Medicaid beginning in 2014, most states currently face significant budget challenges, and 
several states are currently seeking to reduce their Medicaid expenditures; other states may take similar action. ·our 
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government customers also defeimine the premium levels a~d other aspects of these programs that affect fue . 
number of persons eligible for or enrolled in these programs, the services provided to enrollees under the programs, 
and our administrative and health care and other benefit costs under these programs. In the past; determinations of 
this type have adversely affected our fi~ancial results from and willingness to participate in such programs, and may 
do so in the future. For example; if a government customer reduces the premium levels or increases premiums by 
less than the increase in our costs and we cannot offset the impact of these actions with supplemental premiums 
and/or changes in benefit plans, then our business and operating results could be adversely affected. 

In addition, premiums for certain federal govenunent employee groups, Medicare members and Medicaid 
beneficiaries are subject to-retroactive adjustments by the federal and applicable state governments. CMS regularly 
audits our perfortnance to determine our compliance with CMS's regulations and our contracts with CMS and to 
assess the quality of services we provide to our Medicare members. CMS has instituted RADY audits of certain of 
our Medicare Advantage contracts for the 2007 contract year. We believe that the OlG also is auditing risk 
adjustment data, and we expect CMS and the OIG to continue auditing risk adjustment data for the 2007 contract 
year and beyond. We are unable to predict the ultimate outcome ofCMS's fmal RADY audit methodology, other 
audits for the 2007 contract year or subsequent contract years, the amounts of any retroactive refunds of, or 
prospective adjustments to, premium payments made to us, or whether any audit findings would cause a change to 
our method of estimating future premium revenue in bid submissions to CMS for the current or future contract 
years or compromise premium assumptions made in our bids for prior contract years or the current contract year. 
For additional information, refer to "~egulatory Environment" beginning on page 25. Any premium refunds or 
adjustments resulting from regulatory audits, including those resulting from CM S's selection of its final RADY 
audit methodology, ·whether as a result of RADY or other auditc; by CMS or OIG or otherwise, could be mate~ial 
and could adversely affect our operating results, financial position and cash flows. 

We operate in a highly-competitive environment; loss or geographic shift of membership, adverse change in 
the business mix of membership or failure to achieve profitable membership growth and diversify the 
geographic concentrations in our core Insured membership (including strategies to increase membership for 
largeted product types and. custo.mers, such as commercial or public secfod)usiness) could materially 
adversely affect our profitability. 
Competitive factors (including our customers' flexibility in moving between us and our competitors), the current 
adverse and uncertain economic environment and ongoing changes in the health and related benefits industry 
(including merger and acquisition and strategic alliance activity in the industry) and Health Care Reform, limit our 
ability to set premium rates and/or create pressure to contain premium price increases despite being· faced with 
increasing health care and other benefit costs. Our customer contracts are generally for a period of'.one year and 
subject to renegotiation, and our Med_icare, Medicaid and SCHIP products are subject to termination without cause, 
periodic re-bid, rate adjustment and program redesign, as customers seek to contain their benefit costs, particularly 
in a slow economy. Customers may elect to self-insure or to reduce benefits in order to limit increases in their 
benefit costs. Such elections may result in reduced. membership in our more profitable Insured products and/or 
lower premiwns for our Insured products, although such elections also may reduce our health care and other benefit 
costs. Alternatively, our customers may purchase different types of products from us.that are less profitable, or 
move to a competitor to obtain more favorable pricing. Our membership is also concentrated in certain geographic 
areas in the U.S., and unfavorable changes in health care or other benefit costs or reimbursement rates or increased 
competition in those geographic areas could ·therefore have a disproportionately adverse effect on our operating 
results: Among other factors, we compete for members on the basis of overall eost, hospital and other medieal 
provider discounts, plan design, customer service, quality and sufficiency Of medical provider networks, quality of 
medical management programs and the tools we provide to merribers. In ad.dition to competitive pressures affecting 
our ability to obtain new customers or retain existing customers, our men:ibership has been and may continue to be 
affected by reductions in workforce by existing customers due to unfavorable general economic conditions, 
especi<illy in the U.S. geographies and industries where our membership is concentrated. Failure to profitably grow 
and diversify our membership geographically or by product type may adversely affect our revenue and operating 
results. 
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Our ability to manage general and administrative expenses while expanding our market presence affects our 
profitability. 
Our profitability depends in part on our ability to drive our general and administrative expenses to competitive 
levels while expanding our market presence. Controlling general and administrative expenses is particularly 
important in Qur Health Care businesses that are subject to regulatory changes that may restrict our underwriting 
margins," such as minimum MLR requirements. We manage general and administrative expenses by, among other 
things, reducing the number of products we offer and controlling salaries and related benefits and information 
technology and other general and administrative costs, while simultaneously seeking to implement Health Care 
Reform and other regulatory requirements, attract and retain key employees, maintain robust management practices 
and controls, i_mplement improvements in technology and achieve our strategic goals, including profitable 
membership growth. We can provide no assurance that we wiil be able to manage our general and administrative 
expenses to competitive levds. · 

Our business success and profitability depend in part on effective information technology sy~tems and on 
continuing to develop and implement improvements in technology; we have several significant multi-year 
strategic information technology projects in process and have increased our commitment to health 
information technology products and services. 
Our businesses depend in large part on .our infonnation and other technology systems to a~equately price our 
products and services; accurately establish reserves, process claims and report financial results; and interact with 
providers, employer plan sponsors, members and vendors, including CVS Caremark, in an efficient and 
uninterrupted fashion. We have many different information systems supporting our businesses. 

With our acquisition ofMedicit)> in Januch-y 2011, we increased our commitment.to HIT products and services, a 
busin.ess that is rapidly changing and highly competitive. There is no assurance that we will be, able to earn a profit 
in our HIT business, successfully adapt to changes to the HIT business or compete effectively in the HIT busines~ 
or that we have been able to identify and mitigate the significant risks of pursuing that business, including 
protection of our proprietary rights. In addition, although the HIT industry is not currently subject to significant 
regulation, as we continue to implement our HIT initiatives, uncertainty surrounding the regulatory authority and 
requirements in this area, as well as new legislation and/or regulation may make it difficult to ~chieve and maintain 
compliance and could adversely affect our ability to compete in the HIT business and the operating results of our 
HIT business. 

Our business strategy involves providing customers with differentiated, easy to use, secure products that leverage 
information to meet the needs of those custo~ers. The marketplace is evolvi~g. and the types of technology and 
levels of service that are 11-cceptable to customers and members today will not necessarily be acceptable in the 
future. Our success therefore is dependent in large part on modifying existing core and other technology systems to 
maintain their effectiveness, on anticipating and meeting market demands for technology, on effectively deploy~g 
our Medicity and other HIT resources and on continuing to timely develop, redesign and enhance technology 
systems that support our business strategy initiatives and processes in a compliant and cost and resource efficient 
manner, including through acquisitions, strategic alliances, joint ventures, social media and technology outsourcing, 
within the context of our existing business partnership relationships and a limited budget of human resources and 
capital. Certain of our technology systems (including software) are older, legacy systems that are less efficient and 
require an ongoing commitment of significant capital and human resources to maintain. 

We also need to effectively deploy our Medicity and other HIT resources, modify our existing systems or develop 
new systems to meet current and expected standards and keep pace with continuing changes in information 
processing techno_logy, evolving industry and regulatory standards, including the miriimum MLR rebates, Insurance 
Exchanges, administrative simplification and other aspectS of Health Care Refonn, and changing customer 
demands. For example, the federal govenunent has mandated that by October 2013 the' health and related benefits 
industry, including health insurers, providers and laboratories, upgrade to an updated and expanded set of 
standardized diagnosis and procedure.codes used for describing health conditions, known as ICD-10_ HHS has 
announced that it will initiate a process to postpone the effective date for use of ICD-I 0 by certain health care 
entities. Implementing ICD-10 has required and will continue to require a substantial investment of resources by us 
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and the health and related benefits industry in general over the next several years, including significant infonnation 
technology investments, changes in business processes and documentation and extensive employee education and 
training. lfwe and/or the health and related benefits industry fail to adequately implement ICD-10 or ifthe 
implementation date ofICD-10 is postponed significantly beyond October 2013, we may suffer a significant loss in 
the resources invested and in productivity, and/or fluctuations in our cash flows. 

We also have several significant multi-year strategic information technology projects in process in addition to 
preparing for ICD-10. System development and other information technology projects are long·tenn in nature and 
may take longer to complete and cost more than we expect and may not deliver the benefits we project once they 
are complete. lfwe do not effectively and efficiently manage and upgrade our technology portfolio, we could, 
among other things·, have pro\;Iems determining health care cost and other be~efifoost est1rnates and/or establishing 
appropriate pricing, meeting the needs of providers, employer plan sponsors and members, or keeping pace with 
industry and regulatory standards, arid our operating results may be adversely affected. 

In order to remain competitive, we must further integrate our businesses and processes; significant 
acquisitions, strategic alliances, joint ventures and/or our ability to manage multiple multi-year strategic 
projects could make this in"tegratiori more challenging; we expect to continue to pursue acquisitions as well as 
develop other inorganic gro,~th ~trategies. · 
Ineffective integration of our businesses and processes may adversely affect our ability to compete by, among other 
things, increasing our costs relative to competitors. This integration task may be made more complex by significant 
acquisitions, strategic alliances, joint ventures, multi-year strategic projects,. our existing business partnership 
relationships and a limited budget of human resources and capital, particularly if we pursue multiple transactions or 
other initiatives designed to diversify our sources of revenue and earnings simultaneously. For example, we 
completed four significant acquisitions during 201 1. As a result of these and our previous acquisitions, we have 
acquired a, number of information technology systems that we must effectively and efficiently consolidate with our 
own systems: Our strategy includes effectively investing our capital in appropriate strategic projects, current 
opera1ions and acquisitions in aadition to paying dividends and repurchasing our shares. If we are unable to 
successfully integrate acquired businesses and either processes to realize anticipated economic and other benefits on 
a timely basis, it could result in substantial costs or delays or other operatfonal or financial problems. 

Our strategic projects include, among other things, addressing rising health care and other benefit costs, achieving 
profitable membership growth, further improving the efficiency of our operations, managing certain significant 
technology projects, further improving relations with health care providers, ntgotiating·contract changes with 
customers and providers, and implementing other business process improvements. The future perfonnante of our 
businesses will depend in large part on our ability to design and implement these initiatives, some of which will 
occur over several years. If these initiatives result in increased health care or other benefit costs or :ao not achieve 
their objectives, our operating results could be adversely affected. 

We completed four significant acquisitions during 2011 and a number of other acquisitions and strategic alliances 
over the last several years. We expect to continue to pursue acquisitions and other inorganic growth opportunities as 
part of our growth strategy. See "Our continued business success is dependent on our ability to diversify our 
sources .of revenue and earnings" beginning on page 45. In addition to integration risks, some additional risks we 
face with respect to acquisitions and other inorganic growth strategies include: 

The acquired business may not perfonn as projected; . 
We may assume liabilities that we do not anticipate, including those that were not disclosed to us or which we 
underestimated; 
Acquisitions and other inorganic growth strategies could disrupt or compete with our ongoing business, 
distract management, divert resources and make it difficult to maintain our current business standards, 
controls and procedures; 
We may finance future acquisitions and other inorganic growth strategies by issuing common stock for some 
or all of the purchase price, which could dilute the ownership interests of our shareholders; 
We may incur additional debt related to future acquisitions and inorganic growth strategies; 
We frequently compete with other finns, some of which may have greater financial and other resources and a 
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greater tolerance for risk, to acquire attractive companies; and 
We may not have the expertise to manage and profitably grow the businesses we acquire; and we may need to 
rely on the retention of key persotlllel and other suppliers of companies we acquire, which may be difficult to 
accomplish. 

Managing executive succession and key talent retention, recruitment and development is critical to our 
success given the current environn:ient. 
We would be adversely affected if we fail to adequately plan for succession of our executives and senior 
management and the retention, recruitment and development of key .talent particularly given the current 
environment. While we have succession plans in place and we have employment arrangements with a limited 
number of key executives, these do not guarantee that the services of these or suitable successor executives will 
continue to be available to us. 

Our business activities are highly regulated; Health Care Reform as well as new laws or regulations or 
changes in existing laws or regulations or their enforcement or application could materially adversely affect 
our business and profitability. 
Our business is subject to extensive regulation and oversight by state, federal and international governmental 
authorities. The laws and regulations governing our operations and interpretations of thos'e laws and regulations 
change frequently (as evidenced by Health Care Reform as well as other new laws and regulations) and generally 
are designed to benefit and proteCt members and providers rather than our investors. In addition, the goverrunental 
authorities that administer our business have broad latitude to make, interpret and enforce the regulations that 
govern us and are interpreting and enforcing those laws and regulations more strictly and more aggressively. 

The federal a.nd many state go~eninlents have enacted and continue to consider legislative and regulatory changes 
related to healthand related benefits products, and changes in the interpretation, enforcement and/or application of 
existing laws and regulations, and the likelihood of adverse changes is increasing due to state and federal budgetary 
pressures. We must implement Health Care Reform and monitor these and other changes and promptly implement 
any revisions to our business processes that thes.e changes require. At this time, we are unable to predict the full 
impact of Health ~are Reform or the impact of future changes, although we anticipate that some aspects of Health 
Care Refonn and other existing measures and new measures, if enacted, could materially adversely affect our health 
care operations anc!Jor operating results including: 

Reducing our ability to obtain adequate premium rates for the risk we assume (including denial or delays in 
approval and implementation of those rates), 
Restricting our ability to price for the risk we assume and/or reflect reasonable costs or profits in our 
pricing, including mandating minimum medical loss ratios and/or pricing prospectively to minimum 
medical loss ratios, 
Reducing our ability to manage health care or other benefit costs, 
Increasing health care or other benefit costs and operating expenses (including duplicate expenses resulting 
from changes in regulations during implementation), 
Increasing our exposure to lawsuits and other adverse legal proceedings, 
Regulating levels and permitted lines of business, . 
Restricting our ability to underwrite and operate our individual Health Care business, 
Imposing new or increasing taxes and financial assessments, and/or 
Regulating business practices. 

For example, premium rates generally must be filed with state insurance regulators and are subject to their approval, 
either before or after rates take effect. Health Care Reform generally requires a review of premium rate increases of 
10% or more by HHS in conjunction with state regulators. Regulators or legislatures in a number of states have 
implemented or are considering limits on premium rate increases, either enforcing existing legal requirements more 
stringently or proposing different regulatory standards. Premium rate review legislation (ranging from new or 
enhanced rate filing requirements to prior approval requirements) was introduced or passed in more than half the 
states in 2011. Regulators or legi$latllres ·in a number of states also are considering conducting hearings on 

Annual Report- Page 50 



proposed premium rate increases, which could result in substantial delay in implementing proposed rate increases 
even if they ultimately are approved. HHS has begun to issue detenninations to plans that their rate increases are 
unreasonable. Rate reviews create risk for us in the current political and regulatory environment and could magnify 
the adverse impact on OW' operating margins and profitability of increases in utilization of medical services, health 
care and other benefit costs and/or medical cost trend that exceed our projections and Health Care Reform 
assessments, fees and taxes by restricting our ability to reflect updated projections and/or these assessments, fees 
and taxes in our pricing. The risk of higher than projected increases in utilization of medical services and/or 
medical cost trend is particularly acute during and following periods when such utilization and/or trend are below 
historical levels such as we have experienced during 20 I 0 and 2011. There is no guaranty that we will be able to 
obtain rate increases that are actuarially justified or that are sufficie1it to make our policies profitable in any product 
line or geography. During 2011, we experi~nced greater challenges to appropriate prequum rate increases in several 
states. Beginning in 2014, oilr plans may be· excluded from participating in Insurance· Exchanges if they are deemed 
to have a history of "unreas6nabl~" rate increases. We anticipate continued regl.llatory 'or legislative action with 
respect to regulation of premium rates in our Insured business, some of which could materially and adversely affect 
our operating margins and our ability to earn adequate returns on Insured business in one or more states or cause us 
to withdraw from certain geographic and/or product markets. 

In addition, Health Care Reform requires us to pay minimum MLR rebates each year with respect to the prior year. 
The process supporting the determination of the amount of rebates payable is new and complex and requires 
judgment, and the rebate reporting requirements are detailed. As a result, chall~nges to our methodology and/or 
reports relating to minimum MLR rebates by federal and state regulators and private litigants·are reasonably likely .. · 
The outcome of these challenges could adversely affect our profitability and results of operations. In the aggregate, 
the minimum MLR rebate requirements also cap the level of margin we can earn in our Commercial Insured and 
Medicare Insured business while leaving us exposed to medical costs that are higher than those reflected in our 
pricing. Refer to "Revenue Recognition" in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on 
page 73 for more information. 

Our Medicare, Medicaid and specialty and mail order pharmacy products are more highly regulated than our 
Commercial products. The laws and regulations governing participation in Medicare and Medicaid programs are 
complex, are subject to interpretation and can expose us· to penalties for non-compliance, including penalties tinder 
federal and state false Claims acts. In addition, Health Care Reform expanded the jurisdiction of, and thus our 
exposure to, the federal false claims act to insurance Exchanges, which will begin· to operaie in 2014. c'!aims under 
federal and state false claims acts can be brought by the government or by private individuals on behalf of the 
goverrunent thrO:ugh a "qui ta1ntl or 11Whisttebtower" action. · : 

If we fail to comply with the applicable J~ws and regulations we could be subject to crimi~al fines, civil penalties, 
premium refunds, prohibitions on marketing or enrollment of members, termination of our contracts or other 
sanctions which could have a material adverse effect on our ability to participate in these and other ·programs, cash 
flows, financial condition and operating results. In addition, legislative or regulatory changes to these programs 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows, financial condition arid operating results. On June 
13, 2011, CMS lifted the intermediate sanctions it had previously imposed on us that required us to suspend the 
enrollment of and marketing to new members of all Aetna Medicare Advantage ~d Standalone Prescription Drug 
Plan ("PDP") contractS. The sanctions related to our compliance with certain Medicare Part D requirements. As a 
result of these sanctions, our 2011 Medicare membership and operating results were adversely affected because we 
did not participate in the annual enrollment process for 2011. We have resumed marketing our Medicare Advantage 
and PDP products and have been enrolling beneficiaries with effective dates on and after July I, 2011 . CMS still is 
not assigning any new low income subsidy members to our PDPs at this time. However, low income subsidy 
members can make their own choice to enroll in Aetna products. We continue to cooperate fully with CMS to 

·address residual matters identified in connection with the sanction review. Any failure of our prevention, detection 
or control systems related to regulatory compliance and/or compliance with our internal policies could adversely · 
affect our reputation and also expose us to whistleblower, class action and other litigation, other proceedings, fines, 
sanctions and/or penalties, any of which could adversely affect our business, cash flows, operating results or 
financial condition. 
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There continues to be a heightened review by federal and state regulators of the health and related benefits 
industry's business and reporting practices, including payment of providers with whom the payor does not have a 
contract and other claim payment practices, and utilization management, as well as heightened review of the general 
insurance industry's brokerage, sales and marketing practices. As one of the largest national health and related 
benefits providers, we are regularly the subject of routine, regular and special governmental market conduct and 
other audits, investigations and reviews by, and we receive subpoenas and other requests for information from, 
CMS, HHS, various state insurance and health care regulatory authorities, state attorneys general and offices of 
inspector general, the CCIIO, the OIG, the OPM, committees, subcommittees and members of the U.S. Congress, 
'the U.S. Department of Justice, the Federal Trade Commission, U.S. Attorneys and other state and federal 
govenunental authorities. Several such audits, investigations and reviews currently are pending, some of which 
may be resolved during 2012. These routine, regular and special governmental audits, investigations and reviews 
could result in changes to or clarifications of our business practices, and also could result in significant or material 
premium refunds, fines, penalties, civil liabilities, criminal liabilities or other sanctions, including suspension or 
exclusion from participation in government programs, changes in the way we conduct business an~ loss of 
licensure. CMS has instituted RADY audits of certain ofour 2007 Medicare Advantage contracts.;·For additional 
information on these Medicare matters, refer to "Regulatory .Environment" beginning on page 25 and "We are 
subject to funding and other risks with respect to revenue received from our participation in Medicare and Medicaid 
Programs. We are also subject to retroactive adjustments to certain premiums, including as a result of CMS risk 
adjustment data validation ("RADY") audits," beginning on page 46. In January 2009, Aetna and the New York 
Attorney General announced an agreement relating to an industry-wide investigation into certain payment practices 
with respect to out-of-network providers. As a result of that 2009 agreement, Aetna contributed $20 million 
towards the establishment of an independent database system to provide fee information regarding out-of-network 
reimbursement rates. 

Our business also may be adversely impacted by judicial and regulatory decisions that change andfor expand the 
interpretations of existing statutes and regulations, impose medical or bad faith liability, increase our responsibilities 
under ERISA, or reduce the scope of ERIS A pre-emption of state law claims. 

Our business also may be adversely affected by other legislation and regulations. There can be no assurance that 
the Financial Reform Act arid the related rules will not impact our business. For instance, we believe we likely 
would be adversely affected if the Council designated us a "systemically important" nonbank financial company for 
purposes of the Financial Reform Act. In addition, in July 2011, New York notified insurers that it expects insurers 
to, and will be amending its regulations to require insurers to, regularly consult the U.S. Social Security 
Administration's Death Master File or a similar database to determine if unclaimed death benefits may be payable 
under life insurance and similar products, to pay any such benefits and to make certain other business process 
changes. Legislation_ mandating the use of such databases has been introduced in at least four other states. New 
York is one of over 35 states that a~e investigating life insurers' claims payment and related escheat practices, and 
these investigations have resulted in significant charges to earnings by other life insurers in connection with related 
settlement agreements. We have received requests for information from New York, Connecticut and Minnesota 
with r'espect_ to our life insurance claim payment and related escheat practices. 

For more information regarding these matters, refer to "Regulatory Environment'' beginning on page 25 and 
"Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings" in Note 18 ofNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on 
page 105. 

We wo~ld be adversely affected if our pre~ention, detection or control systems fail to detect and implement 
required changes to maintain regulatory compliance. 
Failure of our prevention, detection or control systems related to regulatory compliance and/or compliance with our 
internal policies, including data systems security issues and/or unethical conduct by managers and/or employees, 
could adversely affect our reputation and also expose us to litigation and other proceedings, fines, temporary or 
permanent suspension from participating in government health care programs and/or other penalties, any of which 
could adversely affect our business, cash flows, operating results or financial condit~oil. For example, effective 
April 21,20 l 0, CMS imposed intermediate sanctions on us, suspending the enrollment of and marketing to new 
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members of all Aetna Medicare Advantage and Standalone PDP contracts. The sanctions related to our compliance 
with certain Medicare Part D requirements. CMS lifted those sanctions on June 13, 2011, however CMS still is not 
:is;;igning any new low income subsidy members to our PDPs at this time. Refer to "Regulatory Environment" 
heginning on page 25 for more information. 

federal and state govenunents have made investigating and prosecuting health care and other insurance fraud, 
waste and abuse a priority. Fraud, waste a·nd abuse prohibitions encompass a wide range of activities, including 
kickbacks for referral of members, billing for unnecessary medical services, improper marketing and violations of 
patient privacy rights. The regillations ·and~~o.ntractiJ.al requirements applicable to'us and other participants are 
complex and subject to change. We have invested significant r~sources to comply with our regulatory and 
contractual requirements. Ongoing vigorous law enforcement and the highly techniCal regulatory scheme mean that 
our compliance efforts in this area will continue to require significant resources.· · 

We face increasing risks rel~ted to litigation, regulatory audits and inve~tigations and. ot~er regulatory 
proceedings. In addition, as a governm~nt confractor, we are exposed to addit.ional risks that may adversely 
affect our business or our willingness t~ participate.in government health care programs. If these matters 
are resolved adversely to us or these risks materialize, our financial position, operating results and cash flows 
could be adversely affected. 
We are growing by expanding into certain segments and subsegments of the health care marketpicwe. Some of the· 
segments and subsegments we have targeted for growth include Medicare, Medicaid, individual: public sector and 
certain labor customers who aie not subject to ERISA's limits on state Jaw remedies . .In addition, over the last 
several years we have entered product lines in which we previously did not participate, including mr (such as 
Medicity and ActiveHealth), support sen•ices for accountable care organizations, Insured Medicaid, Medicaid 
management and care coordination and care management on behalf of state regulators, international managing 
general underwriting, Medicare PDP, mail order pharmacy and specialty pharmacy. We also significantly expanded 
our Medicare Supplement, HSA and FSA and low cost claims administration businesses through acquisitions in 
2011. These products subject us to litigation, regulatory and other risks that are different from the risks of 
providing Commercial managed care and health insurance products and may increase the risks we face from 
intellectual property and other litigation, regulatory reviews, audits and investigations and other adverse legal 
proceedings. For example, our Medicare and Medicaid products are moi:e highly. regulated than our Commercial 
products, and our mail order and specialty pharmacies dispense medications directly to members. There is the 
possibility of temporary or pennanent suspension from participating in government health care programs, including 
Medicare and Medicaid, including if we do not comply with program rules or are convicted of fraud or othe~ 
criminal conduct in the performance of a health care program.or ifthere is an_ adverse decision against us under the 
False Claims Act. For example, effective April 21, 2010, CMS imposed intermediate sanctions on us, suspending 
the enrollment of and marketing to new members of all Aetna· Medicare Advantage and Standalone PDP contracts. 
These sanctions remained in place until June I 3, 20 I I. Any similar suspensions could _adversely affect our other 
businesses, including by harming our reputation. In addition to the risks of purported dispensing and other 
operational errors, failure to adhere to the laws and regulations applicable to the dispensing of pharmaceuticals 
could subject our pharmacy subsidiaries to civil and criminal penalties. 

In addition, we are routinely involved i~ numerous claims, lawsuits~ regulatory audits, investigations and other legal 
· proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our businesses. Certain of these lawsuits are purported to be class 

actions. The majority of these cases relate to the conduct of our health care operations and allege various violations 
of law. Many of these cases seek substantial damages (including non-economic or punitive damages and treble 
damages) and may also seek changes in our business practices. We may also be subject to additional litigation and 
oLher adverse legal proceedings in the future. Litigation and .other adverse legal proceedings could materially 
adversely affect our business or operating results because of reputational harm to us caused by such proceedings, 
the costs of defending such proceedings, the costs of settlement or judgments against us, or the change·s in our 
operations that could result from such proceedings. For example, during 2009, Aetna and the New York Attorney 
General announced an agreement relating to an industry-wide investigation into certain payment practices with 
respect to out-of-network providers. Among other things, the agreement required Aetna to contribute $20 million 
towards the establishment of an independent database system to provide fee information regarding out-of-network 
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reimbursement rates. Refef to "Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings" in Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements beginning on page 105 for more infonnation. . · 

Our products providing PBM and pharmacy services face regulatory and other risks and uncertainties 
associated with the PBM and/or pharmacy industries that may differ from the risks ofour core business of 
providing managed care and health insurance products. 
The following are some of the PI_3M and pharmacy related risks that could have a material adverse effect. on our 
business, cash flows, financial condition or operating results: 

Federal and state anti-kickback and other laws that govern our PBM.and mail order and specialty mail order 
pharmacies' relationship with pharmaceutical manufacturers; c.ustomers and consumers. 
Compliance requirementS for PBM fiduciaries under ERISA, including compliance with fiduciary obligations 
under ERISA in connection with the development and implementation of items such as drug formularies and 
preferred drug listings. . . . . . . 
Federal and state legislative. proposals under consideration that could adversely affect a vanety of pharmacy 
benefit induslr'J practices, including without limitation the receipt or required disclosure of rebates from 
pharmaceutical manufacturers, the regulation of the development and use of forrnularies, legislation imposing 
additional rights to access to drugs for individuals enrolled in health.care benefits plans, and restrictions on the 
use of average wholesale prices. 
The application of federal, state and local laws and regulations to the operation of our mail order pharmacy and 
tnail order specialty pharmacy products. 
The risks inherent in the dispensing, packaging and distribution of pharmaceuticals and other health care 
products, including claims related to purported dispensing errors. 

In addition, on July 27, 2010, we entered into the PBM Agreement with CVS Caremark, under which CVS 
Caremark provides certain PBM services to us and our customers and members. The PBM Agreement has a term of 
up to 12 years, although we have certain termination rights beginning in January 2018. CVS Caremark began . 
providing services und~r the PBM Agreement on January 1, 2011. If the PBM Agreement were to tenninate for any 
reason or CVS Caremark's ability to perform its obligations under the PBM Agreement were impaired, we may not 
be able to find an alternative supplier in a timely manner or on acceptable financial terms. As a result, we may not 
be able to meet the full demands of our customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
reputation and operating results. 

Failure by us or CVS Caremark to adhere to the laws and regulations that apply to our PBM and/or pharmacies' 
products could expose our PBM and/or pharmacy subsidiaries to civil and criminal penalties and/or have a material 
adverse effect on our business, cash flows, financial condition and operating results. 

Our reputation is one of our most important assets; negative public perception of the health and related 
benefits industry, or of the industry'.s or our practices, including social media activities, can adversely affect 
our profitability. 
The health and related benefits industry regularly is subject to negative publicity, which can arise from, among 
other things, the ongoing public debate over Health Care Reform and/or from actual or perceived shortfalls 
regarding the industry's or our own business practices and/or products, including social media activities. The risk of 
negative publicity is particularly high in 2012, which is a presidential election year, and due to Health Care Reform 
and related issues. This ri.sk would increase further if medical cost inflation were to accelerate and cause us to raise 
premiums at a higher pace than in recent years. This risk may also be increased as the U.S. Supreme Court reviews 
the constitutionality of,. and states arid the federal government implement and continue to debate, Health Care 
Reform and as we continue to offer products, such as products with limited benefits, targeted at market segments, 
such as the uninsured, part~tirne and hourly workers, students and those eligible for Medicaid, beyond those in. our 
core Commercial business and as our business model evolves to a more consumer-centric focus. Negative publicity 
of the health and related benefits industry in general or Ae~a in particular can further increase out costs of doing 
business and adversely affect our profitability and our stock price by: 

Adversely affecting the Aetna brand particularly; 
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Adversely affecting our ability to market and sell our products and/or services; 
Requiring us to change our products and/or services; and/or 
Increasing the regulatory and legislative requirements with which we must comply. 

We would be adversely affected if we fail to adequately protect member and customer related health, 
financial and other sensitive· information, including taking steps to ensure that our business associates who 
obtain access to sensitive information maintain its confidentiaJity. 
The use and disclosure of personal health, financial and other sensitive information is regulated at the federal, state 
and international levels, and these laws and rules are subject to change by legislation or administrative or judicial 
detennination and increased enforcement activity. HIPAA requires business associates as well as Covered Entities 
to comply with certain privacy and security requirements. HHS recently announced that it is laWlching a new audit 
program under HIPAA. At this time we cannot predict whether we will be audited or any potential penalties from 
or results of such an audit. In addition, international laws governing the use and disclosure of such information are 
generally more stringent than in the l].S., and they vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. 

We collect, process, maintain, retain and distribute large amounts of personal health and financial information and 
other confidential and sensitive data about our members and customers in the ordinary course of our business. Our 
business therefore depends substantially on our members' arid customers' willingness to entrust us with their health 
related and other sensitive information. Events that negatively affect that trust; including, failing to keep our . 
computer networks, information technology systems, computers and programs and our members' and customers' 
sensitive information secure from attack, damage or unauthorized access, whether as a result of our action or 
inaction or that of one of our business associates or other vendors, including CVS Caremark, could adversely affect 
our reputation, membership and revenues and also expose us to mandatory disclosure to the media, litigation \ 
(including class action litigation) and other enforcement proceedings, material fines, penalties and/or remediation 
costs, and compensatory, special, punitive and statutory damages, consent orders, adverse actions against our 
licenses to do business and/or injunctive relief, any of which could adversely affect our business, cash flows, 
operating results or financial condition. We have experienced cyber attacks such as distributed denial of service 
attacks in the past and expect to continue to experience them going forward. Although the impact of such attacks 
has not been material through December 31, 2011, we can provide no assurance that we will be able to identify, 
prevent or contain the effects of such attacks in the future. As we e:sipand our HIT business, including through our 
acquisition and growth ofMedicity, expand our Accountable Care Solutions business, increase the amount of 
information we make available to members and consumers on mobile devices, expand our use of social media and 
expand internationally, our exposure to these data security and related cybersecurity risks, including the risk of 
undetected attacks, damage or unauthorized access, increases, and the cost of attempting to protect against these 
risks also increases. 

We would be adversely affected if we do not effectively deploy our capital. 
Our operations generate significant capital, and we have the ability to raise additional capital. In deploying our 
capital to fund our investments in operations (including information technology and other strategic projects), 
dividends, acquisitions, share repurchases or other capital uses, our financial position and operating results could be 
adversely affected if WC do not appropriately balance the risks and·opportu'riities· that ate fohererit in each method Of 

deploying our capital. 

The manner in which we deploy our capital impacts our financial strength, claims paying ability and credit ratings 
issued ~y recognized rating organizations. We believe ratings are important factors in establishing the competitive 
position of insurance companies and health care benefits companies. Information about ratings issued by 
nationally-recognized ratings organizations is broadly distributed and generally used throughout our industry. We 
believe the financial strength and claims paying ability of our principal insurance and HMO subsidiaries are 
important factors in marketing our products to certain of our customers. In addition, Aetna Inc. 's credit ratings 
impact the cost and availability of future borrowings, and accordingly our cost of capital. Each of the ratings 
organizations reviews our ratings periodically, and there can be no assurance that our current ratings will be 
maintained in the future. Our ratings reflect each rating organization's opinion of our financial strength, operating 
performance and ability to meet our debt obligations or obligations to our insureds. Downgrades in our ratings, 
should they occur, could adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition and operating· results. 
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We mus·t continue to provide our customers with quality service that meets their expectations. 
Our ability to ~.ttract and retain membership is dependent upon providing quality customer service operations (such 
as call center operations, claim proces:>ing, outsourced PBM functions, mail order pharmacy prescription delivery, 
specialty pharmacy prescription delivery, cu~tomer case installation and on-line access and tools) that meet or 
exceed our customers' expectations. We depend on third parties for certain of our customer service, PBM and 
prescription delivery operations. For example, as a result of our PBM Agreement with CVS Caremark, we obtain 

. certain PBM services from CVS Caremark. Failure by us or our vendors to provide service that meets our 
customers' expectations or our vendors' contractual obligations to us, including failures resulting from operational 
performance Issues, can affect our ability to retain or grow profitable membership which can adversely affect our 
operating results. 

Our profitability may be adversely affected if we are unable to contract with providers on competitive terms 
and otherwise develop and maintain favorable provider relationships. 
Our profitability is dependent in part upon our ability to contract competitively while developing and maintaining 
favorable relationships with hospitals, physicians, pharmaceutical benefit service providers, pharmaceutical 
manufacturers and other health care benefits providers. That ability is affected by the rates we pay providers for 
services rendered to our members (including financial incentives to deliver quality medical services in a cost­
effective manner), by our business practices and processes and by our provider payment and other provider 
relations practices (including whether to include providers in the various network options we make available to our 
customers), as well as factors not associated with us that impact these providers, such as merger and acquisition 
activity and other consolidations among providers, changes in Medicare and/or Medicaid reimbursement levels to 
providers, and increasing revenue and other pressures on providers. Ongoing reductions by CMS and state 
governments in amounts payable to providers, particularly hospitals, for services provided to Medicare and 
Medicaid enrollees may pressure the financial condition of certain providers and increase this risk. The breadth and 
quality of our networks of available pr.oviders and our ability .to offer different network options are important 
factors when customers consider our products and services. Our contracts with providers generally may be 
terminated by either party without cause on short notice. The failure to maintain or to secure new cost-effective 
health care provider contracts may result in a loss of or inability to grow membership, highe,r health care or other 
benefits costs (which we may not be able to reflect.in our pricing due to rate reviews or other factors), health care 
provider network disruptions, less .desirable products for our customers and/or difficulty in meeting regulatory or 
accreditation requirements, any of which could adversely affect our operating results. 

In addition, some providers that render services to our members do not have contracts with us. In those cases, we 
do not have a pre-established understanding with these providers about the amount of compensation that is due to 
these providers for services rendered to our members. In some states, the amount of compensation due to these 
non-participating providers is defined by law or regulation, but in most instances it is either not defin.ed or it is 
established by a standard that is not clearly translatable into dollar terms. In such instances providers may believe 
that they are underpaid for their services and may either litigate or arbitrate their dispute with us or try to recover 
from our members the difference between what we have paid them and the amount they charged us. Fqr example, 
we are currently involved in litigation with non-participating providers, and during 2009, we settled a matter with 
the New York Attorney General that caused us to transition to other databases to determine the amount we pay non­
participating providers under certain benefit pl~n designs. The outcome of these disputes may cause us to pay 
higher medical or other benefit costs than we projected. 

These matters are described in more detail in "Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings" in Note 18 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page 105. 
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\Ve must demonstrate that our products and processes lead to access by our members to quality care by their 
µrovidcrs, or delivery of care by us. 
F:,ilure tn clemonstr:ite that our products and processes (such as disease management and patient safety programs, 
provider credentialing and other quality of care and information management initiatives) lead to access by our 
member"s to quality care by providers or delivery of quality care by us or certain of our vendors, including CVS 
Caremark, would adversely affect our ability to differentiate our product and/or service offerings from those of 
competitors and could adversely affect our operating results. 

Sales of our products and services are dependent on our ability to attract, retain and provide support to a 
network of internal sales personnel and independent third-party brokers, consuitarits and agents. 
Our products are sold primarily through oui sales personnel, who frequently work with indep·endent brokers, 
consultants an!'.! agents who assist in the production and servicing of business. The independent brokers, consultants 
and agents generafly are not dedicated to. us exclusively and may frequently also recommend and/or market health 
care benefits products of our competitors, and we must compete intensely for their services and allegiance. During 
2011, we changed the compensation model for most sales of our Conunercial Insured Health Care products to 
groups of fifty-one or more employees. Under the revised model, in most states, we will not pay commissions, and 
the third-party broker or agent must negotiate compensation directly with its customer. Additionally, for sales to 
groups of fifty or fewer emplo.yees· arid individuals; we have reduced the anio:.mtswc pay third-party brokers and 
agents in order to reduce our administrative costs. This new model may negatively affect our relationships with 
brokers, consultants and. agents. Our sales could be adversely affected if we are unable to attract or retain sales 
personnel and third-party brokers, consultants and agents or if we do not adequately provide support, training and 
education to this sales network i"egarding our product po1tfolio, which is complex, or if our sales strategy is not 
11ppropriately aligned across distribution channels. This risk is heightened as our business model evolves to a more 
co11s11111cr-centric focus. 

In addition, there have been a· number of investigations regarding the marketing practices of brokers and agents 
selling health care and other insurance products and the.payments they receive. These ha_ve resulted in enforcement 
actions against companies in our industry and brokers and agents marketing and selling those companies' products. 
For example, CMS and state departments of ins.urance have increased their scrutiny of the marketing practices of 
brokers and agents who market Medicare products. These investig.ations and enforcement actions could result in 
penalties and the imposition of corrective action plans and/or changes to industry practices, which could adversely 
affect our ability to market our products. 

We face a wide range of risks, and our success depends on our ability to identify, prioritize and appropriately 
manage our enterprise risk exposures. ··· 
As a large company operating in a complex industry, we encounter a variety of risks. The ris~ we face include, 
among other matters, the range of industry, competitive, regulatory, financial, operational or external risks identified 
in this Risk Factors discussion. · We continue to devote resources to further develop and integrate our enterprise­
wide risk management processes. Failure to ·identify, prioritize and appropriately manage or mitigate thes·e risks, 
includirig risk concentrations across different 'industries, segments and geographies, can adversely affeCt o~r 
profitability, our ability to retain or grow business, or, in the event of extreme circumstances, our financial condition 
or business operations. 

We hold reserves for expected claims, which are estimated, and these estima_tes involve an extensive degree of 
j udgmcnt; if actual claims exceed reserve estimates, our operating results could be materially adversely 
affoctcd. 
Our reported health care costs payable for any particular period reflect our e'stimates of the ultimate cost of claims 
that have been incurred by our members but not yet reported tei us and claims that have been reported to us but not 
yet paid. We also must estimate the ·amount of rebates payable under Health Care Refonn's minimum MLR rules. 
We _estimate health care costs payable periodically, and any resulting adjustments are reflected in current-period 
operating results within health care costs. bur estimates of health care costs payable are based on a number of 
factors, including those derived from historical claim experience. A large portion of health care claims are not 
submitted to us until after the end of the quarter in which services are rendered by providers to our members. As a 
result, an extensive degree of judgment is used in this estimation process, considerable variability is inherent in 
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such estimates, and the adequacy of the estimate is highly serisitive to changes in medical claims submission and 
payment patterns, changes in membership and product mix, utilization of medical services, and changes in medical 
cost trends .. · A worsening (or improvement) of medical cost trend or changes in claim payment patterns from those 
that were asswned in estimating health care costs payable at December 31, 2011 would cause these estimates to 
change in· the near tem1, and such change could \:)e material. Fui;tflermore, if we are not able to accurately estimate 
the cost of incurred but not yet reported dai~s or reported ~!aims that have not been paid, our ability to take timely 
corrective actions may be limited, which would further exacerbate the extent of any negative impact on our 
operating results. These risks are particularly acute during and following periods when utilization of medical 
services and/or medical cost trends are below historical levels such as we have experienced during 2010 and 2011 
and magnified by Health Care Reform and other legislation and regulations (such as rate.reviews and limits on 
premium rate increases) that limit our ability to price for our projected and/or experienced increases in such 
u.tilization and/or trend. Refer to our discussion of "Critical Accounting Estimates - Health Care Costs Payable" 
begiMing on page 19 for more information. 

Any requirement to restate financial results due to the inappropriate application of accounting principles or 
other matters. could also have a material adverse effect on us and/or the trading price of our common stock. 
The appropriate application of accounting principles in accordance with GAAP is required to ensure the soundness 
and accuracy of pur financial statements. An inappropriate application of these principles may lead to a restatement 
ofour financial results and/or a deterioration in the soundness and accuracy of our reported financial results. If we 
experienced such a deterioration, users of our financial statements might lose confidence in our reported results, 
which could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock, our credit ratings and/or our access to capital 
markets. 

We are dependent on our ability to manage, engage and retain a very large and diverse workforce. 
Our products and services and. our operations require a large number of employees, and a significant number of 
employees joined us during 2011 as a result of our acquisitions. Our business could be adversely affected if our 
retention, development, succession, integration and other human resource management tecluiiques are not aligned 
with our strategic objectives. In addition, as we expand internationally, we face the added challenge of integrating, 
educating, managing and retaining a more culturally diverse workforce . . The impact of the external envirorunent or 
other factors on employee morale and engagement could also significantly impact the success of our company. 

Epidemics, pandemics, terrorist attacks, natural disasters or other extreme events or the continued threat of 
these extreme events could materia11y increase health care utilization, pharmacy costs and/or life and 
disability claims and impact our business continuity; and we cannot predict with certainty whether any such 
events will occur. 
Extreme events, including terrorism, can affect the U.S. economy in general, our industry and us specifically. Such 
events could adversely affect our business, cash flows, and operating results, and, in the event of extreme 
circumstances, our financial condition or viability. Other than obtaining insurance coverage for our facilities and 
lim.ited reinsurance of our Health Care and/or Group Insurance liabilities, there are few, if any, commercial options 
through which to transfer the exposure from terrorism away from us. In particular, in the event of nuclear, 
biological or other terrorist attacks, natural disasters, epidemics or other extreme events, we could face significant 
health care (including behavioral health), life insurance and disabilit)' costs which would also be affected by the 
govenunent's actions and the responsiveness of public health agencies and other insurers. In addition, our life 
insurance members .and our employees and those of our vendors are concentrated in certain large, metropolitan 
areas which may be exposed to these events. Our business could also be adversely' affected if we do not maintain 
adequate procedures to ensure disaster recovery and business continuity during and after such events. 

We outsource and obtain PBM services and certain information technology systems.and other services from 
independent third parties and also delegate selected functions to independent 'practice associations and 
specialty service providers; portions of our operations are subject to their performance. 
We take steps to monitor and regulate the performance of independent third parties who provide PBM services, 
systems·-related or other services or facilities to us or to whom we delegate selected functions . Certain of these third 
parties provide us with significant portions of our requirements. These third parties include CVS Caremark, 
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information technology system providers, independent practice associations, accountable care organizations and 
call center and claim and billing service providers. These arrangements may make our operations vulnerable if 
those third parties fail to comply with applicable laws or regulations or to meet their obligations to us, whether 
because of our failure to adequately monitor and regulate their performance, or changes in their own financial 
condition or other matters outside our control. A termination of our agreements with one or more of these service 
providers could result in reduced service quality and effectiveness, inability to meet our obligations to our 
customers or less favorable contract terms that may adversely affect our operating results. 

Under the PBM Agreement, CVS Caremark provides certain PBM services to us and our customers and members. 
The PBM Agreement is for a tenn of up to 12 years, although we have certain termination rights beginning in 
January, 2018. CVS Caremark began providing services under the PBM Agreement ori January 1, 2011. lfthe 
PBM Agreement were to termi1iate for any reason or CVS Caremark's ability to perfonn its obligations under the 
PBM Agreement were impaired, \ve rilaY'not be able to find an alternative supplier in a timely manner or on 
acceptable financial tem'ls. As a result, we may not be able to meet the full demands of our customers, which could 
have a material adverse effect on olir business, reputation and operating results. 

In addition~ certain of our vendors have been responsible for releases of sensitive information of our members and 
employees, which has caused us to incur additional expenses and giveri rise to litigation against us. Certain 
legislative authorities have in recent years also discussed or proposed legislation that would restrict outsourcing 
and, if enacted, could materially increase our costs. We also could become overly dependent on key vendors, which 
could cause us to lose core competencies if not properly monitored. In recent years, certairi third parties to whom 
we delegated selected functions, such as independent practice associations and specialty services providers, have 
experienced financial difficulties, including bankruptcy, which may subject us to increased costs and potential 
health care benefits provider network dismptions, and in some cases cause us to incur duplicative claims expense. 

Adverse conditions in the U.S. a·nd global capital markets can significantly and adversely affect the value of 
our investments in debt and equity securities, mortgage loans, alternative investments and other investments, 
our profitability and/or our financial position. . 
The global capital markets, including credit markets, continue to experience volatility, uncertainty and disruption. 
As an insurer, we have a substantial investment portfolio that supports our policy liabilities and surplus and is 
comprised largely of debt securities of issuers located in the U.S. As a result, the income we earn from our 
investment portfolio is largely driven by the level of interest rates in the U.S., and to a lesser extent the international 
financial markets; and volatility, uncertainty and/or disruptions in the global capital markets, particularly the U.S. 
credit markets, and governments' monetary policy, particularly the easing of U.S. monetary policy, can significantly 
and adversely affect the value of our investment portfolio, our profitability and/or our financial position by: 

Significantly reducing the value of the debt securities we hold in our investment portfolio and creating realized 
capital losses that reduce our operating results and/or unrealized capital losses that reduce our shareholders' 
equity. 
Keeping interest rates low on high-quality short-tenn debt securities (such as we have experienced during 
recent years) and thereby materially reducing our net investment income and operating results as the proceeds 
from maturing securities in our investment portfolio continue to be reinvested in lower yielding securities. 
Making it more difficult to value certain of our investment securities, for example if trading becomes less 
frequent, which could lead to significant period-to-period changes in our estimates of the fair values of those 
securilies and cause period-to-period volatility in our net income and shareholders' equity. 
Reducing our ability to issue short-term debt securities at attractive interest rates, thereby increasing our interest 
expense and decreasing our operating results. 
Reducing our ability to issue other securities. 

AlthOugh we seek, within guidelines we deem appropriate, to match the duration of our assets and liabilities and to 
manage our credit exposures, a failure to adequately do so could adversely affect our net income and our financial 

condition. 
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Our pension plan expenses are affected by general market conditions, interest rates and the accuracy of 
actuarial estimates of future benefit costs. · 
We have pension plans that cover a large number of current employees and retirees, Even though our employees no 
longer earn future pension service credits in the Aetna Pension Plan effective December 31, 20 I 0, the Aetna 
Pension Plan continues to operate. Therefore, unfavorable investment performance, interest rate changes or 
changes in estimates of benefit costs, if significam, could adversely affect our operating results or financial · 
condition by significantly increasing our pension plan expense and obligations. For example, due to market-driven 
unfavorable investment performance in 2008, our pension expense increased in 2009. The decrease in pension cost 
in 2011 an~ 2010 was caus~d by the freezing of the Aetna Pension Plan. 

We also face other risks t~at could adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition, 
which include: 

Health care benefits provider fraud that is not prevented or detected and impacts oi.ir medical cost trends or 
those of our self-insured customers. In addition, in an uncertain economic environment, whether in the 
United States or abroad, our businesses may see increased fraudulent claims volume, which may lead to 
additional costs because of an increase in disputed claims and litigation; 

. A significant failure of internal control over financial reporting; 
Failure of our corporate governance policies or procedures, for example significant financial decisions 
being made at an inappropriate level in our organization; 
Financial loss from inadequate insurance coverage due to self-insurance levels or unavailability of 
insurance and reinsurance coverage for credit or other reasons; and 
Failure to protect our proprietary information. 
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Selected Fin::incial Data 

For the Years Ended December.31, 
(Millions, except per common share data) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 
Revenue $ 33,779.8 $ 34,246.0 $ 34,764.l $ 30,950.7 $ 27,599.6 
Net income 1,985.7 1,766.8 1,276.5 1,384.I 1,831.0 
Net realized capital gains (losses), net of tax 109.1 183.8 55.0 (482.3) (47.9) 

Total assets 38,593.J 37,739.4 38,550.4 35,852.5 50,724.7 

Short-tcnn debt 425.9 480.8 215.7 130.7 

Long-term debt 3,977.7 . 4,3825 3,639.5 3,638.3 3,138.5 

Shareholders' equity 10,120.2 9,890.8 9,503.8. 8,186.4 10,038.4 

Per common share data: 

Cumulative annual dividends declared $ .625 (1) 
$ .04 $ .04 $ .04 $ .04 

Net income: 
Basic 5.33 4.25 2.89 2.91 3.60 
Diluted 5.22 4.18 2.84 2.83 3.47 

{I) In February 201 I, we announced that our Board of Directors (our "Board") increased our cash dividend to shareholders 10 $.15 per share 
and moved 10 a quarterly dividend payment cycle. On December 2, 2011, our Board increased our quanerly cash dividend to 
shareholderS 10 S.175 per common share. 

Sc(· Noles lo Consolidated Financial Statements and MD&A for significant events affecting the comparability of 
results as well as material ilncertainties. 

. .. , .. 
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Consolidated Statements of Income 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

(Millions, except per common share data) 2011 2010 2009 

Revenue: 

Heahh care premiums s 27,189.2 $ 27,610.6 $ 28,243.8 

Other premiums 1,775.8 l,822.1 l ,892.4 

Fees and other revenue !ll 3,716.l 3,529.5 3,536.5 

Net investment income 930.8 l,056.3 1,036.4 

Net realized capital gains 167.9 . 227.5 55.0 

Total revenue 33,779.8 34,246.0 34,764.J 

Benefits. and expenses: 

Health care costs <1> 21,653.5 22,719.6 24,061.2 

Current and furure benefits 1,876.5 2,013.4 2,078.l 

Operating expenses: 

Selling expenses 1,104.8 1,226.6 1,251.9 

General and administrative expenses 5,699.6 5,292.4 5, 131.1 

Total operating expenses 6,804.4 6,519.0 6,383.0 

Interest expense 246.9 254.6 243.4 

Amortization of other acquired intangible assets 120.7 95.2 97.2 

Total benefits and expenses 30,702.0 31 ,601.8 32,862.9 

Income before income taxes 3,077.8 2,644.2 1,901.2 

Income taxes 1,092.1 877.4 624.7 

Net income s 1,985. 7 $ 1,766.8 $ 1,276.5 

Earnings per common share: 

Basic s S.33 $ 4.25 $ 2.89 
Diluted $ 5.22 $ 4.18 $ 2.84 

ll) Fees and other"revenue include administrative services contract member co-payments and plan sponsor reimbursements related to our 
mail order and specialty pharmacy operations of $63 million, $83 million and $81 million (net ofphannaceutical and processing costs 

(1) 
of $1.3 billion, $1 .. 4 billion and $1.6 billion) for 2011, 20 I 0 and 2009 respectively. 
Health care costs have been reduced by Insured member co-payments related to our mail order .and specialty phamiacy operations of 
$130 million, $148 million and $122 million for 2011 , 20 I 0 and 2009 respectively. 

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidat·ccl Balance Sheets 

(Millions) 

Assets: 

Current .. assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

lnvestments 

Premiums receivable, net 

Other receivables, net 

Accrued investment income 

Collateral received under securities foan agreements 

Income iaxes receivable 

Deferred income taxes 

Other current assets 

Toial current assets 

Long-tenn investments · 

Reinsuranu recoverables 

Goodwill 

Other acquired intangible a5$ets, net 

Propcny and equipment, net 

D~fcrred income laxes 

01hcr long-t~nn nsscts 

Separate Accounu asselS 

Total assets 

Liabilities and shareholders' equity: 

Current liabilities: 

Health care costs payable 

Future policy benefits 

Unpaid claims 

Unearned premiums 

Policyholders' funds 

Collateral payable under securities loan agreements 

Shon-term debt 

Current ponion of long-term debt 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities 

Future policy benefits 

Unpaid claims 

Policyholders' funds 

Long ·term debt, less current ponion 

Dcfcned income taxes 

Other long-1em1 I iabilitics 

Scparntc Accounis liabili1ies 

Toi.al Jiabili11cs 

Commitments ond contingencies (Note 18) 

Shareholders' equiry: 

Common stock ($.01 par value; 2.6 billion shares authorized and 349.7 million shares issued 

·and outstanding in 2011; 2.7 billion shares authorized ar.d 384.4 million shares issued and 

outstanding in 20 I 0) and additional paid-in capital 

Retained earnings 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss: . 

Total shareholders' equity . . 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 

Refer 10 accomp3nying Nores· 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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$ 

s 

s 

s 

At December 31, 
2011 2010 

679.7 $ 1,867.6 

2,211.8 2,169.7 

761.4 661.9 

701.5 692.6 

195.8 203.4 

210.6 

161.9 210.1 

387.2 327.0 

790.7 651 .3 

5,89(1.0 6.994.2 

18,083.2 17.546.3 

921.7 960.I 

6,203.9 5,146.4 

958.6 495.5 

556.9 529.3 

29.9 

760.6 742.4 

5,218.2 5,295.3 

38,593.1 $ 37,739.4 

2,675.5 $ 2,630.9 

668.0 728.4 

S81.2 . 593.3 

369.7 318. 7 

1,281.6 . 918.1 

210.8 

425.9 
·' : 

899.9 

2,520.3 2,436.8 

8,522.2 8,736.9 

6,092.8 6,276.4 

1,505.8 1,514.3 

1,351.6 1,316.6 

3,977.7 3,482.6 

208.8. 

1,595.8 1,226.5 

5,218.2 5,295.3 

28,472.9 27,848.6 

962.8 65 l.5 

10,J46.6 10,401.9 

(l,189.2) . (l,162.6) 

10,120.2 9,890.8 

38,593:1 s 37 ,739.4 



Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity 

Common 
Number of Stock and Accumulated 

Common Additional Other Total 
Shares Paid-in Retained Comprehensh•e Shareholders' Comprehensive 

(Millions) Outstanding Capital Earnings Loss Equity Income 

Balance at December 31, 2008 456.3 $ 351.2 $ 9,716.5 $ (1,881.3) $ 8,186.4 

Cumulative effect of adopting new 3Ccou!Jting 

standard at April l, 2009 (Note 2) 53.7 (53. 7) 

Comprehensive income: 

Net income 1,276.5 1,276.5 $ 1,276.5 

Other comprehensive income (Note 9): 

Net unrealized gains on securities 619.0 619.0 

Net foreign currency and derivative gains 34.0 34.0 

Pension and OPES plans 59.0 59.0 

Other comprehensive income 712.0 712.0 712.0 

Total comprehensive income $ 1,988.5 

Common shares issued for benefit plans, 

including tax benefits 3.4 119.2 119.2 

Repurchases of conunon shares (28.9) (.3) (772.7) (773.0) 

Dividends declared (17.3) (17.3) 

Balance at December 31, 2009 430.8 470.I 10,256.7 (1,223.0) 9,503.8 

Comprehensive income: 

Net income - 1;766.8 1,766.8 $ 1,766.8 

Other comprehensive income (Note 9): 

Net unrealized gains on securities 114.3 114.3 

Net foreign currency and derivative losses (52.6) (52.6) 

Pension and OPEB plans (1.3) (1 .3) 

Other comprehensive income 60.4 60.4 60.4 

Total comprehensive income $ 1,827.2 

Common shares issued for benefit plans, 

including tax benefits 6.0 181.9 181.9 

Repurchases of common shares (52.4) (.5) - (1,605.5) (1,606.0) 

Dividends declared (16.1) (16.1) 

Balance at December 31, 2010 384.4 651.5 10,401.9 (1,162.6) 9,890.8 

Comprehensive income: 

Net income 1,985.7 1,985.7 s 1,985.7 

Other comprehensi~e loss (Note 9): 

Net unrealized gains on securi1ies 203.l 203.l 

Nee fore_ign currency and derivative losses (6.4) (6.4) 

Pension and OPEB plans (223.3) (223.3) 

01her comprehensive loss (26.6) (26.6) (26.6) 

Total comprehensive in.come s 1,959.1 

Common shares issued for benefit plans, 

including tax benefiis 10.4 311.7 311.7 

Repurchases of common shares (45.1) (.4) (1,812.6) (1,813.0) 

Dividends declared (228.4) (228.4) 

Balance at .December 31, 2011 349.7 s 962.8 Sl0,346.6 s (l,189.2) s 10,120.2 

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Statements o{Cash Fiows 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

(Millions) 20JJ 2010 2009 

Cash flows from operating activitie·s: 

Net income s 1,985.7 $ 1,766.8 s 1,276.5 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to nei cash provided by operating activities: 

Net realized capital gains (167.9) (227.5) (55.0) 

Depreciation and amortization 441.i 444.4 416.0 

Equity in losses (earnings) of affiliates, net 1.4 (33. 1) (I 5.7) 

Stock-based compensation expense 141.4 110.4 90.7 

Amortization (accretion) of net investinent premium (discount) 1.9 . (28.9) (67 .0) 

Changes in ass~ts and lia·b;liti~s: 
Accrued investment income 6.7 5.8 (15.6) 

Premiums due and other receivables 16.4 (38.6) (53 .7) 

Income raices 154.9 182.8 (14.4) 

01her assets and other liabilities 21.5 (309.3) 570.4 

Heahh care and insurance liabilities (103.0) (458.6) 357.6 

Other, net 1.6 (2.1) (J.5) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,507.8_ 1,412. 1 2,488.3 

Cash flows from investing activities: . 

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 10,045.6 i 1,966.7 10,029.6 

Cos't of investnients 
" 

'(9,998.1) (I 1,043.4) (11,592.2) 

Additions to property, equipment and sofuvare (372.0j (288.7) (362.0) 

Cash used for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (1,555.7) (.1) (75. I) 

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities (I,880.2) 634.5 (1,999.7) 

Cash flows from financing activities:· 

Net repayment of long-term debt (900.0) 

Net issuance of long-tei:m debt 480.1 697.8 

Net issuance (repayment) of short -term debt 425.9 (480.8) 266. J 

Deposits and interest credited for investment contracts 5.6 8.0 7.1 
·" 

Withdrawals of investment contracts (8.9) (9.5) 
" 

(9.0) 

Conunon shares issued under bendit plans 125.5 43.2 I I :l.S .... . . 
Stock-based compensation tax benefi!S · 38.S 22.5 5.1 

Common shares repurchased (1,813.0) (1,606.0) (773.0) 

Dividends paid to shareholders (167.2) (16. l ) (17.3) 

Collateral on interest rate swaps (2.0) (41. 7) 41.7 

Nc1 c"sh used for financing activities (l,815.S) (I ,382.6) (464.5) 

Nc1 (d~crcasc) increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,187.9) 664.0 24. 1 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period J,867.6 1,203.6 1,179.5 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period s 679.7 s 1,867.6 $ 1,203.6 

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. Organization 

We conduct oui operations in three business segments: 

Health Care consists of medical, pharmacy benefit management services, dental, behavioral health and 
vision plans offered on both an Insured basis (where we assume all or a majority of the risk for medical and 
dental care.costs) and an employer-funded basis (where the plan sponsor ui1der an administrative services 
contract ("ASC") assumes all or a majority of this risk). Medical products include point-of-service 
("POS"), preferred provider organization ("PPO"), health maintenance organization ("HJvf.0") and 
indel1Ulity benefit plans. Medical products also include health savings accounts ("HSAs") and Aetna 
HealthFWld®, consumer-directed health plans that combine traditional POS or PPO and/or dental coverage, 
subject to a deductible, with an accumulating benefit account (which may be. funded by the plan sponsor 
and/or the member in the case ofHSAs). We also offer Medicare and Medicaid products and services and 
specialty products, such as health infonnation technology services, medical management and data analytics 
services, medical stop loss insurance, and products that provide access to our provider network in select 
~~. . 

• Group Insurance primarily includes group life insurance products ~ffered on an Insured basis, including 
basic and supplemental group tenn life; group universal life, supplemental or voluntary programs and 
accidental death and dismemberment coverage. Group Insurance also includes (i) group disability products 
offered to employers on both an Insured and an ASC basis which consist primarily of short-term and long­
term disability insurance (and products which combine both), (ii) absence management services offered to 
employers, which include short-tenn and long-term disability administration and leave management, and 
(iii) long-term care products that were offered primarily on an Insured basis, which provide benefits 
covering ~e cost of care in private home settings, ad~lt day care, assisted living or nursing facilities. We 
no longer solicit or accept new long-tenn care customers. 

Large Case Pensions manages a variety ofretirement products (including pension and annuity products) 
primarily for tax qualified pension plans. These products provide a variety of funding and benefit payment 
distribution options and other services. Large Case Pensions also includes certain discontinued products 
(refer to Note 20 beginning on page 1l0 for additional information). 

Our three business segments are distinct businesses that offer different products and services. Our Chief Executive 
Officer evaluates financial perfonnance and makes resource allocation decisions at these segment levels. The 
accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the surrunary of significant accounting 
policies in Note 2, below. We evaluate the performance of these business segments based on operating earnings 
(net income or loss, excluding net realized capital gains or losses and other items, if any) (refer to Note 19 
beginning on page 108 for segment financial information). 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of Consolidation 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally­
accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") and include the accounts of Aetna and the subsidiaries that we control. 
All significant intercompany balances have been eliminated in 'consolidation. The Company has evaluated 
subsequent events from the balance sheet date through the date the financial statements were issued and determined 
there were no other items to disclose. 
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New Accounting Standards 
Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary lmpa irments 
Effective April ] , 2009, we adopted new accounting guidance for other-than-temporary impairments ("OTTI") of 
debt securities. This guidance establishes new criteria for the recognition of OTTI on debt securities and also 
requires additional financial statement disclosure. Under this guidance an OTTI must be recognized if either a 
credit-related loss is deemed to have occurred or we have the intention to sell a security that is in an unrealized loss 
position. Refer to Notes 8 and 9 begirining on pages 78 and 84, respectively, for additional information. 

Upon adoption of this new guidance, we evaluated securities held at April l, 2009 for which a previous OITI was 
recognized, and identified those securities that we did not intend to sell.. As a result of this analysis, we recorded a 
$54 million ($83 million pretax) cumulative effect adjustment that increased retained earnings and accumulated 
other comprehensive loss as of April 1, 2009. 

. . . 

Future Application of Accounting Standards 
Testing Goodwill for Impairment 
Effective January l, 2012, we will adopt new accounting guidance for testing goodwill for impairment. Under this 
guidance, we will have the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not 
1ha1 the fair value of our Health Care or Group Insurance segment is less than its carrying value. If we determine 
1h~1 the fair value is likely greater than its carrying value, then no additional analysis is necessary, and the goodwill 
is noL impaired .. We do not expect the new guidance to have a material impact on our financial position or operating 
results. 

Fees Paid to the Federal Government by Health Insurers 
· Begiru:iing January l, 2014, we will adopt new accounting guidance relating. to the recognition and income 
statement reporting of any mandated fees to be paid to the federal government by health insurers. This guidance 
will apply primarily tci new fees enacted in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and 
Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, ,;Health Care Reform"). We are evaluating the impact this 
guidance will have on our financial position or operating results. 

Presentations of Comprehensive Income 
Begirming January 1, 2012, we will adopt new presentation requirements for other comprehensive income in 
financial statements. Under this new guidance, we will present comprehensive income as a separate statement 
immediately following the statement of income. This change in presentation will not"have an impact on out 
financial position or operating results. 

Fair Value Measurements '.:._· 
Begirming January l, 2012, we will adopt new guidance relating to fair value measurements. This new guidance 
amends and clarifies certain existing fair value measurement principles and requires additional disclosures for all 
Level 3 assets, including a qualitative discussion about the sensitivity of Level 3 fair value measurements. The new 
requirements are not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or operating results. 

Reconsideration of Effective Control for Repurchase Agreements 
Beginning January 1, 2012, we will adopt new guidance relating to repurchase agreements and other agreements 
that entitle and obligate a transferor to repurchase or redeem financial assets before maturity. The guidance 
prescribes when an entity may recognize a sale upon the transfer of financial assets subject to repurchase 
agreements. Since we treat these transactions as collateralized borrowings rather than sales, we do not e·xpect the 
adoption ofthis accounting guidance to have a material impact on our financial position or operating results. 

Deferred Acquisition Costs 
Beginning January 1, 2012, we will adopt new guidance for costs associated with acquiring or renewing insurance 
contracts. This guidance clarifies that such costs qualify for capitalization when directly related to the successful 
acquisition of new aud renewed insw-ance contracts. We do not expect the adoption of this accounting guidance to 
lrnve n material impact on our financial position or operating results. 
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U$e of Estimates 
The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements i.n conformity with GAAP requires the use 
of estimates and assumptions that affect the amowits reported in these consolidated financial statements and notes. 
We consider the following accounting estimates critical in the preparation of the accompanyin$ consolidated 
financial statements: health care costs payable, other insurance liabilities, recoverabil~ty of goodwill and other 
acquired intangible.assets, measurement of defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans, other­
than-temporary impairment of debt securities and revenue recognition, and allowance for estimated terminations 
and uncollectable accounts. We use information available to us at the time estimates are ·made; however, these 
estimates.could change m_ateri~lly if different infonnation or assumptions were u~ed. Additionally, these estimates 
may not ultimately reflect the actUal amountS of the final transactions that occur. . 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on-hand and debt securities wi.th an original maturity of three months or less 
when purchased. The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-term maturity of 
these investments. 

Investments 
Debt and Equity Securities 
Debt and equity securities consist primarily of U.S. Treasury and agency securities, mortgage-backed securities, 
corporate and foreign bond~ and other debt .and equity securities. Debt securities are classified as either current or 
Jong-tenn investments based on their contractual maturities unless we intend to sell an investment within the next 
twelve months, in which case it is classified as current on our balance sheets. We have classified our debt and 
equity securities as available for sale and carry them at fair value. Refer to Note 10 beginning on page 85 for 
additional infonnation on how we estimate the fair value of these investments. The cost for mortgage-backed and 
other asset-backed' securities is adjus.ted for unamortized premiums and discounts, which arc amortized using the 
interest method over the estimated remaining tenn of the securities, adjusted for anticipated prepayments .. We 
regularly review our debt and equity securities·to determine whether a decline in fair value below the carrying 
value is other-than-temporary. When a debt or equity security is in an unrealized capital loss position, we monitor 
the duration and severity of the loss to detennine if sufficient market recovery can occur within a reasonable 
period of time. Beginning April 1, 2009, we recognize an impairment on debt securities when we intend to sell a 

· security Lia~ is in an un_realized loss posit.io_n. or if we detem1ine a credit-related loss bas occurred. Prior to April 
1, 2009, we would recognize an impairment if we did not have the intention and ability·to hold the security until it 
recovered its value (refer to New Accounting Standards beginning on page 67 for additional infonnation). We do 
not accrue interest on debt securities when management believes the collection of interest is unlikely . . 

We lend certain debt and equity securities from our investment portfolio to other institutions for short periods of 
time. Borrowers must post cash collateral in the amount of 102% to 105% of the fair value of the loaned security. 
The fair value of the loaned securities is monitored on a daily basis, with additional collateral obtained or refunded 
as.the fair value of the loaned securities fluctuates. The collateral is retained and invested by a lending agent 
according to our guidelines to generate additional income for us. 

Mortgagf4 loaJJS . . 

We carry the .val~~ of our mortgage loan investments on our balanc~ sheets at the unpaid principal balance, net of 
impa.innent reserves. A mortgage loan may be impaired when it is a problem loan (i.e., more. than 60 days 
delinquent, in bankruptcy or in process of foreclosure), a potential problem loan (i.e .. , high probability of ~efault 
within 3 years) or a restructured loan. For impaired loans, a specific impainnent reserve is established for the 
difference between the recorded investment in the loan and the estimated fair value of the collateral. We apply our 
loan impainnent policy individually to all Joans in our portfolio. 

The quarterly impainnent evaluation described above also considers characteristics and risk factors attributable to 
the aggregate portfolio. We would establish an additional allowance for Joan losses if it were probabJe that there 
would be a credit loss on a group of similar mortgage loans. We consider the following characteristics and risk 
factors when.evaluating if a credit loss is probable: loan to value ratios, property type (e.g., oflice, retail, apartment, 
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industrial), geographic location, vacancy rates and property condition. We determined that a credit loss was not 
probable and did not record any additional allowance for loan losses with respect to petfonning mortgage loans in 
2011, 2010 or 2009. 

We record full or partial charge-offs of loans at the time an event occurs affecting the legal status of the loan, 
typically at the time of foreclosure or upon a loan modification giving rise to forgiveness of debt. Interest income on 
;111 impaired loan is accrued to the extent we deem it collectable and the loan continues to perfonn under its original 
•>r rc~lructured terms. Interest income on·problem loans is recognized on a cash basis. Cash payments on loans in 
tile process of foreclosure are treated as a rettirn of principal. Mortgage loans with a matUrity date or a committed 
prepayment date within twelve months are classified as current on our balance sheets. 

Other Investments 
Other investments consist primariJy of alternative investments (which ·are comprised of private equity and hedge 
fund limited partnerships), investment real estate and derivatives. We typically do not have a controlling 
ownership in our alternative investments, and therefore we apply the equity method .of accounting for these 
investments. We invesi in real estate for the production of income. We carry the value of our investment real 

·estate on our balance sheets at depreciated cost, mcluding capital additions, net of wriie-downs for other-than­
temporary declines in fair value. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method based on the estimated 
useful life of each asset. If any of our real estate investments is considered held-for-sale, we cany it at the lower of 
its canying value or fair value less estimated selling.costs. We generally estimate fair value using a discounted 
future cash flow analysis in conjun.ction with comparable sales information. At the time of the sale, we record the 
difference between the sales price and the carrying value as a realized capital gain or loss. 

We make limited use of derivatives in order to manage interest rate, fcireigri exchange, price ri~k and credit 
exposure. The derivatives we use consist primarily of futures contracts, forward contracts, interest rate 'swaps, 
credit default swaps, warrants and put ·options. Derivatives are reflected at fair value on our balance sheets. 

When we enter into a derivative contract, if certain criteria are met, we may designate it as one of the following: a 
hedge or the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment; a hedge of a 
f'tli'l'rns1cd lr:ins~ction or of the variability of cash flows t<;> be received or paid refated to a rec.ognized asset or 
liability; or a foreign currencyfair value or cash flow hedge. 

Net Investment Income and Realized Capital Gains and Losses 
Net investment income on investments supporting Health Care and Group Insurance liabilities and La'fge Case 
Pensions products (other than· experience-rated and discontinued products) are reflected in our operating results. 

Experience-rated products are products in the Larg·e Case Pensions business where the contract holder, not us, 
assumes investment and other risks, subject to, among other things, minimum guarantees provided by us. The 
effect of investment performance on experience-rated products is allocated to contract holders' accounts daily, based 
on the underlying investment's experience and, therefore, does not impact our operating results (as long as 
:n.1ni111u111 gu:irJntc:es are not triggered). 

Wilen we disconLinued the sale of our fully-guaranteed Large Case Pensions products, we established a reserve for 
anticipated future losses from these discontinued products and segregated the related investments. Investment 
performance on this separate portfo.lio is ultimately credited/charged to the reserve and; generally, does not impact 
our operating results. 

Net investment income supporting Large Case Pensions' experience-rated and discontinued products is included in 
net investment income in our statements of income and is credited to contract holders accounts or the reserve for 
anticipated future losses through a charge to current and future benefits. 

Realized capital gains and losses on investments supporting Health Care and Group Insurance liabili~ies and Large 
Case Pensions products (other than experience-rated and discontinued products) are reflected in our operating 
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results. Realized capital gains and losses are determined on a specific identification basis. We r~flect purchases and 
sales of debt and equity securities and alternative investments on the trade date. We reflect purchases and sales of 
mortgage loans and investment real estate on the closing date. 

Realized gains and losses on investments supporting Large Case Pensions' experience-rated and discontinued 
products are not included in realized gains and losses in our statements of income and instead are credited directly 
to contract holders' accounts, in the case of experience-rated products, or allocated to the reserve for anticipated 
future losses established at discontinuance, in the case of disconti.nued products. The contract holders' accounts are 
reflected in policyholders' funds, and the reserve for anticipated future losses is reflected in future policy benefits on 
our balance sheets. · 

Unrealized capital gai1_1s and losses on investments supporting Health Care and Group Insurance liabilities and 
Large Case Pensions products (other than experience-rated and discontinued products) are reflected in shareholders' 
equity, net of tax, as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

Unrealized capital gains and losses on investments supporting Large Case Pensions' experience-rated products are 
credited directly to contract holders' accounts, which are reflected in policyholders' funds on our balance sheets. Net 
unrealized capital gains and losses on discontinued products are reflected in other long-term liabilities on our 
balance sheets. 

Refer to Note 20 begiMing on page 110 for additional information on our discontinued products. 

Reinsurance 
We utilize reinsurance agreements prii;narily to reduce our required statutory capital and to facilitate the acquisition 
or disposition of certain insurance contracts. Ceded reinsurance agreements permit us to recover a portion of our 
losses from reinsurers, although they do not discharge our primary liapiiity as the direct insurer of the risks 
reinsured. Failure ofreinsurers to indemnify us could result in losses; however, we do not expect charges for 
unrecoverable reinsurance to have a material effect on our operating resul.ts or financial positio~. We evaluate the 
financial position of our reinsurers and monitor concentrations of credit risk arising from similar geographic 
regions, activities or .economic characteristics of our reinsurers. At December 31, 2011, our reinsurance 
recoverables consisted pnmarily ofamounts due from third parties that are rated consistent with companies that are 
considered to have the.ability.to.meet their obligations. 

In the nonnal course cf business, we enter into agreements with other insurance companies under which we 
assume reinsurance, primarily related to our group life and health products (refer to Note 17 on page 103 for 
additional infonnation). We do not transfer any portion of the financial risk associated with our HMO products to 
third parties, except in areas where we participate in state-mandated health insurance pools. We did not have 
material premiums ceded to or assumed from unrelated insurance companies in the three years ended December 
31, 2011. 

Goodwill 
We evaluate goodwill for impainnent (at the reporting unit level) annually, or more frequently if circumstances 
indicate a possible impairment, by comparing an estimate of the fair value of the applicable reporting unit to its 
carrying value~ includ~ng goodwill. if the carrying value exceeds fair value, we.compare the implied fair value of 
the applicable goodwill to its carrying amount to measlire the amount of goodwill impainnent, if any. Our reporting 
uriits with goodwill are our Health Care and Group Insurance segments. Impairments, if any, would be classified as 
an operating expense. There were no gopdwill impairment losses recognized in any of the three years ended 
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009. 

Our annual impairment tests were based on an evaluation of future discounted cash flows. These eva.luations 
utilized the best infonnation available to us at the time, including supportable assumptions and projections we 
believe are reasonable. Collectively, these evaluations were our best estimates of projected future cash flows. Our 
discounted cash· flow evaluations used discount rates that correspond to a weighted-average cost of capital 
consistent with a market-participant view. The discount rates are consistent with those used for investment· 
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decisions and takes into account the specific and detailed operating plans and strategies of the Health Care and 
Group Insurance segments. Certain other key assumptions utilized, including changes in membership, revenue, 
health care costs, operating expenses and effective tax rates, are based on estimates consistent with those utilized in 
our annual planning process that we believe are reasonable. Ifwe do not achieve our earnings objectives, the 
assumptions and estimates underlying these goodwill impairment evaluations could be adversely affected, and we 
may impair a portion of our goodwiil, which would adversely affect our operating results in the period of 
impai1111ent. 

Property and Equipment and Other Acquired Intangible Assets 
We report property and equipment and· other acquired intangible assets at historical cost, net of accumulated 
depreciation or amortization. At December 31, 2011 and 20 I 0, the historical cost of property and equipment was 
approximately $1.1 billion and SJ.O billion,.respectivcly, and .the related accu.inulated·depreciation was · 
approximately $507 million and $4 73 million, respectively. Refer to Note 1 beginning on page 77 for cost and 
accumulated amortiz.ation associated with other acquired intangibles. We calculate depreciation and amortization 
primarily using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets ranging from two to 
forty years. · · · '. · · · · · 

As part of the acquisition of Genworth Financial, lnc.'s (''Genworth") Medicare Supplement.and related blocks of 
in-force business we recognized an asset for the valuation of business acquired ("VOBA"). VOBA represents the 
present value of the future profits embedded in .the acquired businesses, and was determined by estimating the net 
present val~e of fut\ire cash flows from the contracts in force at the date of acqu.isition. VOBA is amortized in 
proportion to estimated premiums arising from the acquired contracts over their expected life. 

We regularly evaluate whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of property and 
equipment or other acquired intangible assets may not be recoverable. If we determine that an asset tnay not be 
recoverable, we estimate the future undiscounted cash flows expected to result from future use of the asset and its 
eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected undiscouilted future cash flows is Jess than the carrying value of 
the :issel, we recognize an impainnent Joss for the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair 
value. There wen.! no material impainnerit losses recognized in the three years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 
and 2009. · 

Separate Accounts 
Separate Account assets and liabilities in the Large Case Pensions business represent funds maintained to meet 
specific objectives of contract holders who bear the investrilent risk. ··These·assets and liabilities are-carried at fail' · 
value. Net investment income and net realized capital gains and losses accrue directly to such contract holders. 
The assets of each account are legally segregated and are not subject to claims arising from our other businesses. 
Deposits, withdrawals, net investment income and net realized and net unrealized capital gains and losses on 
Separate Account assets are not reflected in our statements of income or ca:sh flows. Management fees charged to 
contract holders are included in fees and other revenue and recognized over the period earned. 

Health Care and Other Insurance Liabilities 
Health care costs payable 
Health care costs payable consist principally "of unpaid fee-for-service medical, dental and pharmacy claims, 
capitation costs and other amounts due to health ·care providers pursuant to risk-sharing arrangements related to 
Health Care's POs; PPO, HMO, Indemnity·, Medicare and Medicaid products. ·un·paid health care claims include 
our estimate of payments we will make on claims reported to us but not yet paid and for health care services 
rendered to'members but not yet reported to us as of the balance sheet date (collectively, "IBNR"). Also included 
in these estimates is the cost of services that will continue to be rendered after the balance sheet date if we are 
oblignted to pay for such services in accordance with contractual or regulatory requirements. Such estimates are 
developed using actuarial principles and assumptions which consider, among other things, historical and projected 
claim submission and processing patterns, assumed and historical medical cost trends, historical utilization of · 
medical services, claim inventory levels, changes in membership and product mix, seasonality and other relevant 
factors. We reflect changes in these estimates in health care costs in our operating results in the period they are 
determined. Capitation costs represent contractual monthly fees paid to participating physicians and other medical 
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providers for providing medical care; regardless of the medical services provided to the member. Approximately 
five percent of our·health care costs related to capitated arrangements in each of the last three years. Amounts due 
under risk-sharing arrangements are based on the terms of the underlying con~acts with the providers and consider 
claims experience under the contracts through the balance sheet date. 

Future policy benefits 
Future policy benefits consist primarily of reserves for limited payment pension and annuity contracts in the Large 
Case Pensions business and long-duration group life and long-term care insurance contracts in the Group Insurance 
business. Reserves for limited payment contracts are computed using actuarial principles that consider, among 
other things, assumptions reflecting anticipated mortality, retirement, expense and interest rate experience. Such 
assumptions generally vary by plan, year of issue and policy duration. Assumed interest rates on such contracts 
ranged from 2.0% to 11.3% in 2011 and fro~ 1.8% to 11.3% in 2010. We periodically review mortality 
assumptions against both industry standards and our experience. Reserves for long-duration group life and long­
.term care contracts represent our estimate of the present _value of future benefits to be paid to or on behalf of 
policyholders less the present value of future net premiums. Assumed interest rates on such contracts ranged from 
2.5% to 8.8% in both 2011 and 2010. Our estil!late of the present value of future benefits under such contracts is 
based upon mortality, morbidity and interest rate assumptions. 

Unpaid claims · 
Unpaid claims consist primarily of reserves associated with certain short-duration group disability and tenn life 
insurance contracts in the Group Insurance business, including an estimat~ for IBNR as of the balance sheet date. 
Reserves a5sociated with certain short-dµration group disability and term life insurance contracts are based upon 
our estimate of the present value of future benefits, which is based on assumed investment yields and assumptions 
regarding mortality, morbidity and recoveries :fyom the U.S. Social Security Administration. We develop our 
reserves for IBNR using actuarial principles and assumptions which consider, among other things, contractual 
requirements, cla.im incidence rates, claim recovery rates, seasonality and other relevant facto~s. We discount 
certain claim liabilities related to group long-term disability and premium waiver contr~cts. The discounted Wlpaid 
claim liabilities were $1.8 billion and $1.9 billion at December 31, 2011 and 20 I 0, respectively. The undiscounted 
value of these unpaid claim liabilities was $2.6 billion at both December 31, 2011and2010. The discoWlt rates 
generally reflect our expected investment returns for the investments supporting all incurral years of these 
liabilities and ranged from 3.5% to 6.0% in both 2011 and 2010. The discount rates for retrospectively-rated 
contracts are set at contractually specified levels. Our estimates of unpaid claims are subject to change due to 
changes in the underlying experience of the.insurance contracts, changes in investment yields or other factors, and 
these changes are recorded in current and future benefits in our statements of income in the period they are 
detennined. 

Policyholders ' funds 
Policyholders' funds consist primarily of reserves for pension and annuity investment contracts in the Large Case 
Pensions business and customer funds associated.with group life an.d health contracts in the Health Care and Group 
Insurance businesses. Reserves for such contracts are equal to cumulative deposits less withdrawals and charges 
plus credited interest thereon, net of experience-rated adjustments. In 201 l, interest rates for pension and annuity 
investment contracts ranged from 3.8% to 8.0%, and interest rates for group life and health contracts ranged from 
0% .to 3.5%. In 2010,_interest rates for pension and annuity investment contracts ranged from 3.5% to 11.8%; and 
interest rates for group life and health contracts ranged from 0% to 4.0%. Reserves for contracts subject to 
experience rating reflect our rights as well as the rights of policyholders and plan participants. 

We review health care and insurance liabilities periodically. We reflect any necessary adjustments during the 
current period in operating results. While the ultimate amount of claims and related expenses are dependent on 
future developments, it is management's opinion that the liabilities that have been established are adequate to cover 
such costs. The health care and insurance liabilities that are expected to be paid within twelve months are 
classified as current on our balance sheets. 
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Premium Deficiency Reserves 
We evaluate our insurance contracts to determine if it is probable that a loss will be incurred. We recognize a 
premium deficiency loss when it is probable that expected future claims, including maintenance costs (for 
example, claim processing costs), will exceed existing reserves plus anticipated future premiwns and reinsurance 
rl~covcri('s. 1\ nticipated investment income is considered in the calculation of premium deficiency losses for short­
d 11!·ation con1r::irn. For purposes of determining premium deficiency losses, contracts are grouped in a manner 
consistent with our method of acquiring, servicing and measuring the profitability of such contracts. We did not 
have any premium deficiency reserves at December 31., 2011 or 2010. 

Health Care Contract Acquisition· Costs 
Health care benefits products included in the Health Care seginent are. cancel able by either the customer oi: the 
m~mber monthly upon wtitten notice: Acquisitlo·n costs related to our prepaid health care and health in.demnity 
contracts are generally expensed as incurred. 

Revenue Recognition 
Health care premiums are recognized as ·income in the month in which ihe enrollee is entitled to receive health care 
services. Health care premiums are reported net of an allowance for estimated terminations arid. uncollectable 
amounts. Additionally, beginning in 20 l J .. premium revenue subject to the minimum MLR rebate requirements of 
Health Care Reform is recorded net of the estimated minimum MLR rebates for the. Furrent calendar year. Other 
premium revenue for group life, long-tenn care and disability products is recogniz~d as income, net of allowances 
for tennination and uncollectable accounts, over the term of the coverage. Other premium revenue for Large Case 
Pensions' .limited payment pension and annuity contracts is recognized as revenue in the period received. Premiums 
related to unexpired contractual. coverage periods are reported as unearned premiiams in ·our balance sheets. 

The balance of the allowance for estimated tenninations and uncollectable accounts on premiums receivable was 
$73 mill ion and $80 million at December 31, 2011 and 20 I 0, respectively, and is reflected as a reduction of 
rrrn1iums receivable in our balance sheets. The balance of the allowance for uncollectable accounts on other 
r1:i.:~i vabks was $20 million and $26 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and is reflected as a 
reduction of other receivables in otir balance sheets.· 

Some of our contracts allow for premiums to be adjusted to reflect actual experience or the relative health status of 
members. Such adjustinents are reason.ably estimable (based on actual experience of the customer emerging under 
the contract and the terms of the underlying contract) and are recognized as the experienc.e emerges. ·~ .· 

Fees and other revenue consists primarily of ASC fees which are received in exchange for performing certain claim 
processing and member services for health and disability members and are recognized as revenue over the period 
the service is provided. Some of our contracts include guarantees with respect to certain functions, s~ch as 
customer service response time, claim processing accuracy and claim processing turnaround time, as well as certain 
guarantees that a plan sponsor's claim experience will fall within a certain range. With any of these guarantees, we 
are financially at risk if.the conditions .ofthe arrangements are not met, although the maximum am~unt at risk is 
typically limited to a percentage of the fees otheiwise payable to us by the customer involved. We accrue for any 
such exposure when it becomes probable that an obligation has arisen under the terms of a guarantee. 

In addition, fees and other revenue also include charges assessed against contract holders' funds for contract fees, 
participant fees and asset charges related to pension and annuity products in the Large Case Pensions business. 
Other amounts received on pension and annuity investment-type contracts are reflected as deposits and are not 
recorded as revenue. Some c::f ourLarge Case Pension contract holders have the contractual right to purchase 
annuities wirh life contingencies using the funds they maintain on deposit with us. Since these products are 
considered an insurance contract, when the contract holder makes this election, we treat the accumulated investment 
balance as a single premium and reflect it as both P.remiums and current and future benefits in our statements of 
income. 
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Accounting for the Medicare Part D Prescription Drug Program ("PDP") 
We were selected by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS") to be a national provider of PDP in 
all 50 states to bo·th individuals and employer groups in 2011, 20 I 0 and 2009. Under these annual contracts, CMS 
pays us a portion of the premium, a portion of, or a capitated fee for, catastrophic drug costs and a portion of the 
health care costs for low-income Medicare beneficiaries and provides a risk-sharing arrangement to limit our 
exposure to unexpected expenses. 

We recognize premiums received from, or on behalf of, members or CMS and capitated fees as premium revenue 
ratably over th~ contract period. We expense the cost of covered prescription drugs as incurred. Costs associated 
with low-income Medicare beneficiaries (deductible, coinsurance, etc.) and the catastrophic drug costs paid in 
advance by CMS are recorde.~ as a liability and offset health care costs when incurred. for individual PDP 
coverage, the risk-sharing arrangement provides a risk corridor whereby the amount we received in premiums from 
members and CMS based on our annual bid is compared to our actual drug costs incurred during the contract year. 

· Based on the risk corridor provision and PDP activity-to-date, an estimated risk-sharing receivable or payable is 
recorded on a quarterly basis as an adjustment to premium revenue. We perform a reconciliation of the final risk­
sharing, low-income subsidy and catastrophic amounts after the end of each contract year. 

Allocation of Operating Expenses 
We allocate to the business segments centrally-incurred costs associated with specific internal goods or services 
provided to us, such as employee services, technology services and rent, based on a reasonable method for each 
specific cost (such as membership, usage, headcount, compensation or square foot~ge occupied). Interest expense 
on third-party borrowings and the financing components of our pension and other post-retirement benefit plan 
expense is not allocated to the reporting segrilentS, since' it is not used as a basis for measliring the operating 
performance of the segments. Such amounts are reflected in Corporate Financing in our segment financial 
information. Refer to Note 19 beginning on page 108 for additional information. 

Income Taxes 
We are taxed at the statutory corporate income tax rates after adjusting incom·e reported for financial statement 
purposes for certain items. We recognize deferred income tax assets and liabilities for the differences.between the 
financial and income tax reporting basis of assets and liabilities based on enacted tax rates and laws. Valuation 
allowances are provided when it is. considered.more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized. 
Deferred income tax expense or benefit primarily reflects the net change in deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities during the year. 

Our current income tax provision reflects the tax results of revenues and ·expenses currently taxable or deductible. 
Penalties and interest on our tax positions are classified as a component of our income tax provi~ion. 

3. Acquisitions 

We completed the acquisitions ofMedicity Inc. ("Medicity"), Prodigy Health Group ("Prodigy"), Genworth's 
Medicare Supplement business and related blocks of in-force business and PayFlex Holdings, Inc. ("PayFlex") in 
2011, and Horizon Behavioral Services, LLC ("Horizon") in 2009. Each of these acquisitions was funded using 
available resources. Refer to Note 7 on page 77 for additional information. 

Horizon Behaviorai Services, LLC 
In 2009, we a~quired Horizo~, a leading provider of employee assistance programs, for approximately $70 
million, net of cash acquired. We recorded goodwill related to this transaction of approximately $56 
million in 2009, of which $37 million will be tax deductible. All of the goodwill related to this acquisition 
was assigned to our Health Care segment. 
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• Medicity Inc. 
Jn January 2011, we acquired Medicity, a health information exchange company, for approximately $490 · 
million, net of cash acquired. We recorded goodwill related to this transaction of approximately $385 
million, an immaterial amount of which will be tax deductible. All of the goodwill related to this 
acq11isiiion was assigned to our Health Care segment. 

Prodigy Health Group 
In June 2011, we acquired Prodigy, a third-party administrator of self-funded health care plans, for 
approximately $600 million, net of cash acquired. We preliminarily recorded goodwill related to this 
transaction of approximately $446 million, of which approximately $52 million will be tax deductible. All 
·of the goodwill.rela~ed tq this-acquisition was·assigned to our Hcalth:Care segment. 

Genworth Financial, Inc. 's Medicare Supplement Business and Related Blocks of In-Force Business 
In October 2011, we acquired Genworth's Medicare Supplement business and related blocks of in-force 
business for approximately $225 million, net of cash acquired. We preliminarily recorded $52 million of 
goodwill related to this transaction. The excess of the purchase price over the fair market value of the net 
assets we acquired, including goodwill, is tax deductible as a result of the transaction being treated as an 
asset purchase for tax purposes. All of the goodwill related to this acquisition was assigned to our Health 
Care segment. 

• PayFlex Holdings, Inc. 
In October 2011, we a~q·uired PayFlex, one of the nation's largest independent account-based health plan 
administrators, for approximately $200 million, net of cash acquired. We preliminarily recorded goodwill 
related to this transaCtion of approximately $147 million, an inunaterial amoi.tnt of which will be tax 

deductible. A 11 of the goodwill. related to this acquisition was assigned to our Health Care segment. 

:.J. Earnings PC'r Common Share 

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted EPS is computed in a simi.lar manner, except that the 
weighted average number of coinmon shares outstanding is adjusted for the dilutive effects.of our outstanding 
stock-based compensation awards, but on~y if the effect is dilutive. 

The computations of basic and diluted EPS for 2011, 2010 and 2009 are as follows: -
(Millions, except per common share data) 2011 2010 2009 

Net income s 1,985.7 $ 1,766.8. $ ·,.J,276.5 

Weighted average shares used to compute basic EPS 372.S 415.7 441.1 

Dilutive effect of outstanding stock-based compensation awards <•l 7.7 7.2 8.4 

Weighted.average shares used to compu_te diluted EPS 380.2 422.9 449.5 

Basic EPS s S.33 $ 4.25 $ 2.89 

Diluted EPS s S.22 ·$ 4.18 $ 2.84 

<
1
> Stock-based compensation awards are not included in the calculation of diluted EPS if.the exercise price is greater than the average 

market price of Aema conunon shares during the period (i.e., the awards are anti-dilutive}. Approximately 12.4 million, 18.6 million and 
19.3 million stock appreciation rights ("SA Rs") were not included in the calculation of diluted EPS for 2011, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively. The stock options no1 included in the calculation of diluted EPS for 2011 were not material. Approximately 5.7 million 
and 6.2 million s1ock options were not included in the calculation of diluted EPS for 2010 and 2009, respectively. These stock-based 
compcnsn1io11 nwards were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS because their effect was anti-dilutive. 

Annual Report- Page 75 



5. Operating Expenses · 

For 2011, 2010 and 2009, selling expenses (which include broker commissions, the variable component ofour 
internal sales force compensation and premium taxes) and general and administrative expenses were as follows: 

(Miilions) 2011 2010 2009 

Selling expenses $ 1,104.8 $ 1,226.6 $ 1,251.9 

General and adminimative expenses: 

Salaries and related benefits <1
> 3,284.3 3,076.4 2,971.8 

Other general and administrative expenses <2l 2,415.3 2,216.0 2,159.3 

Total general and administrative expenses Pl 5,699.6 5,292.4 5, 131.1 

Total operating expenses $ 6,11114.4 $ 6,519.0 •$ 6,383.0 . 

lll Includes a one-time pretax charge of $137.0 million in 2011 related to the voluntary early retirement program.that we announced in July 
201 l. 

<ll Includes the following for 2010: transaction-related costs of$66.2 million and litigation~related insurance proceeds of$l56.3 million. 
Includes the following for 2009: litigation-related insurance proceeds of$38.2 million. 

lll In 2010 and 2009, we recorded severance and facilities charges of $4 7.4 million and $93 .7 million, respectively. 

Refer to the reconciliation ofclperating earnings to net income in Note 19 beginning on page 108 for additional 
infonnation. 

6. Health Care Costs Payable 

The following table shows the c·omponents of the change in health care costs payable during 2011, 2010 and 2009: 

(Millions) 201] 2010 2009 

Health care costs payable, beginning of the period $ 2,630.9 $ 2,895.3 $ 2,393.2 

Less: Reinsurance rei::overables l.7 1.9 2.0 

Health care costs payable, beginning of the period, net 2,629.2 2,893.4 2,391.2 

Acquisition of businesses 89.4 I.I 
Add: Components of incurred ·health care costs 

Current year. 22,047'.9 23,045.6 24,127.2 

Prior years (394.4) (326.0) (66.0) 

Total incurred health .care costs 21,653.S 22,719.6 24,061.2 

Less: Claims paid 

Current year 19,642.9 20,588.5 21,401.1 

Prior years 2,057.0 2,395.3 2,159.0 

Total claims pai~ 21,699.9 22,983.8 23,560.1 

Health care costs payable, end of period, net 2,672.2 2,629.2 2,893.4 

Add: Reinsurance recoverables 3.3 1.7 1.9 

Health care costs payable, end of the eeriod $ 2,675.5 $ 2,630.9 $ 2,895.3 

Our prior year estimates of health care costs payable decreased by approximately $394 miJlion, $326 million and 
$66 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, resulting from claims being settled for amounts less than 
originally estimated. These reductions were primarily the result of lower health care cost trends as well as the 
actual claim submi°ssion time being faster than we assumed in establishing our health care costs payable in the prior 
year. These reductions were offset by estimated current period health care costs when we established our ~stimate 
of the current year health care costs payable. When significant decreases (increases) in prior-year health care cost 
estimates occur that we believe significantly impact our current year operating results, we disclose that amount as 
favorable (unfavorable) development of prior-years health care cost estimates. In 2011, we had approximately $207 
million pretax of favorable development of prior-years health care cost estimates that primarily resulted from lower 
than projected paid claims in the first half of 201 1 for claims incurred in the latter half of 20 I 0 caused by lower than 
projected utilization of medical services. In 2010, we had approximately $118 million pretax of favorable 
development of prior-years health care cost estimates that primarily resulted from lower than projected paid claims 
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in 1he first half of 2010 for.claims incurred in the latter part of 2009 caused by lower than projected utilization of 

medical services driven by the abatement of HlNl and other flu, among other factors. In 2009, we had 

nppro>; imalely $I I 6 million of unfavorable development of prior-years health care cost estimates that was driven by 
unusually high paid claims activity in the first half of 2009 related to the second half of2008. 

7. Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets 

As discussed in Note 3, we completed four significant acquisitions during 2011. In accordance with applicable 

accounting guidance, we allocated the amount paid to the fair value of the net assets acquired, with any excess 

amounts recorded,as_.goodwil!. The inct~_ase in goodwill in 2011 and 2010 is as follows: 

(MU.lions) 2011 2010 

Balance, beginning of the period 

Goodwill acquired: 

$ 5,146.4 $ 5,146.2 

Prodigy Ill 

Mediciry 

Payflex c•l 

Genworth 11 > 

Other Ill 

446.2 

384.7 

147.4 

SL9 

27.3 .2 

Balance, _end of the period Ill s 6,203.9 $ 5,146.4 

(I) Goodwill related to these acquisitiOns is considered preliminary, pending the final allocation of the applicable purchase price. 
<
2
> Al December 31, 2011 and ·2010, approximately $104 million was assigned to the Group Insurance segment, with the remainder 

<1ssig11cd lo the Health Care seginent.· · 

:)ihcr ~ ..:lp1i1ed inlangible assets at December 31, 2011and2010 were comprised of the following: 

Accumulated Amortization 
(Millions) Cost Amortizatfon Net Balance Period (Years) 

2011 

Provider networks s 703.2 s· 428.3 s 274.9 12-25 
(I) 

Customer lists 684.3 331.7 352.6 4-14 
(I ) 

Value ofbusiness acquired 149.0 .. 6.3. 142.7 .20 (2) 

Technology 129.0 24.3 104.7 5-10 

Other 15.6 9.4 6.2 2-15 

Definite-lived trademarks 69.0 13.8 55.2 9-20 

Indefinite-lived trademarks 22.3 22.3 ,. 

Total other acquired intangible assets s 1,772.4 s 813.8 s 958.6 

2010 

Provider networks $ 703.2 $ 398.9 $ 304.3 12-25 
( I } 

Customer lists 420.4 262.6 157.8 4-10 
( I } 

Technology 25.3 25.0 .3 3-5 

Other 17.I 16.8 .3 2-15 

Definite-lived trademarks 21.0 10.5 10.5 2-15 

Jm.lcfinitc-livcd trademarks 22.3 22.3 

Total other acquired intangible assets $ l,209.3 $ 713.8 $ 495.5 

(I) The amortization period for our provid.er ne!Wbrks and customer lists int:hides en assumption ofreriewal or extension of these 
arrangements. At December 31, 20 I l and 2010, the periods prior to the next renewal or extension for our provider networks primarily 
ranged from I to 3 years and the period prior to the next renewal or extension for our customer lists was approximately one year. Any 
costs related to the renewal or extension of these contracts is expensed as incurred. 

(?l YOBA is being amortized over the expected life of the acquired contracts in proportion to estimated premium. 
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The value assigned to other acquired intangible assets for acquisitions completed during 2011, primarily for 
customer listS, VOBA and technology intangibles, totaled approximately $584 million, ·of which $443 million is 
preliminary pending the finalization of purchase price allocations. · -

We estimate annual pretax amortization for other acquired intangible assets over the next five years to be as 
follows: 

(Millions) 
2012 

2013 
2014 

s 141.8 

129.2 

107.2 

2015 91.7 

2016 84.2 

8. Investments 

Total investments at December 31, 2011 and 20 I 0 were as follows: 

2011 2010 

(Millions) Current Long-term Total Current Long-term ·Total 

Debt and e,quity securities available for sale $ 2,168.1 $ 15,222.7 $ 17,390.8 $ 2,111.9 $ 14,849.7 $ 16,961.6 

Mortgage loans 41.7 1,606.8 1,648.S 55.2 1,454.6 1,509.8 

Other investments 2.0 1,253.7 1,255.7 2.6 1,242.0 '1,244.6 

Total investments $ 2,211.8 s 18,083.2 s 20,295.0 $ 2,169.7 $ 17,546.3 $ 19;116.0 
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Debt and Equity Securities 
Debt and equity securities available for sale at December 31, 20 I I and 2010 were as follows: 

(Millions) 

December 31, 2011 

Debt securities: 

U.S. government securities 

States; municipalities and political subdivisions 

U.S. corporate securities 

Foreign securities 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 

Commercial mortgage-backed _securities 

Other asset-backed securities 

Redeemable preferred securities 

Total debt securities 

Equity securities . 

Total debt.and equity securities <2> 

December 31, 2010 

Dehl securities: 

U.S. government securities 

States, municipalities and political subdivisions 

U.S. corporate securities 

Foreign securities 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 

Other asset-backed securities 

Redeemable preferred securities 

Total debt securities 

Equity securities 

Total debt and _equity securities (2> 

$ 

s 

$ 

$ 

Amortized 
Cost 

1,394.7 $ 

2,654.9 

6,484.0 

2,614.9 

849.8 

1,295.3 

437_0 

164.2 

1?,8?4-8 

40_3 

15,935.] s 

1,293.5 $ 

2,288.8 

6,731.5 

2,667.4 

1,089.2 

1,226.4 

447.6 

196.7 

15,941.1 

35.3 

15,976.4 $ 

Gross 
Un..-ealized 

Gains 

165.0 $ 

208.5 

718.2 

278.2 

5Ll 

98.3 

20.6 

12:6 

1,552.5 

5.0 

1,557.5 S 

80.8 $ 

54.4 

553.0 

231.1 

. 53.6 

99.5 

21.1 

. 12.J 

1,105.8. 

5:6 

1,111 .4 '$ 

Gross 
Un..-ealized 

Losses 

(.4) 

(3:3) 

(28.1) 

(38.0) 

(.I) 

(5.8) (I) 

(3.8) (•> 
(14.S) 

(94.0) 

(7.8) 

(101.8) 

(.6) 

(46.9) 

(21.9) 

(21.2) 

(2.8) 

(13.7) (I) 

(4.8) (I) 

_(12.7) 

(124.6) 

(1.6) 

(126.2) _/ ' 

Fair 
Value 

$ 1,559.3 

2,860.1 

7,174.1 

2,855.1 

900.8 

1,387.8 

453.8 

162.3 

17,353.3 

37.5 

s 17,390.8 

$ 1,373.7 

2,296.3 

7,262.6 

2,877.3 

1,140.0 

1,312.2 

463.9 

.196.3 

16,922.3 

39.3 

$ 16,961.6 

(I) At December 31, 2011and2010, we held securities for which we recognized $10.7 ~iliion and.$38.3 million, respe~tively, of non­
credit-related impairments in other comprehensive income in the past. These securities had a net unrealized capital gain at December 31 , 
2011 and 2010 of $7.4 million and $3.9 million, respectively .. 

(2) Investment risks associated with.our experience-rated and discontinued products generally do not impact our operating results (refer to 
Note 20 beginning on page 110 for additional information on our accounting for discontinued products). At December 31, 2011, debt 
and equity securities with a fair value of$4.0 billion, gross unrealized capital gaias.of$S05.6 million.and gros·s unrealized capital losses 
of$48.2 million and, at December 31, 2010, debt and equity securities with a fair value of S4 . I billion, gross unrealized capital gains of 
$339.5 million and gross unrealized capital losses of $38. l million were included in total debt and equity securities, but support our 
experience-rated and discontinued products. Changes in net unrealized capital gains (losses) on these securities are not reflected in 
accumulated other comprehensive income. 
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The.fair value of debt securities at December 31, 2011 is shown below by contractual maturity. Actual maturities 
may differ from contractual maturities because securities may be restructured, called or prepaid. 

(Millions) 

Due to maNre: 

Less than one year 

One year through five years 

After five years through ten years 

Greater than ten yean; 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 

Other asset-backed securities 

Total 

Mortgage-Backed and Other Asset-Backed Securities 

$ 

Fair 
Value 

924.3 

3,04).0 

5,341.J 

5,304.3 

900.8 

1,387.8 

453.8 

s - 17,353.3 

All of our residential mortgage-backed securities at December 31, 20 l l were issued by the Government National 
Mortgage Association, the Federal National Mortgage Association or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
and carry agency guarantees and explicit or implicit guarantees by the U.S. Government. At December 31, 2011, 
our residential mortgage-backed securities had an average quality rating 9f AAA and a weighted average duration of 
1.6 years. 

Our commercial mortgage-backed secw-ities have underlying loans that are dispersed throughout the U.S. 
Significant market observable inputs used to value these securities include probability of default and loss 
severity. At December 31, 201 l , these sectirities had an average quality rating of AA+ and a weighted average 
duration of3.6 years. 

Our other asset-backed securities have a variety of underlying collateral (e.g., automobile loans, credit card 
receivable~ and home equity loans). Significant market observable inputs used to value these securities include the 
unemployment rate, loss severity and probability of default. At December 31, 2011, these securities had an average 
quality rating of AA and a weighted average duration of 3.2 years. 

Unrealized Capital Lo~ses .and Net Realized Capital Gains (Losses) . . 
When a debt or equity security is in an unrealized capital loss position, we monitor the duration and severity of the 
loss to determine if.sufficient m~rket recovery can occur within a reasonable period of time. As described in Note 2 
beginning on page 66, effective Aprii 1, 200~, we recognize an OTTI on debt securities when.we intend to sell a 
securit)' that is in an unrealized capital loss position or if we detennine a credit-related lo~s has_occurred. Prior to 
April 1, 2009, we recognized an OTII on a security in an unrealized capital loss position if we could not assert our 
intention and ability to hold the security until it recovered its value. 
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Sum;n:1rizc<l below arc Lhe. debt and equity securities we held at December 31, 2011 and 2010 that were in an 
unrealized capital loss position, aggregated by the length of time the investments have been in that position: 

Less than J2 ~o·nths Greater than J2 months Total(!) 

Fair Unrealized fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized 
(Millions) 

Deceinber 31, 2011 

Debt securities: 

Value Losses 

U.S. government securities . . S 14.0 s 
23.8 

625.5 

498.8 

s 
:.>·. . ·•.: . ·.·.' 

States, municipalities and political subdivisions·· 

U.S. corporate securities 

Foreign securities 

Residential mortgage-backed securilies 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 

Other asset-backed securities 

Redeemable preferred securities 

Total debt securities . 

&)uity securities 

Total debt and equity securities !ll 

U.S. government securities 

States, municipalities and political subdivisions 

U.S. corporate securities 

Foreign securities 

Residential mongage~b~cked securities 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 

Other asset-backed securities 

Redeemable preferred securities 

Total debt securities 

· Equity securities 

Total debt and equity securities 0 >, 

$ 

$ 

.9 

102.7 

27.8 

17.6 

1,311.1 

~6.2 

1,317.3 s 

8.4 $ 

964.9 

665.8 

375.9 

103.7 

103.7 

85.9 

4.5,. 

2,312.8 

.5 

s 2,313.3 $ 

.4 

25.7 

25.4 

2.8 

.1 

.9 

55.3 

2.4 

57.7 s 

.2 $ 

37.6 

17.0 

14.6 

2.6 

2.4 

2.0 

76.4 

76.4 $ 

Value Losses Value Losses 

15.1 s 
68.6 

62.4 

55.3 

2.9 

42.8 

3.9 

34.5 

285.5 

20.8 

306.3 s 

19.8 $ 

82.7 

210.2 

34.6 

6.6 

78.5 

4.9 

94.3' 

531.6 

9.5 

541.1 $' 

.4 s 
i:9 
2.4 

12.6 

.J 

3.0 

3.7 

13.6 

38.7 

5.4 

.44.1 $ 

.4 $ 

9.j 

4.9 

6.6 

.2 

.29.1 $ 

92.4 

687.9 

554.1 

3.8 

145.S 

31.7 

52.1 

1,596.6 

27.0 

1,623.6 s 

28.2 $ 

'1,047.6. 

8i6.0 

410.5 

110.3 ' 

11.3 182.2 

2.8 90.8 

12.7 98.8 

48.2 2,844.4 

1.6 10.0 

49.8 $ 2,854.4 $ 

.4 

3.3 

28.J 

38.0 

.1 

5.8 

3.8 

14.5 

94.0 

7.8 

101.8 

.6 

46.9 

21.9 

21.2 

2.8 

13.7 

4.8 

12.7 

124.6 

1.6 

126.2 

(I) At December 31,'201·1and2oio', debt and equity securities in an unrealized capital loss position of$48.2 million arid $38'.l million, 
respectively, and with related ·fair value <if$446:1 million and $650.5 million, .respeC.tively, related to experience-rated and discontinued 
products. 

We reviewed the securities in the tables above and concluded that these are performing assets generating investment 
income to support the needs of our business. In performing this review, we considered factors such as the quality of 
the investment security based on.research performed by our internal_ credit analysts and external rating agencies and 
thr prospects ofrealizing the carrying value of the security based on the investment's current prospects for 
r\·covcry. At December 31, 2011, we did not have the intention to sell the debt securities that were in an unrealized 
.:api i:il los~; position. 

Annual Report- Page 81 



. The matUrity dates for debt securities in an unrealized capital loss position at December 31, 2011 were as follows: 
. . . . 

Supporting discontinued Supporting remaining 
and experience-rated products products Total 

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized 
(Millions) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses 

Due to mar:ure: 

Less than one year $ s s 66.8 $ l.4 $ 66.8 s 1.4 

One year through five years 49.2 1.8 298.3 ·J 9.0 347.S I0.8 

A ft er five years through ten years 155.8 7.5 400.1 15.9 SSS.9 23.4 

Greater than ten years 187.7 30.3 257.7 18.4 445.4 48.7 

Residential mortgage-backed .securities 3.8 .1 3.8 .1 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 26.3 .9 · 119.2 4.9 145.5 5.8 

Other asset-backed securities .6 31.1 J.8 31.7 3.8 

Total s 419.6 $ 40.5 s 1,177.0 $ SJ.S $ 1,596.6 $ 94.0 

Nefrealized capital gains for the three years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, excluding amounts related 
to experience-rated contract holders and discontinued products, were as follows: 

(Millions) 2011 20IO 2009 

OTII losses on debt securities $ (10.2) $ (46.7) $ (122.1) 

Portion ofOTII losses on debt securities recognized 
in other comprehensive income 14.4 27.6 

Net OTII losses on debt securities recognized in earnings (10.2) (32.3) (94.5) 

Net realized capital gain's, excluding OTII losses on debt securities 178.1 259.8 149.5 

Net realized capital gains $ 167.9 $ 227.5 $ 55.0 

The net realized capital gains in 2011, 2010 and 2009 were primarily attributable to the sale of debt securities. In 
2011 and 2010, these gains were partially offset by losses on derivative transactions while in 2009, these gains were 
also attributable to gains on derivative transactions. The net realized capital gains in each year were also partially 
offset by the OTTI losses on debt securities shown in the table above. 

Yield-related impairments are recognized in other comprehensive income µnless we l~ave the intention to sell the 
security in an unrealized loss position, in which case the yield-related OTTI is recognized in earnings. Yield-related 
OTTI losses were not significant in 2011or20IO. In 2009, yield-related OITI losses were $76 million, primarily 
related to U.S. Treasury and corporate securities that were temporarily in a loss position due to changes' in interest 
rates and the widening of credit spreads on corporate securities relative to the interest rates on U.S. Treasury 
securities in the first half of 2009. Because we did not assert our intention to hold these securities, under applicable 
accounting guidance, as further discussed in Note 2 beginning on page 66, we recorded a yield-related OTTI loss. 
We had no other individually material realized capital losses on debt or equity securities that impacted our operating 
results during 2011, 20 l 0 or 2009. 

Excluding amounts related to experience-rated and discontinued products, proceeds from the sale of debt securities 
artd the related gross realized capital gains and losses for 2011, 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Proceeds on sales $ 6,278.3 s . 7,663.4 $ 5,506.5 

Gross realized capital gains 265.3 364.8 205.0 

Gross realized capicai losses 38.5 43.2 71.6 
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Mortgage Loans 
Our mortgage loans are collateralized by commercial real estate. During 2011 and 2010 we had the following· 
activity in our mortgage loan· portfolio: 

(Millions) 

New mortgage loans 

Mongage loans fully-repaid 

Mortgage loans foreclosed 
~~~~~~~---,-.-~~~---~~~~~~~--''---

s 
2011 

260.4 $ 

70.4 

2010 

103.3 

129.3 

20.0 

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had no material problem, restructured or potential problem mortgage loans. 
We also had no material impairment reserves on these loans at December 31, 2011or2010. 

We assess our mortgage loans on a regular basis for credit impairments, and· annually we assign a credit quality 
indicator to each loan. Our credit quality indicator is internally developed and categorizes our portfolio on a scale 
from 1 to 7. Category 1 represents loans of superior quality, and Categories 6 and 7 represent loans where 
collections are at risk. Most of our mortgage loans fall into the Level 2 to 4 ratings. These ratings represent loans 
where credit risk is minima_! to acceptable; however, these loans may display some susceptibility to economic 
changes. Category 5 represents Joans where ~redit risk is not substantial but these loans warrant management's 
close attention. These indicators.are based upon several factors, including current loan.to value ratios, property 
condition, market trends, borrower quality and deal structure. Based upon our .mc)st recent assessment at 
December 3 J, 2011, our mortgage loans were given the following credit quality indicators: 

(In Millions, except credit ratings indicator) 

2 to 4 

5 

6 and 7 

Total 

. . 

At December 31, 20 I I scheduled mortgage loan principal repayments were as follows: 

(Millions) 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 

Thereafter 

Variable Interest Entities 

$ 

$ 

s ~ .. 
... 

95.6 

1,426.l 

97.1 

29.7 

1,648.5 

41.7 

269.S 

102.8 

148.8 

248.2 

844.0 

In determining whether to consolidate a va"riable interest entity. ("VIE"), we consider sever~l factors including 
whether we have the power to direct activities, the obligation to absorb losses and the right to receive benefits that 
could potentially be significant to th~ VIE. We have relationships with certain real estate and hedge fund 
partnerships that are considered VlEs, but are not consolidated. We record the amount of our investment in these 
partnerships as long-term investments on our balance sheets and recognize our share of partnership income or losses 
in earnings. Our maximUm exposure to loss as a result of our investment in these partnerships is om investment 
balance at December 31, 2011 and 20 l 0 of approximately $175 million and $153 million, respectively, and the risk 
of recapture of tax credits related to the real estate partnerships previously recognized, which we do not consider 
significant. We do not have a future obligation to fund losses or debts on behalf of these investments; however, we 
may voluntarily contribute funds. The real estate partnerships construct, own and manage low-income housing 
dcvclopmenls and had total assetc; of approximately $5. l billion at both December 31 , 201 l and 2010. The hedge 
fund partnerships had total assets of approximately $5.9 billion and $6. l billion at December 31, 20 I 1 and 2010, 
respectively. 
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Non-controlling (Minority) Interests 
·At December 31~ 201_1 and 2010, approximately $71 million and $74 million, respectively, of our investment 
holdings were partially owned by third parties. The non-controlling entities' share of these investments was 
included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities. Net income attributable to these interests was $2 million 
for 2011 and $4 million for both 2010 and 2009. These non-controlling interests did not nave a material impact on 
our financial position or operating results. 

Net Investment Income 
Sources of net investinent income for 2011, 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 

(Millions) 

Debt securities 

Mortgage loans 

Other investments 

Gross investment income 

Less: investment expenses 

Net investment income Ctl 

$ 

$ 

2011 

829.2 $ 

102.8 

29.8 

961.8 

(31.0). 

. 930.8 $ 

2010 2Cl09 

911.8 $ 907.8 

118.7 118.6 

56.5, ... --· 38.6 

1,087.0 1,065.0 

(30.7) . (28.6) 

1,056.3 $ 1,036.4 

(I) Investment risks associated with our experience-rated and discontinued products generally do not impact our operating results (refer to 
Nore 20 beginning on page 110 for additional information on our accounting for discontinued products). Net investment income 
includes $317.5 million, $344.9 million and_ $347.8 million for December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, related to investments 
supponing our experience-rated and discontinued products. 

9. Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income 

Shareholders' equity included the following activity in accumulated other comprehensive loss in 2011 , 2010 and 
2009: 

(Millions) 

Balance at December 31, 2008 

Cumulative effect of adopting a new 

accounting standard ($83.0 pretax) m 
Net unrealized gains (losses) {$1,004.6 pretax) 

Reclassification to earnings ($110.5 pretax) 

Other comprehensive income 

Balance at December 31, 2009 

Net unrealized gains (losses) ($333.5 pretax) 

Reclassification to earnings ($1 72.9 pretax) 

Other comprehensive (loss) income 

Balance at December 31, 201_0 

Net unrealized gains (losses) ($105. 7 pretax) 

Reclassification to earnings ($137.8 pretax) 

Other comprehensive (loss) income 

Balance at December 31; 2011 

$ 

$ 

Net Unrealized Gains (Losses) 

Securities 

PreviouslX 
Impaired• All Other 

$ (229.3) $ 

(5.3) 

106.3 

(.7) 

100.3 

100.3 

42.5 

(67.7) 

(25.2) 

75.1 

2.4 

(19.3) 

{16.9) 

58.2 $ 

(48.4) 

592.4 

(79.0) 

465.0 

235.7 

327.5 

(I 88.0) 

139.5 

375.2 

337.2 

(117.2) 
220.0· 

595.2 s 

Foreign 
Currency 

and 
Derivatives . 

(8.7) $ 

34.4 

(.4) 

34.0 

25.3 

(53.9) 

1.3 

(52.6) 

{27.3) 

(9.2) 

2.8. 

"(6.4) 

(33.7) $ 

Pension and 
OPEB Plans 

(1,643.3) $ 

(80.1) 

139.I 

59.0 

(1,584.3) 

(99.3) 

98.0 

(1 .3) 

(1,585.6) 
(261.7) 

38.4 

(223.3) 

(1,808.9). $ 

Total 
Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehensive 

(Loss) Income 

(1,88 l.3) 

(53.7) 

653.0 

59.0 

658.3 

(1,223.0) 

216.8 

(156.4) 

60.4 

{1,162.6) 

68.7 
(95.J} 

(26.6) 

(I,189.2) _ 

(I) Represents unrealized losses ·-0n the non-credit-related component of impaired debt securities that we do not intend to sell and 
subsequent appreciation in the fair value of those securities as well as those that we intend to sell. 

(l) Effective April I, 2009, we adopted new accounting guidance for other-than-temporary impainnents of debt securities. Refer to Note 2 
beginning on page 66 for additional infonnation on the cumulative effect adjustment required. 
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The components of our pension and other postretirement benefit plans ("OPEB") included the following activity in 
accumulated other comprehensive loss in 2011, 2010 and 2009: 

Pension Plans OPEB Plans 

. Unrecognized. Unrecognized Unrecognized Unrecognized 

Net Actuarial Prior Service Net Actuarial Prior Service 

(Millions) Losses Costs Losses Costs Total 
Bal:rnct ~i lh~n·mll~r 31, 2008 $ (1,631.0) s 12.0 $ .. (55.6) $ 31.3 $ (I ,643.3) 
Unrealized net losses arising during 

the period ($(123.2) pretax) (72.5) (7.6) (80. J) 

Reclassification to earnings ($(214.0) pretax) 140.7 (1.4) 2.2 (2.4) 139. 1 
Balance at December 31, 2009 (l ,562.8) 10.6 (61.0) 28.9 (1,584.3) 

Unrealized net 1.osses arising during 

the period ($(152.8) pretax) (91.2) (8.1) (99.3) 

Reclassification 10 earnings ($(150.8).Pretax) 106.J (8.8) 3.0 (2.3) 98.0 
Balance at December 31, 2010 (1,547.9) 1.8 (66.1) 26.6 (1,585.6) 

Unrealized net losses arising during. · . : 

the period ($(402.6) pretax) (268.3) 6.6 (261.7) 

Reclassification to earnings ($(59. l) pretax) 37.9 (.3) . 3.2. (2.4) 38.4 
Balance at December 31';2011 ·S (1,778.3) s l.S $ (56.3) s 24.2 $ (1,808.9) 

10. Financial Instruments 

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires certain of our assets 
and liabilities to be reflected at ~eir fair value, and others on another basis, such as ari adjusted historical cost 
basis. In this note, we provide details on t~e fair value of financial assets and liabilities and how we determine 
those fair values. We preserit this infonnation for those financial instruments that are measured at fair value for 
·Nhich the change in fair value impacts net income or other comprehensive income separately from other financial 
;1s~;l'1s rind liabilities. 

Financial 'i:n~trultierit~· Measu~ed at Fair Value in our Balance Sheets· 
Certain of our financial instruments are measured at fair value in our balance s~eets. The fair values of these 
instruments are based on valuations that incluqe inputs that can be classified within one.of three lev,els of a 
hierarchy established by GAAP. The following are the levels of the hierarchy and a brief description of the type of 
valuation infonnation ("inputs") that qualifies a financial asset or liability for each level: .. 

0 Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets. 
0 Level 2 - Inputs other than Level l that are based on obseniable market data. These include: quoted prices 

for similar assets in active markets, quoted prices for identical assets in inactive markets, inputs that are 
observable that are not prices (such as interest rates and credit risks) and inputs that are derived from or 
corroborated by observable markets. . 
Level 3 - Developed from unobservable data, reflecting our own assumptions. 

Financial assets and liabilities are classified based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the 
valuation. When quoted prices in active market~ for identical assets and liabilities are available, we use these 
quoted market prices to detennine the fair value of financial assets and liabilities and classify these assets and 
liabilities as Level 1. In other cases where a quoted market price for identical assets and liabilities in an active 
market is either not available or hot observable, we estimate fair value using valuation methodologies based on 
available and observable market infonnation or by using a matrix pricing model. These financial assets and 
!iabilitics would then be classified as Level 2. If quoted market prices are not available, we determine fair value 
;1sing broker quotes or an internal analysis of each investment' s financial perfonnance and cash flow 
projections. Thus, financial assets and liabilities may be classified in Level 3 even though there may be some 
significant inputs that may be observable. · · 
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The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for our financial assets and liabilities that are 
measured at fair value, including the general classification of such assets and li?bilities pursuant to the valuation 
hierarchy. · 

Debt Securities - Where quoted prices are available in an active market, our debt securities are classified 
in Level l of the fair value hierarchy. Our Level I debt securities are comprised primarily of U.S. Treasury 
securities. If Level 1 valuations are not available, the farr value is determined using models such as matrix 
pric~ng, which use quoted market prices of debt securities with similar characteristics, or discounted cash 
flows to estimate fair value. We obtained one price for each of our Level 2 debt securities and did not 
adjust any of these prices at December 31, 2011or2010. 

We also value·certain debt secw-ities using Level 3 inputs. For Level 3 debt securities, fair values are 
determined by outside brokers or, in the case of certain private placement securities, are priced 
internally. Outside brokers determine the value of these debt securities through a combination of their 
knowledge of the current pricing environment and market flows. We obtained one non-binding bro~er 
q~ote for each of thes.e Level 3 debt" seci.rr.ities arid did not adjust any of these quotes at December 31, 2011 
or 20 I 0. The total fair value of our broker quoted securities was approximately $107 million and $153 
million at December 31, 2011and2010 respectively. Examples of these Level 3 debt securities include 
certain U.S. and foreign corporate securities and certain of our conunercial mortgage-backed securities as 

· well as other as~et-backed securities. For some of our private placement securities, our internal staff 
detennines the value of these debt securities by analyzing spreads of corporate and sector indice.s as well as 
interest sprea~ of comp~rable public bonds .. Examples of these Level 3 debt securities include certain U.S . 

. and foreign securitit>:S and certain tax-exempt municipal securities. 

Equity Securities - We currently have two classifications of equity secmities: those that are publicly 
traded and those that are privately held. Our publicly-traded securities are classified as Level I because 
quoted prices are available for these securities in an active market. For privately-~eld equity securities, 
there is no active market; therefore, we classify these securities as Level 3 .because we price these securities 
through an internal analysis of each investment's financial statements and cash flow projections. 

Derivatives:- Our derivative instruments are v<1lued using models that primarily use market observable 
inputs and therefore are classified as Level 2 because they are traded "in markets where quoted market prices 
are not readily available. 
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Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in our balance sheets at December 31 , 
2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

(Millions) Level I Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Dcccmbcr31, 2011 

Assets: 

Debt securities: 

U.S. government securities s 1,307.0 $ 252.3 s s 1,559.3 

States, municipalities and political subdivisions 2,858.4 1.7 2,860.J 

U.S. corporate securities 7,122.S 51.6 7,1 74.J 

Foreign securities 2,805.7 49.4 2,855.1 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 900.8 900.8 

Commercial mortgagc-ba1;ked. securities 1,358.3 29.5 1,387.8 

Other asset-backed securities 419.4 34.4 453.8 

Redeemable preferred securities 146.6 15.7 162.3 

Total debt securities 1,307.0 15,864.0 182.3 17,353.3 

Equity securities .8 36.7 37.5 

Derivatives 2.0 2.0 

Total s 1,307.8. S· 15,866.0 s 219.0 s 17,392.8 

Liabilities: 

Derivatives s - s .1 s $ .I 

December 3 l, 2010 

Assets: 

Debt :;ecurilies: 

U.S. government securities .$ 1,081 .0 $ 292.7 $ $ 1,373.7 

States, municipalities and political subdivisions 2,292.7 J.6 2,296.3 

U.S. corporate securities 7,201.9 60.7 7,262.6 

Foreign ·securities 2,822.4 54.9 2,877.3 

Residential morlgage·backed securities 1,140.0 1,140.0 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 1,275.3 36.9 1,J 12.2 

Other asset-backed securities 407.4 56.5 463.9 

Redeemable preferred secur_ities 178.5 17.8 196.3 

Total debt securities 1,081.0 15,610.9 230.4 16,922.3 

Equity securities 1.4 37.9 39.3 

Derivatives - 2.6 2.6. 

Total $ 1,082.4 $ 15,613.5 $ 268.3 $ 16,964.2 

Liabilities: 

Derivatives $ $ 6.5 $ $ 6.5 

There were no transfers between Levels l and 2 during the years ended December 31 , 2011 and 2010. 
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The change in the balance of Level 3 financial assets during 201 l was as follows: 

Commercial 
Mortgage-

Foreign backed Equity 
(Mllllon1) Securities Securities Securities Other Total 

Beginning balance s 54.9 $ 36.9 s 37.9 $ 138.6 $ 268.3 

Net realized and unrealized capital gains (losses): 

Included in earnings 1.0 3.4 (2.8) 1.6 

Included in other comprehen~ive income (.8) 1.9 2.2 3.3 

Other<•> (.9) (6.4) (4.2) (I 1.5) 

Purchases 35.l s.s 22.7 63.3 

Sales (24.5) (.3) (18.0) (42.8) 

Settlements (1.3) (12.7) (28.S) (42.S) 

Transfers OU! of Level 3, net (14.1) (6.6) (20.7) (l) 

Ending balance s 49.4 s 29.5 s . 36:7 $ 103.4 $ 219.0 

Amount ofLevcl 3net unrealized losses 

included in net income $ - s $ - s (.2) $ (.2) 

(I) Reflects realized and unrealized capital gains and losses on investments supporting our experience-ra1ed and discontinued products, 
which do not impact our operating results. 

(2) Gross mmsfers into Level 3 during 2011 include $11. l million of Other financial assets. Gross transfers out of Level 3 during 
2011 include $17.7 million of Other financial assets and $14.I million of Foreign Securities. 

The change in the balance of Level 3 financial assets dw-ing 2010 was as follows: 

U.S. 

(Millions) 
Cor-porate 
Securities 

Foreign 
Securities Other Total 

Beginning balance $ 128.1 . $ 199.0 $ 156.4 $ 483.S 

Net realized and unrealized gains (losses): 

Included in earnings (.9) 8.2 4.1 11.4 

included in other comprehensive income .1 (2.3) 27.1 24.9 
Other(•) (.8) .5 (5.9) (6.2) 

Purchases, sales and settlements (64.4) (83.6) (24.1) (172.1) 

Transfers out of Level 3, net (1.4) (66.9) (4.9) . (73.2) 

Ending balance $ 60.7 $ 54.9 $ 152.7 $ 268.3 

Amount of Level 3 net unrealized losses 

included in net income . $ - $ - $ (.9) $ (.9) 
. . 

(I) Reflec1s realized and unrealized capital gains and losses on invescments supponing our experience-rated and discontinued products, 
which do not impact our operating r-esults. · 

Transfers into Level 3 during 2010 were not significant. Additionally, during 2010, certain investments previously 
classified as Level 3 were reclassified to Level 2 because we were able to obtain observable market data. 

Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value in our Balance Sheets 
The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for estimating.the fair value of ow- financial 
assets and liabilities that are carried on our balance sheets at adjusted cost or contract value. 

Mortgage loans: Fair values are estimated by discounting expected mortgage loan cash flows at market 
rates that reflect the rates at which similar loans would be made to similar borrowers. These rates reflect 
our assessment of the credit quality and the remaining duration of the loans. The fair value estimates of 
mortgage loans oflower credit quality, including problem and restructured loans, are based on the estimated 
fair value of.the underlying collateral. 
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., . . 

Investment contract liabilities: 
Wilh a.fixed maturity: Fair value is estimated by discounting cash flows at interest rates currently 
being offered by, or available to, us for similar contracts. 
Without a fixed maturity: Fair value is estimated as the amol.lllt payable to the contract holder upon 

. demand. However, we have the right under such contracts to delay payment .of withdrawals that 
may ul_timately result in paying an amount different than that determined to be payable on demand. 

Long·term debt: Fair values are based on quoted market prices for the same or similar issued debt or, if 
no quoted market prices are available, on the current rates estimated to be available to us for debt of similar 
terms and remaining maturities. 

The carrying value and estimated fair value of certain of our financial instruments at December 31, 2011 and 2010 
were as follows: 

(Millions) 

Assets: 

Mortgage loans 

Liabilities: 

Investment contract liabilities: 

With n fixed maturity 

Wit!l(l111;; fixed matu~ity 

Long-1enn deb1 

$ 

2011 

Carrying 
Value· 

1,648.5 

34.6 

543.9 

3,977.7 

$ 

Separate Accounts Measured at F afr Value in our Balan~e ·sheets 

Estfo1ated 
Fair 

Value 

1,703.7 

. 34.9 

559.4 

4,643.l 

$ 

2010 

Carrying 
Value 

1,509.8 

41.7 

SI 1.5 

4,382.5 

$ 

E~tlmated 
Fair 

Value 

1,526.I 

42.7 

510.9 

4,728.9 

· Separate Accounts.assets in our Large Case Pensions business represent funds maintained to meet specific 
objectives of contract holders.· Since contract holders bear the irivestmerit risk of these assets, a corresponding 
Separate Accounts liability has been established equal to the assets. These assets and liabilities are carried at fair 
value. Net investment income and capital gains and losses accrue directly to such contract holders. The assets of 
each account are legally segregated and are not subject to claims arising from our other businesses. Deposits, 
withdraw;ils, net investment income and 'realized and unrealized capital gains and losses on Separate.Accounts 
assets are not reflected in our statements of income, shareholders' equity or cash flows. · 

. . . . . . : . . . . . . . . . ·.~ ~-

Separate Accounts assets include debt and equity securities and derivative instruments. The valuation 
methodologies used for these assets are similar to the methodologies described beginning on page 85. Separate 
Accounts assets have included investments in real estate carried at fair value. Separate Accounts real estate assets 
were transitioned out of our business in the second quarter of 2010. The following is a description of the valuation 
methodologies used to price our real estat~ investments that were carried at fair value, including the general 

· classification pursuant to·the valuation hierarchy. 

Real Estate- The values ofthe underlying real estate investments are estimated using generally accepted 
valuation techniques and give consideration to the investment structure. An appraisal of the underlying real 
estate for each of these investments is performed arumally. In the quarters in which an investment is not 
appraised or ics valuation is not updated, fair value is based on available market information. The valuation 
of a real estate investment· is adjusted only if there has been a significant change in economic circumstances 
related to the investment since acguisition or the most recent independent.valuation and .upon the · 
appraiser's review and concurrence with the valuation. Further; these valuations have been prepared giving 
consideration to the income, cost and sales comparison approaches of estimating property value. These 
valuations do not necessarily represent the prices at which the real estate investments would sell, since 
market prices of real estate investments can only be determined by negotiation between a willing buyer and 
seller. Therefore, these investment values ~re classified as Level 3. 
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Separate Accounts financial assets at December 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

2011 2010 

(Millions) Levell Level 2 Level 3 Total Levell Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Debt securities $ 1,079.1 $ 2,817.8 $ $ 3,896.9 $ 1,059.7 $ 2,524.9 $ 56.0 $ 3,640.6 

Equity securities 936.0 936.0 1,23 \.9 1,231.9 

Derivatives (5.0) (5.0) .2 .2 

Total lll $ . 2,0IS.I $ 2,812.8 s s 4,827.9 $ 2,29\.6 _ _ $. ,2,575.1 $ 56.0 $ 4,872.7 

'(I) Excludes 5390.3 million and $422.6 million of cash and cash equivalents and other receivables at December 31, 201 I and 2010, 
respectively.· 

There were no transfers between Levels l and 2 during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. 

The change in the balance of Level 3 Separate Accounts financial assets for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 
20 I 0 was as follows: 

(Millions) 

Balance at December 31, 2009 

Total losses accrued to contiact holders 

Purchases, i;ales and s-ettlements 

Tral)sfers out of Level 3 

Balance at December 31, 2010 

Total losses accrued to contract holders 

-Purchases 

Sales 

Transfers out of Level 3 

Balance at December 31, 2011 s 

Debt 
Securilies 

97.3 $ 

(60.4) 

19.8 

(.7) 

56.0 

(15.6) 

.4 

(39.7) 

(1.1) 

- s 

Re'al Estate Total 

7J.4 $ 168.7 
5.2 {55.2) 
.2 20.0 

{76.8) (I) (77.5) 

56.0 

(15.6) 

.4 

(39.7) 

(1.1) 

s 

(t) The transfers out of level 3 for 2010 primarily represent real estate Separate Accou11ts assets that were lrl!nsition.ed out of our business in 
· the second quarter of 20 I 0. . · 

11. . Pension and Other Postretireinent Plans 

Defin~d Benefit Retirement Plans 
We sponsor various defined benefit plans, including two pension plans, and OPEB plans that provide certain health 
care and life insurance benefits-for retired employees, including those of our former parent company. 

On August 31, 2010, we announced that pension eligible employees will no longer earn future pension service . 
credits in our. tax-qualified noncontributory defined benefit ·pension plan (the "Aetna Pension Plan'') effective 
December 31, 2010 (i.e., the plan was "frozen"). The Aetna Pension Plan will continue to operate and account 

·balances will c·ontinue to earn annual interest credits. As a result of this action, we re~measured our pension assets 
and obligations as of August 31, 2010. 

During 2011, 2010 and 2009, we made $60 million, $505 million and $45 million, respectively, in voluntary cash 
contributions to the Aetna Pension Plan. 

We also sponsor a non-qualified supplemental pension plan that, prior to January 1, 2007, had been used to provide 
benefits for wages above the Internal Revenue Code wage limits applicable tq tax qualified pension plans (such as 
the Aetna Pension Plan). Effective January 1, 2007, no new benefits accrue under the non-qualified supplemental 
pension plan, bµt interest will continue to be credited on outstanding supplemental cash balance acco~ts; and the 
plan may continue to be used to credit special pension arrangements. 
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In addition, we currently provide certain medical and life insurance benefits for retired employees, including those of 
our fonner parent company. We provide subsidized health care benefits to certain eligible employees who 
terminated employment prior to December 31, 2006. There is a cap on our portion of the cost of providing medical 
and dentaf benefits·to our retirees. Ail current and future retirees and employees who terminate employment at age 
45 or later with at least five years of ser\iice are eligible to participate in our group health plans at their own cost. 

. The information set forth in the following tables is based upon current actuarial reports using the annual 
measurement dates (December 31, for fach,year presented) for our pension and OPEB plans; however, certain 
components of the net periodic cost for the Aetna Pension Plan in 2010 also include adjustments from the re-
measurement that occurred as of August 31, 20 J 0. · 

The following table shows the changes in the benefit obligations during 201 l and 2010 for our pension and OPEB 
plans. · 

· Pension Plans OPEB Plans 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010 
Benefit obligation, beginning of year s S,821.2 $ 5,346. l $ 333.3 s 330.S 

Service cost 65.7 .2 .2 

Interest cost 312.3 299.5 16.6 17.9 

Actuarial loss (gain) 193.6 394.3 (12.S). 10.8 

Benefits paid (296.8) (284.4) (24.9) (26.1) 

Benefit obligation, end of year s 6,130.3 $ 5,821.2 . s 312.7 $ 333.3 

The Aetna Pension Plan comprises approximately 96% of the pension plans' total benefit obligation at December 31, 
2011. The discount rates used to determine, the benefit obligation of our pension and OPEB plans were calculated 
using a yield curve as ofour annual m~asurement date. The yield curve consist~d of a series of individual discount 
rates, with each discount rate corresponding to a single point in time, based on high-quali.ty bonds. Projected benefit 
payments are discounted to the measurement date using the corresponding rate from the yield curve. The weighted 
average discount rate for our pension plans was 4.98% and 5.50% for 2011 and 2010, respectively. The discount rate 

· for our OPEB plans was 4.78% and 5.20% for 2011 and 2010, respectively. The discount rates differ for our pension 
and OPEB plans due to the duration of the projected benefit payments for each plan. 

The following table reconciles the begirming and ending balances of the fair value of plan assets during 201 l and 
2010 for the pension and OPEB plans: · 

(Millions) 

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 

Actual rerum on plan assets 
Employer contributions 

Benefits paid 

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 

s 

s 

Pension Plans 
2011 . 

S,243.8 $ 

265.8 
84.0 

(296.8) 
S,296.8 $ 

2010 

4,394.9 s 
604.7 
528.6 

(284.4) 
5,243.8 S 

OPEB Plans 
. 2011 2010 

66.6 $ 67.9 

1.2 2.0 
21.3 22.8 

(24.9) (26.1) 

64.2 $ 66.6 

The difference between the fair value of plan assets and the plan's benefit obligation is referred to as the plan's 
funded status. This funded status is an accounting-based calculation and is not indicative of our mandatory funding 
requirements, which are described on page 93. 

The funded status of our pension and OPEB plans at the measurement date for 2011 and 2010 were as folJows: 

Pension Plans OPEB Plans 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Benefit obligation s (6,130.3) $ (5,821.2) $ (312.7) $ (333.3) 

Fair value of plan assets S,296.8 S,243.8 64.2 66.6 
Funded s1arus $ (833.S) $ (577.4) s (148.S) $ {266.7) 
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The amounts in accumulate.d other comprehens~ve 19ss that have not yet been recognized in net periodic benefit cost 
as of December 31, 2011and2010 were as follows:' 

•' 
Pension Plans OPEB Plans 

(Millions) 2011 2010 ' 2011 2010 

Unrecognized prior service credit $ (2.4) $ (2.8) $ (37.1) $ (40.8) 

Unrecognized net actuarial losses 2,734.8 2,380.3 86.7 101 .7 

Amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (2,732.4) $ (2,377.5) $ (49.6) $ (60.9) 

The liabilities recognized on our bal~ce sheets at December 31, 2011 and 2010 for our pension and OPEB plans 
were comprised of.the following: 

Pe'nsion Plans OPEB Plans 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Accrued benefit liabilities reflected in other current liabilities $ 82.6 $ 84.6 $ 24.0 s 26.9 

Accrued benefit liabilities reflected in other long-tenn liabilities 750.9 492.8 224.S 239.8 
Net amount ofliabilities recognized at December 31, $ 833.5 $ 577.4 $ 248.S $ 266.7 

At'December 31, 2011, we had approximately $2.7 billion and $87 million of net actuarial losses for our pension and 
OPEB plans, respectively, and approximately $2 million and $37 million of prior service credits for our pension and 
OPEB plans, respectively, that have not been recognized as components of net periodic benefit costs. We expect to 
recognize approximately $70 million and $4 million in amortization of net actuarial losses for our pension and OPEB 
plans, respectively, and approximately $4 million in amortizaticmof prior service credits for our OPEB plans in 
2012. Our amortization of prior service credits for our perisionplans in 2012 is not expected to be material. 

Components of the net periodic benefit (income) cost of our tax-qualified noncontributory defined benefit pension 
plans and OPEB plans for December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 

Pension Plans OPED Plans 

(Millions) lOII 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009 

Operating compoJ!enr: 

Service cost s $ 65.7 $ 48.3 $ .2 $ .2 $ .2 

~onization.of prior service cost (.4) '(1.6) (2.2) (3.7) (3 .6) (3.7) 

Curtailment gain · (I 1.9) 

Total operating component clj (.4) 52.2 46.1 (3.S) (3 .4) (3 .5) 

Financing component: 

Interest cost 312.3 299.5 316.S 16.6 17.9 21.7 

Expecied rerum on plan ~sets (385.0) (350.9) (319.0) (3.6) (3.7) (3 .6) 

Recognized net actuarial losses 58.3 163.3 215.S 4.9 4.6 3.4 

Total financing component 11! (14.4) 111.9 213.3 17.9 18.8 21.5 

Net periodic benefit (income) cost . $ (14.8) $ 164.J $ 259.,4 $. .14.4 $ 15.4 $ IS.O 

[1) 
The operating component of this expense is allocated to our business segments and the financing component is allocated to our Corporate 
Financing segment. ·our Corporate Financing segment is not a business segment but is added to our business segments to reconcile to our 
consolidated results. Refer to Note 19 beginning on page 108 for additional infonnation on our business segments. 

As a result of the August 31, 2010 announcement freezing the Aetna Pension Plan and related requirement to 
remeasure the Aetna Pension Plan's obligations and plan assets as of August 31, 2010, our pension obligation 
increased by approximately $743 milli.on (due primarily to a lower discount rate), accumulated other comprehensive 
income decreased by approximately $836 million ($543 million after-tax), and the fair value 9f plan assets increased 
by approximately $156 million. In perfonning this re-measurement, we used a discount rate of 4.77%, consistent 
with our method.ology for detennining the discount rate using a yield curve, and an expected long-term rate of return 
of 7. 50%. Adqitionally, as a result of this re-measurement, we revised the ~ortization period we use for actuarial 
gains and losses from 9 years to 31 years, reflecting the estimated average remaining participation period for current 
participants. 
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Our voluntary contribution of $505 million to the Aetna Pension Plan in 2010_ and the higher fair value of our 
pension assetS-at December 31;20Hi also contributed to the decrease in pension expensebetWeen 2010 and 2009. 
The re-measurement of the Aetna Pension Plan's obligations and plan assets also resulted in $12 million of one-time 
curtailment gains in the third quarter of io 10. 

The weighted average assumptions ~sed to determine net periodic benefit (income) cost in 2011, 2010 and 2009 for 
!he pl:nsion and OPE-B plans were as follows: 

Pension Plans OPED Plans 
2011 2010 2009 2011 - 2010 2009 

Discount rate --S.50% : 5.67% 6.8.9% - S.20% 5.64% 6.92% 

Expected long-tenn return on plan asse_ts 7.50 8.00 8.50 s.so 5.50 5.50 

Rate _o_f increase in funire compensatio~- levels NIA 4.51 . -4.Si 

We assume different health care co.st trend rates for medical costs and prescription drug costs in estimating the 
expected costs ofour OPEB plans. The ~ssumed-medical cost trend rate for 2012is1%, decreasing gradually to 5% 
by 2014. The assumed prescription drug cost_trend rate for 2012 is i2%, decreasing gradually to 5% by 2019. These 
asrumptions reflect our historical as ~ell ·_as expected future trends for retirees. In ·addition, the. trend assumptions 
reflect factors specific to our retiree medical plan, ·such as plan design, cost-shari_ng provisions, benefits covered and 
the presence of subsidy caps. A one~percentage point increase in both the assumed medical cost and assumed 
prescription drug cost trend rates.would result in an approximately $0.6 million pretax increase in the aggregate of 
the service and interest cost components ofOPEB costs and an approximately $12 million increase in the OPEB 
benefit obligation. A ~:me-percentage point decrease in both the assumed medical c;ost and assumed pre.scriptlon drug 
cost trend rates would· result in an approximately $0.5 million pretax -decrease in the-aggregate of the service and -
interest cost components of OPEB costs and an approximately $I 0 million decrease in the OPEB· benefit obligation. 

Our current funding strategy is to fund an amount at least equal to the minimum funding requirement as detennined 
under applicable regulatory requirements with consideration of factors such as the maximum tax deductibility of 

. :;uch rnnounts. We do not have any mandatory contribution requirements for 2012; however, we may make a 
volwltary contribution of approximately $60 million to the Aetna Pension Plan in 2012. Employer contributions 

. related to the supplemerital pension and OPEB plans represent payments to retirees for current benefits. We have no 
plans to return any pension or OPEB plan assets to .the Company in 2012. . 

Expected benefit payments, which rdlect future employee service, as appropriate, of the pension and OPEB plans to 
be paid for each of the next five years and in the aggregate for the next five years thereafter at Dece_mber 31, 2011 
were as follows: 

Pension OPED 
(Millions) Plans Plans 

2012 $ 326.8 $ 24.0 

2013 333.5 23.6 

2014 34 1.0 23.4 

2015 362.1 23.2 

2016 368.6 22.9 

2017-2021 1.91 2.6 106.0 -
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Assets of the Aetna Pension Plan 1 

The assets of the Aetna Pe~sion Plan ('~Pension Assets~') include debt and equity securities, common/collective trusts 
and real estate investments. The valuation methodologies used to price the.se assets are similar to the methodologies 
described beginning on pages 85 and 88. Pension Assets also include investments in o¢er ass.ets that are carried at 
fair value. The following is a description of the valuation methodology used to price these additional investments, 
including the general classification pursuant to the valuation hierarchy. 

Other Assets - Other assets consist of derivatives and private equity and hedge fund limited partnerships . 
. Derivati.-es are ei~er valued with models that primarily use market observable. inputs and therefore are 
classified .as Level 2 because they are traded in markets where quoted m~ket prices are not readily available 
or are classified as Level 1 because they are traded in markets whe~e quoted market prices are readily 
available; The fair value of private equity and hedge fund limited partnerships are estimated based on the net 
asset value of the-investment fund provided by the general partne.r or manager of the investments, the 

. fin~ncial statements of which generally are audited. Managemerit considers observable market data, 
valuation procedures in place, contributions and withdrawal restrictions collectively in validating the 
appropri.ateness of using the net asset value as a fair value measurement. Therefore, these investments are 
classified as Level 3. 

Pension Assets with changes in fair value measured on a recurring basis, asset allocation and the target asset 
allocation presented as a percentage of the total plan assets at December 31, 2011 \Vere as follows; 

Actual Target 
(Millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Allocation . Allocation 

Debt securities: 37-43.% 

U.S. government securities $ 103.6' $ 423.9 $ s 527.5 10.3% 

States, municipalities a.nd political subdivi~ions 102.4 102.4 2.0% 

U.S. coiporate securities 903.5 .I 903.6 17.6% 

Foreign securities 112.0 112.0 2.2% 

Residential mortgage-backeq securities · 171.9 171.9 3.3% 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 37.0 37.0 .7% 

Other asset-backed securities 15.3 .I 15.4 .3% 

Redeemable preferred securities 11.8 11.8 .2%· 

Total debt securities 103.6 1,777.8 .2 1,881.6 36.6% 

Equity securities and conunon/collective trusts: . 43-53% 

U.S. Domestic 1,174.2 .2 1,174.4 2~.8% 

International 620.4 620.4. l2.l % 
Common/collective trusts 774.6 774.6 . JS.I% 

Domestic real estate 20.3 20.3 . .4% 

Total equity securities an,d common/collective trusts 1,814.9 774.8 2,589.7 50.4% 

Other investments: 10-14% 

Real estate 433.2 433.l 8.5% 

Other assets 232.2 232.2 4.5% . 

Total pension-investments !ll s . 1,918.5 $ 2,552.6 s 665.6 $ !\;IJ6.7 . 100% 

(I) Excludes $160. I million of cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. 
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Pension Assets with changes in fair value measured on a recurring basis, asset allocation and the target asset 
allocation presented as ·a percentage of the total plan· assets at December 3 j, 2010 were as follows: · · 

Actual Target 
(Millions) Level I Level 2 Level 3 Total Allocation Allocation 

Debi securities: 28-38% 

U.S. government securities $ 232.7 $ 30.0 $ $ 262.7 5.2% 

States, municipalities and political subdivisions 70.8 70.8 1.4% 

U.S. corporate securities 673.3 673.3 13.2% 

Foreign securities 76.1 76.1 1.5% 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 296.0· .7 296.7 5.8% 

Commertial mortgage-backed securities 37.5 37-5 .7% 

Other asset~backed securities 36.I 36.1 . . 7% 

. Redeemable preferred securities . : ; . 2.2 2.2 -% 

Total debtsecurities 232.7 1,222.0 .7 1,455.4 28.5% 

Equity securities and common/collective trusts: 48-58% 

U.S. Domestic 1,281.1 1.8 1,282.9 25.1% 

International 871.5 871.S 17.1% 

Common/collective trusts 866.3 866.3 17.0% 

Domestic real estate 31.8 3 l.8 .6% 

Total equity securities and common/collective trusts 2,184.4 868.1 3,052.5 59.8% 

Other investments: 10-18% 

Real estate 395.3 395.3 7.7% 

Other assets .J 203.6 203.9 .4.0%. 

Total pension investments (I) $ 2,417.1 $ 2,090.4 $ 599.6 $ 5,107.1 100.0% 

Cl) Excludes $136. 7 million of cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. 

The changes in the balances of Level 3 Pension Assets during 2011 were as follows: 

2011 

Real Estate Other Total 

Beginning balance s 395.3 s 204.3 s 599.6 

Actual return on plan assets 49.4 14.9 64.3 

Purchases, sales and settlements (11.5) 13:9 2.4 

transfers out of Level 3 (~7) (.7) 

Ending balance $ 433.2 s 232;4 s . 665.6 

The changes in the balances of Level 3 Pension Assets during 2010 were as follows: 

2010 

Real Estate Other Total 

Beginning balance $ 353.0 $ 151.4 $ 504.4 

Actual return on plan assets 54.0 12.4 66.4 

Purchases, sales and settlements ( I t.7) 40.5 28.8 

Transfers out of Le\'el 3 

Ending·balance $ 395.J . $ ·204:3 $ 599.6 
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The actual and. target asset ~llocation of the OPEB plans used at December 31, 2011 and 2010 presented as a 
percentage of total plan assets, were as follows: · 

Target Target 

(Millions) 2011 Allocation 2010 Allocation 

Equity· securities 9% 5-15% 8% 5-15% 

Debt securities 87% 80-90% 90% 80-90% 

Real estate/other 4% 0-10% 2% 0-10% 

The Aetna Pension Plan invests in a diversified mix of assets intended to maximize long-tenn returns while 
recognizing the need for adequate liquidity to meet ongoing benefit and administrative obligations. The risk of 
unexpected investment and actuarial outcomes is regularly evaluated. This evaluation is performed through 
forecasting and assessing ranges of investment outcomes over short- and long-term horizons, and by assessing the 
Aetna Pension Plan's liability characteristics, our financial condition and our future potential obligations from both 
the pension and general corporate perspectives. Complementary investment styles and techniques are utilized by 
multiple profes~ional investment firms to further improve portfolio and operational ris~ characteristics: Public and 
private equity investments are used primarily to increase overall plan returns. Real estate investments are viewed 
favorably for their diversification benefits and above-average dividend generation. Fixed income investments 
provide diversification benefits and liability hedging attributes that are desirable, especially in falling interest rate 
environments. 

Asset allocations and investment performance are fonnatly reviewed periodically throughout the year by the plan's 
Benefit Finance Committee. Forecasting of asset and liability growth is performed at least annually. More thorough 
analyses of assets and liabilities are.also performed periodically. 

We have several benefit plans for retired employees currently supported by .the OPEB plan assets. OPEB plan assets 
are directly and indirectly invested in a diversified mix of tn~ditional asset classes, primarily high-quality fixed 
income securities. 

Our expected return on plan assets assumption is based on many factors, including forecasted capital market real 
returns over a long-term horizon, forecasted inflation rates, historical compounded asset returns and patterns and 
correlations on those returns. Expectations for modest increases in interest rates, normal. inflation trends and average 
capital market real returns fod us to an expected return on the Pension Assets assumption of?.50% for 2011, 8.25% 
for January 1, 2010 through August 31, 2010 and 7.50% for September 1, 2010 through December 31 ,. 2010 and an 
expected return on OPEB plan assets assumption of 5.50% for 2011 and 5.50% for 2010. We regularly review actual 
assei allocations and periodically rebalance our investments to the mid-point of our targeted allocation ranges when 
we consider it appropriate. At December 31, 2011 , our actual asset allocations were consistent wit~ our asset 
allocation assumptions. Investment returns can be volatile. Although our return on plan assets is a long-term 
assumption, shorter-term vol~tility in our annual pension costs can occur If investment returns differ from the 
assumed rate. For example, a one-percentage point deviation from the long-term 7.50% return assuniption that we 
will use for 2012 would impact our annual pension expense by approximately $4 million after-tax and would have a 

negligible effect on our arurnal OPEB expense. 

40l(k) Plan 
Our employees are .eligible fo participate iri a de.fined contribution retirement savings plan under which designated 
contributions may be invested in our common stock or certain other investments. Beginning October 20 I 0, we 
increased our 40l(k)contribµtion to provide a match of 100%of up to .6% of the eligible pay contributed by the 
employee. From January I, 2010 to October I, 2010, we matched 50% ofup to 3% of the eligible pay contributed 
by the employee. Prior to January 1, 2010, we matched 50% of up to 6% of the elig ible pay contributed by the 
employee. During 2011 , 2010 and 2009, we made $114 million, $53 million and $49 million, respectively, in 
matching contributions. The matching contributions are made in cash and invested according to each participant's 
investment elections. The plan trustee held approximately 9 million shares of our common stock for plan 
participants at December 31, 2011 . At December 31 , 2011, approximately 34 million shares of our common stock 
were reserved for issuance under our 401 (k) plan. 
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12. Stock-based Einployee Incentive Plans 

Our stock-based employee compensation plans (collectively, the "Plans") provide for awards of stock options, 
SA Rs. restricted stock units ("RSUs"), market stock units ("MSUs"), performance stock units ("PSUs"), deferred 
con1i11ge111 common stock and the ability for employees to purchase common stock at a discount. At December 
31, 2011, approximately 52 million common shares were available for issuance under the Plans. Executive, 
middle management and non-management employees may be granted stock options, SARs, RSUs, MSUs and 
PSUs, each of which are desc"ribed below: 

Stock Options and SARs - We have not granted stock options ~ince 2005, but some remain outstand.ing. 
Stock options were granted to pure.base our common stock at or i;ibove the market 'price on the date of grant. 
. SARs granted· wili be ·settled· in stock, net of taxes, based on the appreciation of o~ stock price on the 
exercise date over the market price on the date of grant. SARs and stock options generally become l 00% 
vested tluee years after the grarit is made, with one-third vesting each year. Vested SARs and stock options 
may be exercised at any time during the ten years after grant, except in certain circumstances, generally 
related to employment termination or retirement. At the end of the ten-year period, any unexercised SARs 
and stock optiOns expire. 

RSUs - For each RSU granted, employees receive one share of common stock, net of taxes, at the end of 
the vesting period. For RSUs granted prior to 2010, the RSUs will generally become 100% vested three 
years after the grant is made, with one-third vesting each year. Beginning in 2010, the RSUs generally will 

. become 100% vested approximately three years from the grant date; with .one-third vesting each December. 

MS Us - The number of vested M~Us (which could range from zero to I 50% of the original number of units 
granted) is dependent on the weighted average closing price of our common stock for the thirty trading 
ctays, including .the vesting. date. The MSUs have an approximately two-year vesting period. 

PSUs - The number of vested PSUs (which could range from zero to 200%. of the original number of units 
granted) is dependent upon the degree to which we achieve performance goals as determined by our 
Board's Committee on Compensation and Organization (the "Compensation Committee"). The value of 
each vested PSU is equal to one share of common stock, net of taxes. the PSUs have an approximately 
two-year vesting period. The performance period for the 201 I and 2010 PSU grants ended on December 
31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The PSUs granted in 2011 will vest at 200% ofth,e origin;) n.umber of . 
units granted, and the PSUs granted in 2010 vested ~t 200% of the original number of unit;granted, as the 
Compensation Committee has determined. that the underlying performance goals have been met at the 
maximum level. The PSUs granted in 2009 did not vest as the underlying performance metric was not 
achieved by December 31, 2010. 

We estimate the fair value o(SARs using a modified Black-Scholes option pricing model. We did not grant a 
material amount ofSARs in 2011or2010. SARs granted in 2009 had a weighted average per share fair value of 
$I 1.3 7, using the assumptions noted in the·following table: · 

Dividend yield 
Expected volatility 

Risk-free interest rate 
Expected tenn 

2009 
.1% 

39.8% 

J.8% 
4.6 years 

We use historical data to estimate the period of time that stock options or SARs are expected to be outstanding. 
Expected volatilities are based on a weighted average of the historical volatility of oilr stock price and implied 
volatility from traded options on our stock. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the expected life of the 
stock option or SAR is based on the benchmark five-year U.S. Treasury rate in effect on the date of grant. The 
dividend yield asswnption is based on our historical dividends declared. · 
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The stock option and SAR transactions d\iring 2011, 2010 arid 2009 were as follows: 

Weighted 
Average Weighted Aggregate 

Number of Stock Exercise Average Remaining Intrinsic 
(Millions, except exercise price and remaining life) Options and'SARs Price Contractual Life Value 

2009 

Outstanding, beginning of year 41.9 $ 27.50 4 .9 $ 347.0 

Granted 5.6 32.00 

Exercised (2.5) 10.01 46.9 

Expired or forfeite.d (.9) 36.34 

Outstanding, end of year 44.1 $ 28.88 4.7 $ 356.6 

Exercisable, end of year 34.6 $ 26.16 3.7 $ 355.0 

2010 

Outstanding, begiMing of year 44.I $ 28.88 4.7 $ 356.6 

Granted 
(I) 29.20 

Exercised (5.0) 10.65 102.4 

Expired or forfeited (1.3) 37.32 

Outstanding. end of year 37.8 s 31.01 4 .1 s 232.9 

Exercisable, end of year 33.3 $ 30.22 3.6 $ 232.1 

2011 

Outstandirig. beginning of year 37.8 .$ 31.01 4.1 s 232.9 

Gran.led .1 36.87 

Exercised (10.0) 17.35 228.8 

Expired or forfeited . (1.6) 47.95 

Outstanding, end of year 26.3 S · 35.18 4.0 s 246.3 

Exercisable, end of year 24.7 $ 35.38 3.8 s 230.6 

(I) Rounds to zero. 

The following is a summary of information regarding stock options and SARs outstanding and exercisable at 
December 31, 2011: 

Outstanding Exercisable 

Weighted 
Average Weighted Weighted 

Number 
Remaining Average Aggregate Average Aggregate 

Contractual Exercise Intrinsic Number Exercise - Intrinsic 
Range of Exerdse Prices Outstanding Life (Years) Price Value . Exercisable Price Value 

$0.00-$ I 0.00 .5 .I s 8.94 $ 18.3 .5 s 8.94 $ 18.3 

10.00-20.00 5.6 1.7 16.12 146.5 5.6 ·~-12 146.5 

20.00-30.00 .2 5.6 24.54 3.6 .2 24.57 3.3 

30.00-40.00 8.4 4.9 32.89 77.9 6.8 33.06 62.S 

40.00-50.00 4.7 4.S 43.24 4.7 43.24 

50.00-60.00. 6.9 4.6 50.51 6.9 . 50.51 

$0.00-$60.00 26.3 4.0 $. 35.18 $ 246.3 24.7 $ 35.38 $ 230.6 
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The fair value of RSUs and PSUs are based on the. market price of our common stock on the date of grant. 
Beginning in 2010, we granted MSUs to certain employees. We estimate the fair value ofMSUs using a Monte 
Carlo simulation. MSUs granted in 2011 and 2010 had a weighted average per share fair value of$38.79 and 
$33.85," respectively, using the assumptions noted in the following table: 

20Jl :ZOIO 

Dividend yield 1.6% .1% 

Historical volatility 36.5% 58. 7% 

Risk-free interest rate .6% .9% 

Initial price $ 36.87 $ 29.20 

The annualized volatility of the price of our common stock over the 22 month.and two-year periods preceding the 
grant date was used at DecemberJl, 2011 and.2010, respectively. The risk-free interest rate for periods within 
the expected life of the MSUs are based on a 22 month interpolated and tWo-year U.S. Treasury rate in effect on 
the date of grant for the the MSUs granted during 2011and2010, respectively. The dividend yield assumption 
for 2011 was based oil our expected 20i1 ·annual dividend payout and the io 10 dividend yield assumption was 
based on our historical dividends declared. 

RSV, MSU and PSU transactions in 201l,2010 and 2009 were as follows (number of units in millions): 

2011 

Weighted 
RSUs, Average 
MS Us Grant Date 

and PSUs 

RSUs, MSUs and PSUs a1 beginning of year (I) 5.0 $ 

Gra:ncd 3.9 

Vesied (1.3) 

Forfeited (.9) 

RS Us, MSUs and PSUs at end of year 6.7 $ 

<
1
> There were no MSU transactions prior to February 2010. 

<
2
> Rounds to zero. 

Fair Value 

31.16 

37.43 

33.34 

33.65 

33.6:Z 

20IO 

Weighted 
RS Us, Average 
MSUs Grant Date 

and PSUs Fair Value 

3.1 $ 34.60 

3.8 29.22 

(1.3) 34.22 

(.6) 34.7& 

S.O $ 31.16 

During 2011, 2010 and 2009, the following activity occurred under the Plans: 

(Millions) 

Cash received from stock option exercises 
Intrinsic value of options/SARs exercised and stock uni is vested 
Tax benefits realized for the tax dedu_ctions from stock options and SARs exercised and stock units vested 

Fair value of stock options, SARs and stock units vested (ll 

s 

2009 
Weighted 

RS Us, 
Average 

Grant Date 
and PSUs Fair Value 

2.4 $ 42.98 

1.8 30.27 

(I.I) 45.1 I 
(2) 

38.56 

3.1 $ 34.60 

2011 2010 2009 

125.5 $ 43.2 $ 14.9 

280.7 140.3 80.9 

98.2 49.i 27.6 

98.5 I05 .7 98.7 

<•l The fair value represents the total dollar value of the stock options, SARs and stock units as of the grant date. 

We settle our stock options, SARs and stock units with newly-issued common stock and generally utilize the 
proceeds from stock options to repurchase our common stock in the open market in the s~e period. 

In 2011, 2010 and 2009 we recorded share-based compensation expense of$141 million, $110 million and $91 
million, respectively, in general and administrative expenses. We also recorded related tax benefits of$47 million, 
S30 million and $32 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. At December.31, 2011, $93 million of total 
unr~cognized compensation costs related to stock options, SARs and stock units is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of 1.3 years. 
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13. Income Taxes 

The components ofour income tax provision in 2011, 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Current taxes: 

Federal s 935.8 $ 555.9 $ 657.4 

State 101.0 22.8 61.2 

Total current taxes 1,036.8 578.7 718.6 

Deferred taxes (benefits): 

Federal 50.0 288.3 (81.1) 

State 5.3 10.4 (12.8) 

Total deferred income taxes 55.3 298.7 (93.9) 

Total income taxes · $ 1,092.1 $ 877.4 $ 624.7 

Income taxes were different from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to income 
before income taxes as follows: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Income before income taxes $ 3,0i7.8 $ 2,644.2 s· -.· 1,901.2 

Tax rate 35% 35% 35% 

Application of the tax rate 1,077.2 925.5 665.4 

Tax effect of: 

Valuation allowance (36.6) (19.4) 

Other, net 14.9 (I I .5) (21.3) 

Income taxes s 1,092.t $ 877.4 $ 624.7 

The significant components of our net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 

Deferred tax assets: 
Reserve f~r anticipated future losses on discontinued products $ 166.6 $ 201.0. 

Employee and postretirement benefits 550.4 488.8 

Investments, net 102.4 133.8 

Deferred policy acquisition costs 40.6 41.9 

Insurance reserves 139.8 107.2 

Net operating losses 46.8 33.2 

Severance and facilities 48.5 19.3 

Other 83.1 71.0 

Gross deferred iax assets 1,172.2 l,096.2 

Less: Valuation allowance 35.7 33.0 

Deferred tax assets, net .of valuation allowance 1,136.S 1,063.2 

Deferred tax liabilities: 

Unrealized gains on investment securities 333.3 227.7 

Goodwill and other acquired intangible assets 396.1 267.0 

Cumulatiye depreciation and amor:tization 228.7 211.6 

Total gross deferred tax liabilities 958.1 706.3 

Net deferred tax assets (I) $ 178.4 s 356.9 

(I) Includes $387 .2 million and $327.0 million classified as current assets at December 31, 2011 and 20 l 0, re$pectively. 
Includes $208.8 million classified as Iong-tenn liabilities and $29.9 million classified as long-tenn a5sets at December 31, 
2011 and 2010, respectively. · ·. 
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V:1hrntion allowances are provided when we estimate that it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not 
be realized. A valuation allowance has been established on certain federal and state net operating losses and 
acquired credits. We base our estimates of the future realization of deferred tax assets on historic and anticipated 
taxable income. However, the amount. of the deferred tax assets considered realizable could be adjusted in the future 
if we revise our estimates of anticipated taxable income. 

We participate in the Compliance Assurance Process (the "CAP") with the IRS. Under the CAP, the IRS undertakes 
audit procedures during the tax year and as the return is prepared for filing. The IRS has concluded its CAP audit of 
our 2010 tax return as well as al,I the prior years. We expect the. IRS. will conclude its CAP audit of our 2011 tax 
return in 2012. 

We are also subject to audits by state t3Xing authorities for tax years from 2000 through 2010. Our 2011 income tax 
provision reflects a non-recurring provision related to a legacy state tax matter. We believe we carry appropriate 
reserves for any exposure to stafe.tax issues. 

At December 31, 2011 and 20i 0, we did not have material uncertain tax positions reflected in our consolidated 
balance sheets. 

We paid net income taxes of$899 million, $674 million and $634 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

14. Debt 

The carrying value of our long-term debt at December 31, 2011 and 2010 was as follows: 

(Millions) 

Senior notes, 5.75o/o, due 2011 111 

Senior notes, 7.875%, due 2011 cii 

Senior notes, 6.0%, due 2016 

Senior notes, 6.5%, due 2018 · 

Senior notes, 3.95'Yo, due 2020 

Senior notes, 4. I 2So/o, due 2021 

Senior notes, 6.625%, due 2036 

Senior notes, 6.75%, due 2037 

Total long~tenn debt .. 

s 

$ 

2011 

748.0 

499.1 

742.6 

493;4 

798.7 

695.9 

3,977.7 

2010 

$ 450.0 

449.9 

747.6 

498.9 

741.7 

798.7 . 
695.7 

$ .·.· 4,382.5 

'ol The 5.75% senior notes and the 7.875% senior f!Otes were repaid in June 2011 and March 2011, respectively. These were 'classified as 
current in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 20 JO. 

In 2011, we entered into two interest rate swaps with an aggregate notional value of $250 million. We designated 
these swaps as cash flow hedges against interest rate exposure related lo the forecasted future issuance of fixed-rate 
debt. At December 31, 2011, these interest rate swaps had an aggregate fair value loss of $6 million, which was 
reflected i~: accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

In May 201 I, we issued $500 million of 4.125% senior notes due 2021 (the "2011 senior notes") in anticipation of 
the scheduled maturity ofO\ir 5.75% senior notes due June 201 I. In the first half of 2011, prior to issuing the 2011 
senior notes, we entered into two interest rate swaps with an aggregate notional value of$250 million and 
designated those interest rate swaps as a hedge against interest rate exposi.ire related to the fote·cast issuance of that 
fixed-rate debt. We terminated the swaps concurrently with issuing the 2011 senior notes and upon termination of 
the swaps, paid $9 million to.the swap counterparty. The related $9 million loss is recorded in accumulated other 
comprehensive income and is being amortized as interest expense over the ten-year life of the 2011 senior notes. 
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In August 2010, we issued $750 million of 3.95% senior notes due 2020 (the "2010 senior notes") in anticipation of 
the 2011 scheduled maturity of certai·n of our senior notes. In connection with this debt issuance, we terminated 
five for-ward-starting interest rate swaps (with an aggregate notional value of $500 'million) that we held~ a hedge 
against interest rate exposilre in anticipation of this issuance. Upon termination of the swaps, we paid $38 million 
to our cow1terparties, which was recorded in other comprehensive income and is being amortized as an increase to 
interest expense over the life of the 2010 senior notes. 

At December 31, 2011, we had approximately $426 million of conunercial paper outstanding with-a weighted 
average interest rate.of .38%. At December 31, 2010, we did not have any commercial paper outstanding. 

We paid $25•1 million, $243 million and $244 million in interest in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

At December 31, 201 I, we had an unsecured $1.5 billion revolving credit agreement (the "Facility") with several 
financial institutions which terminates in March 2013. The Facility provides for.the issuance of up to $200 million 
of letters of credit at our request, which count as usage of the available commitments under the Facility. Upon.our 
agreement-with one or more financial institutions, we may expand the aggregate commitments under the Facility to 
a maximum of $2.0 billion. Various interest rate options are available under the Facility. Any revolving borrowings 
mature on the termination date of the Facility. We pay facility fees on the Facility ranging from .045% to .175% per 
annum, depending upon our long-tenn senior unsecured debt rating. The facility fee was .06°!o at December 31, 
2011. The Facility contains a financial covenant that requires us to maintain a ratio of total debt to consolidated 
capitalization as of the end of each fiscal quarter at or below .5 to 1.0. For this purpose, consolidated capitalization 
equals the sum of total sharehoiders' equity, excluding any overfunded or underfunded status of our pension and 
OPEB plans and any net uruealized capital gains and losses, and total debt (as defined in the Facility). We met this 
·requirement at December 31 , 20 l l. There were no amounts outstanding under the Facility at any time during the 
year ended December 3 I, ·2011.. . . . 

15. Capital Stock 

From time to time, our Board authorizes us to repurchase our common stock. The activity under Board authorized 
share repurchase programs in 2011, 20 I 0 and 2009 was as follows: 

Shares Purchased 

2011 2010 2009 

Purchase 
Not to 

(Millions)· ·Exceed Shares Cost Shares Cost Shares Cost 

Authorization date: · 

September 23, .2011 $ 750.0 7.9 $ 327.8 s $ 

May 20, 201 I 750.0 19.3 750.0 

December 3, 2010 750.0 17.9 735.2 .4 14.8 

July 30, 2010 1,000.0 32.9 1,000.0 

February 27, 2009 750.0 19.1 591.2 5.3 I 58.8 

June 27, 2008 150.0 23.6 614.2 

Total repurchases NIA 45.1 s 1,813.0 52.4 $ 1,606.0 28.9 $ 773.0 

Repµrchase '!-Uthonz.ati~n remaining at.Qcc;embcr-31 .. . NiA S. 422.2 , ·N/A"S· . 735.2 ' •·. ·NIA$ 591.2 . 

In February 2011, we announced that our Board increased our cash di\lidend to shareholders to $.15 per share and 
moved us to a quarterly dividend payment cycle. On December 2, 2011 , we announced that our Board increased 
the Company's quarterly cash dividend to shareholders to $.175 per share. Prior to February 2011 , our policy had 
bee.n to pay an annual dividend of$.04 per share. 
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Tn 2011 our Board declared the following cash dividends: 

Dividend Amount . Stockholders of Date Paid/ Total Dividends 
Date Dedared Per Share Record Date To be Paid (Millions) 

February 3, 2011 $ .IS April 14, 2011 April 29, 2011 $ 57.0 

May 20, 2011 . IS Julyl4,2011 July 29, 2011 55.9 

September 23, 2011 . .15 October 13, 2011 . October 28, 20 I I 54.3 

December 2, 2011 .175 January 13, 2012 January 27, 2012. 61.2 

Declaration and payment of future dividends is at the discretion of om Board and may be adjusted as business needs 
or·market conditions change. 

In addition to the common sfock disclosed on our balance sheets, 8 million shares of Class A voting preferred stock, 
$.01 par value per share, have bee:n authorized. At December 31, 2011, there were also 368 million undesignated 
shares that our Board has the power to divide into such classes and series, with such voting rights, designations, 
preferences, limitations and sp·ecial rights as our Board determines. 

16. Dividend Restrictions and, Statutory Surplus 

Our business operations are conducted through subsidiaries that principally consist ofHMOs and insurance 
companies. In addition to general state law restrictions oii payments of dividends and other distributions to 
shareholders applicable to all corporations, HMOs and insurance companies are subject to further regulations that, 
among other things, may require such companies to maintain certain levels of equity and restrict the amount of 
dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their parent corporations. The additional regulations 
applicable to our HMO and in~~rance company subsidiaries are not expected to affect our ability to service our 
debt or to pay dividends. · 

Under regulatory requirements at December 31, 2011, the amount of dividends that may be paid by our insurance 
and HMO subsidiaries without prior approval by regulatory authorities is approximately $1.6 billion in the 
aggregate. There are no such restrictions c;m distributions from Aetna to its s.hareholders. During 2011, our 
insurance and HMO subsidiaries paid approximately $2.5 billion of dividends to the Company. 

The combined statutory net income for the years ended and combined statutory capital and surplus at December 
3 1, 20 I I, 20 l 0 and 2009 for our insurance and HMO subsidiaries were as follows: 

(Millions) 

Starutory net income 

Statutory capital and surplus 

17. Reinsurance 

2011 

s 1,871.7 $ 

S,938.6 

> 
2010 2009 

1,779.7 $- .. :- 1,308.B 

6,179.2 ; .- . 6,777.1 

Effective October 1, 1998, we reinsured certain policyholder liabilities and obligations related to individual life 
insurance (in ~qnj1:1P~~~on with our former parent company's sale ~f this business).· These. transactions were in the 
form of indemnity reinsurance arrangements, whereby the ass~ing companies contractually assumed certain 
policyholder liabilities and obligations, although we remain directly obligated to policyholders. The liability 
related 10 our obligation is recorded in future policy benefits and policyholders' funds on our balance sheets. 
Assets related to and supporting these policies were transferred to the assuming companies, and we recorded a 
reinsurance recoverable. 

There is not a material difference between premiums on a written basis versus an earned basis. Reinsurance 
recoveries were approximately $83 million, $66 million and $56 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
Reinsurance recoverables related to these obligations were approximately $1 billion at December 31, 2011, 2010 
and 2009. At December 31, 2011 reinsurance recoverables with a carrying value of approximately $906 million 
were associated with three reinsurers. 
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During 2010 and 201 l, we entered into agreements to reinsure certain Health Care insurance policies. We entered 
into contracts to reduce the risk of catastrophic loss which in tum reduces our statutory capital and smplus 
requirements. These contracts did not qualify for reinsurance accounting under GAAP, and consequently are 
accowited for using deposit accounting. -

Effective 2011; we entered into certain three-year reinsurance agreements with unrelated insurers. These 
agreements allow ~s to reduce our required statutory capital and provide an aggregate of $390 million of 
collateralized excess of loss reinsurance coverage on a portion of Aetna's group Commercial Insured Health Care 
business. 

18. Commitments and Contingencies 

Guarantees 
We have the following guarantee arrangements at December 31, 2011. 

ASC Cl~im Funding Accounts - We have arrangements with certain banks for the processing of claim 
payments for our_ ASC customers. The banks maintain accounts to fund claims of our ASC customers. The 
customer is responsible for funding the amount paid by the bank each day. In these arrangements, we 
guarantee that the banks will not sustain losses if the responsible ASC customer does not properly fund its 
account. The aggregate maximum exposure under these arrangements is $250 million. We can limit our 

_ exposure to this guarantee by suspending the payment of claims for ASC customers that have not 
adequately funded the amount paid by the bank. 

Indemnification Agreements - In connection with- certain acquisitions and dispositions of assets and/or 
businesses, our various issuances of long~term debt and our reinsurance relationships with Vitality Re 
Limited and Vitality Re II Limited, we have incurred.certain customary indemnification obligations to the 
appli-cable seller, purchaser, underwriters_ and/or various other participants. In general, we have agreed to 
indemnify the other party for cenain losses relating to the assets or business that we purchased or sold or 
for other matters on tenns that are customary for similar transactions. Certain portions of our -
indemnification obligations are capped at the applicable transaction price, while other arrangements are not -
subject to such a limit. At December 31, 2011, we do not believe that our future obligations under any of 
these agreements will be material to our financial position. 

Separate Accounts assets - Certain Separate Accounts assets associated with the Large Case Pensions 
business represent funds maintained as a contractual requirement to fund specific pension annuities that we 
hay~ guaranteed. Minimum contractual obligations underlying the guaranteed benefits in these Separate 
Accounts were $3. 9 billio"1 and $3.8 billion at December 31, 201 l and 20 l 0, respectively. Refer to Note 2 
\:>eginning on page 66 for additional information on Separate Accounts. Contract holders assume all 
investment and mortality risk and are required to maintain Separate Accounts balances at or above a 
specified level. The level of required funds is a function of the risk underlying the Separate Accounts' 
investment strategy. If contract holders do not maintain the required level of Separate Accounts assets to 
meet the annuity guarantees, we would establish an additional liability. Contract holders' balances in the 
Separate Accounts at December 31, ~O 11 exceeded the value of the guaranteed benefit obligation. As a 
result, we were not required to maintain any additional liability for our related guarantees at December 31, 
2011. -

Guaranty Fund Assessments, Market Stabilization and Other Non-Voluntary Risk Sharing Pools 
Under guaranty fund laws e~isting in all states, insurers doing business in those states can be assessed (up to 
prescribed limjts) for certain obligations of insolvent insurance companies to policyholders and claimants. The 
health insUTM,ce guaranty associations in which we participate that operate under these laws respond to insolvencies 
of Jong-tenn care insurers as well as health insurers. OU! assessments generally are based on a fonnula relating to 
our premiums in the state compared to the premiums of other insurers. Certain states allow assessments to be 
recovered as offsets to premium taxes. Some states have similar laws relating to HMOs. The Pennsylvania 

~ 

Insurance Commissioner has placed long-tenn care insurer Penn Treaty Network America Insurance Company and 
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one of its su.bsidiaries (collectively, "Penn Treat)'") in rehabilitation, an intennediate action before insolvency, and 
has petitioned a state court for liquidation. We cannot predict when a decision will be made, although we believe it· 
is likely that the state court will rule within the next twelve months. If Penn Treaty is declared insolvent and placed 

in liquidation, we and other insurers likely would be assessed over a period of years by guaranty associations for the 
payments the guaranty associations are required to make to Penn Treaty policyholders. We are currently unable to 
predict the ultimate outcome of, or reasonably estimate the loss or range of losses resultiJ_lg from, this potential 
insolvency because we cannot predict when the state court will render a decis,ion, the amount of the insolvency, if 
any, the amount and timing of associ~ted guaranty association assessments or· the arnoi.mt or availability of potential 
off~ets, such as premium ta?< offsets. It is reasonably possible that in future reporting periods we may record a 
liability and expense relating to Penn Treaty or other insolvencies which could have a material adverse effect on our 

. operating results, financial position.and tash flows. While we have histOnca:lly recovered more.th'an halfof 
guaranty fund assessments through statutorily permitted premium tax offsets, significant increases in assessments 
could lead to legislative and/or regulatory actions that may limit future offsets. 

HMOs in certain states fo which we do business are subject to assessments, including market stabilization and other 
risk-sharing pools, for which we are assessed charges based on incurred claii:ns, demographic membership mix and 
other factors. We establish liabilities for these assessments based on applicable laws and regulations. In certain 
states, the ultimate assessments we pay are dependent upon our experience relative to other entities subject to the 
assessment and the ultimate liability i~ not knoWll at the balance sheet date.:· While the· ultimate amount of the 
assessment is dependent upon the experience of all pool participants, we believe we have adequate reserves to cover 
such assessments. 

Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings 
Out-of Network Benefit Proceedings · 
We are named as a defendant in several purported class actions and individual lawsuits arising out of our practices 
related to the payment of claims fi;ir ~ervices rendered to our members by health care providers with whom we do 
not have a contract ("out-of-neNtork providers"). Among other things, these lawsuits allege that we paid too. little 
to our health plan members and/or providers for these services, among othe~ reasons, because of our use of data 
provided by Jngenix, Inc., a subsidiary of one of our competitors ("lngenix"). Other major health insurers are the 
subject of ~imilar litigation or ~ave settled similar litigation. · 

Various plaintiftswho o/e health care providers or medical associations seek to represent nationwide classes of out­
of-network providers who provided services to our members during the period from 200 I to the pr(!.sent. Various 
plaintiffs who are members in our health plans seek to represent nationwide classes of our members:.who received 
services from out-of-network p~oviders during the period from 2001. to the present. Taken together;~ these lawsuits 
allege that we violated state law, the Employee Reti~ement Income Security Act of 1974, as arnend~d ("ERISA"), 
the Racketeer Influenced and C9rrupt Organizations Act and federal antitrust laws, either acting alo'ne or in concert 
with our competitors. The purported classes seek rei~bursement of all unpaid benefits, recalculation and 
repayment of deductible and coins:urance amounts, unspecified damages and treble damages, statutory penalties, 
injunctive and declaratory relief, plus interest, costs and attorneys' fees, and seek to disqualify us from acting as a 
fiduciary of any benefit plan that is subject to ERISA. Individual lawsuits that generally contain simila:r allegations 
and seek similar relief have been brought by health plan members and out-of-network providers. 

The first class action case was commenced on July 30, 2007. The federal Judicial Panel on Multi-District Litigation 
(the "MDL Panel") has consolidated these class action cases in the U .S. District Court for the District of New Jersey 
(the "New Jersey District Court") under the caption In re: Aetna UCR Litigation, MDL No. 2020 ("MDL 2020"). 
In addition, the MDL Panel has transferred the individual lawsuits to MDL 2020. On May 9, 20 l I, the New Jersey 
District Court dismissed the physician plaintiffs from MDL 2020 without prejudice. the N ew Jersey District 
Court's action followed a ruling by the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida (the "Florida 
District Court") that the physician plaintiffs were enjoined from participating in MDL 2020 due to a prior settlement 
and release. The physician plaintiffs have attempted to appeal the Florida District Court's ruling to the United 
S1a 1e~; Court of Appeals for the, Eleventh Circuit. 
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Discovery is substantially complete in MDL 2020, several motions are pending, and briefing on class certification 
has been completed. The court .has not set a trial date or a timetabl_e for deciding class certification. We intend to 
vigorously defend ourselves against the Claims brought in these cases. 

We also have received subpo~nas and/or requests for documents and other infonnation from, and be~n investigated 
by, attorneys general and other state and/or federal regulators, legislators and_agencies relating to our out-of­
network benefit payment practices. It is reasonably possible that others could initiate additional Htigatio~ or 
additional regulatory action against us with respect to our out-of-network benefit payment practices. 

CMSActiOns 
On June -13, 2011, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS") lifted the intermediate sanctions it had 
previously imposed on us that required us to suspend the enrollment of and marketing to new members of all Aetna 
Medicare Advantage and Standalone Prescription Drug Plan ("PDP") contracts. The sanctions related to our _ 
compliance with certain Medicare Part D requirements. We have resumed marketing our Medicare Advantage and 
PDP products and have_ been enrolling beneficiaries wi_th effective dates on a.nd after Jµly 1, 2011. CMS still _is not 
assigning any new low income subsidy members to our PDPs at this time. However, low income subsidy members 
can make their own choice to enroll in Aetna products. As a result of these sanctions, our 2011 Medicare 
membership and operating results were adversely affected because we did not participate in the annual enrollment 
process for 2011. We continue to cooperate fully with CMS to address residual matters identified in connection 
with the sanction review. 

CMS regularly audits our perfonnance to detennine our compliance with CM_S 's regulations, our contracts with 
CMS and the quality of services we provide to our Medicare members. CMS uses various payment mechanisms to 
allocate and adjust premium payments to our and other comp~ies' Medicare plans by considering the applicable 
health statlis of Medicare members as supported by infonnation maintained and provided by health care 
providers. We collect claim and encounter c;lata .from prnviders and generally rely on prqviders to appropriately 
code their submissions arid document their medical records: Medicare Advantage plans and PDPs receive· increased 
premiums for members who have certain medical conditions identified with specific health condition 
codes. Federal regulators review and ·audit the providers' medical records and refated health condition codes that 
detennine the inembers' health status and the resulting premium payments to us. CMS has instituted risk 
adjustment data validation ("RADV") audits of various Medicare Advantage plans, including two of Aetna's 
contracts for. the 2(;07 contract year. A.lthough these two audits are ongoing, we do not believe that they will have a 
material impact on our operating results, financial position or cash flows. 

We believe that the Office of the Inspector General (the "OIG") also is auditing risk adjustment data, and we expect 
CMS and the OIG to continue auditing risk adjustment data for the 2007 contract year and beyond. Aetna and other 
Medicare Advantage organizations have provided comments to CMS in response to CMS's December 2010 
proposed RADV sampling and paym-ent error-calculation methodology by which CMS proposes to calculate and 
extrapolate RADV audit payment error rates for, and determine premium refunds payable by, Medicare Advantage 
plans. Our concerns with CMS's proposed methodology include the fact that the proposed methodology does not 
take into account the "error rate" in the original Medicare fee-for-service data that was used to develop the risk 
adjustment system and that retroactive audit and payment adjustmerits undennine the actuarial soundness of 
Medicare Advantage bids. CMS has indicated that it may make retroactive contract-level premium payment 
adjustments b~ed ori the results of these RADY audits, which could occur during 20J2. CMS's premium 
adjustmel)ts could be implemented prior to our, or other Medicare Advantage plans, having an opportunity to appeal 
the audit or payment error calculation results or methodology. We are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of 
CMS's final RADV a~dit methodology, other audits for the 2007 contract year or subsequent contract years, the 
amounts of any retroactive refunds of, or prospe,ctive adjustment;> to, premjum payments- .~ade .~o us, or ~heth~r any 
audit findings .wouid cause a ch~nge to otir'metbod of esti~ating .future premium reve~ue in bid s"ubmissions to 
CMS for the current 6r future contract years or compromise premium assumptions made in our bids for prior 
contract years_. Any premium refunds or adjustments resulting from regulatory audits, including those resulting 
from CMS's sele_ction of its final RADV audit methodology, whether as a result of RADV or other audits by CMS 
or OIG or otherwise, could.be material and could adversely affect our operating results, financial position and cash 
flows. 
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Other Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings 
We are involved in numerous other lawsuits arising, for the most part, in the ordinary course of our business 
operations, including employment litigation and claims of bad faith, medical malpractice, non-compliance with 
state and federal regulatory regimes, marketing misconduct, failure to timely or appropriately pay medical and/or 
group insurance claims (including post-payment audit and collection practices), rescission of insurance coverage, 
improper disclosure of personal infonnation, patent infringement and 0th.er intellectUal property litigation and other 
litigation in our Health Care and Group insurance businesses. Some of these other lawsuits are or are purported to 
be class actions. We intend tci ·vigorously defend ourselves against the claims brought in these matters. 

In addition, our operations, cilrrent and past business practices, current and past contracts, and accounts and other 
books and records are subject to routine, regular and special investigations, audits, examinations and reviews by, 
and from time to time we receive subpoenas and other: requests for information from, CMS, the U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services, various state insurance arid health care regulatory authorities, state attorneys general 
and offices of inspector general, the Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight, the Office of the 
Inspector General, the Office of Personnel Management, committees, subcommittees and members of the U.S. 
Congress, the U.S. Department of Justice, the Federal Trade Commission, U.S. attorneys and other state and federal 
governmental authorities. These government actions include inquiries by, and testimony before, certain members, 

. committees and subcommittees of the U.S. Congress regarding certain of our current and. past business practices, 
including our overall claims processing and payment practices, our business practices with respect to our small 
group products, student health products or individual customers (such as market withdrawals, rating information, 

. premium increases and. medical ·benefit ratios), executive compensation matters and travel and entertainment 
expenses, as well as the investigations by, and subpoenas and requests from, attorneys general and others described 
above under "Out-of-Network Benefit Proceedings." There also continues to be heightened review by regulatory 
authorities of and increased litigation regarding the health care and related benefits industry's business and 
reporting practices, including premium rate increases, utilization management, complaint and grievance processing, 
information privacy, provider network structure (including the use of performance-based networks), delegated 
arrangements, rescission of insurance coverage, limited benefit health products, student health products, pharmacy 
benefit management practices, sales practices, and· claim payment practices (including payments to out-of-network 
providers and payments on life insurance policies). For example, New York is one of over 35 states that are 
investigating life insurers' claims payment and related escheat practices, and we have received requests for 
information from New York, Connecticut and Minnesota with respect to our life insurance claim payment and 
related escheat practices. As a leading national health and related benefits company, we regularly are the subject of 
such government actions. These government actions may prevent or delay us from implementing planned premium 
rate increases and may result,· and have resulted, in restrictions on our business, changes to or clarifi"cations of our 
business practices, retroactive adjustments to premiums, refunds or other payments to members, beneficiaries or 
states, assessments of damages, civil or criminal fines or penalties, or other sanctions, including the possible loss of 
licensure or suspension or exclusion from participation in government programs, sucli as the intermediate sanctions 
previously imposed on us by CMS that are described above under "CMS Actions." 

Estimating the probable losses or a range of probable losses ·resulting from litigation, government actions and other 
legal proceedings is ~nherently difficult and requires an extensive degree of judgment, particularly where the 
matters involve indeterminate claims for monetary damages, may involve fines, penalties or punitive damages that 
are discretionary in amount, involve a large number of claimants or regulatory authorities, represent a change in 
regulatory policy, present novel legal theories, are in the early stages of the proceedings, are subject to appeal or 
could result in a change in business practices. In addition, because most legal proceedings are resolved over long 
periods of time, potential losses are subject to change due to, among other things, ilew developments, changes in 
litigation strategy, the outcome of intennediate procedural and substantive rulings and other parties' settlement 
posture and their evaluation of the strength or weakness of their case against us. Except as specifically noted above 
under ·'CMS Aclions" with respect to the two ongoing RADY audits forthe 2007 contract year, we are currently 
unable to predi'ctthe ultimate outcome of, b'r reasonably estimate the losses or a range of fosses resulting from, the 
matters described above, and it is reasonably possible that their outcome could be material to.us. ·. 
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Other Obligations . 
We have operating leases for offi.ce space and certain computer and other equipment. Rental expenses for these 
items were $133 million, $152 million and $170 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The future net 
minimum payments under non-cancelable le.ases for 2012 through 2016 are estimated to be $-131 million, _$103 
million, $83 million, $50 million and $32 million, respectively. · 

We also have funding obligations relating to equity limited partnership investments and commercial mortgage 
loans. The funding requirements for equity limited partnership investments and corrunercial mortgage loans for 
2012 through 2016 are·estimated to be $133 million, $75 million, $43 million, $25 million and $17 million, 
respectively. 

19. Segment Information 

Our operations are conducted in three business segment<;: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case 
Pensioris. Our Corporate Financing segment is not a business segment; it is added to our business segments in 
order to reconc::ile to our consolidated results. The Corporate Financing segment includes interest expense on our 
outstanding debt and the financing components of our pension and OPEB plan expense (the service cost 
components ·of this expense are allocated to our business segments). 

Summarized financial information of our segment operations for 2011, 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 

Health Group Large Case Corporate To~al 
(Millions} Care Insurance Pensions Financing Company. 

2011 

Revenue from external customers $ 30,793.9 s l,715.2 s 172.0 $ $ 32,681.l 

Net investment income 338.2 266.0 326.6 930.8 

Interest expense 246.9 246.9 

Depreciation and amortization expense 442.2 5.0 447.2 

Income taxes (benefits) 1,106.6 72.6 1.0 (88.1) 1,092.1 

Operating earnings (loss} (I) 1,955.7 153.0 20.7 (163.7) 1,965.7 

Segment assets 21,697.4 5,392.6 . 11,503.1 38,593.1 

2010 

Revenue from external customers $ 31,023.9 $ 1,776.1 $ 162.2 $ $ 32,962.2 

Net investment income 418.8 275.1 362.4 l ,OS6.3 

Interest expense 254.6 254.6 

Depreciation and amortization expense 437.5 6.9 444.4 

Income taxes (benefit~) 954.2 53.0 5.0 (134.8) 877.4 

Operating earnings (loss) (IJ 1,650.1 128.0 27.8 (250.5) 1,555.4 

Segment assets 20,881.5 5,039.3 11,818.6 37,739.4 

2009 

Revenue from external custome~ $ 31,631.6 $ 1,827.1 $ 183.8 $ s; 33,642.5 

Net investment income 392.5 274.1 369.8 1,036.4 

Interest expense 243.4 243.4 

Depreciation and amortization expense 409.1 6.9 416.0 

Income taxes (benefits) 744.9 38.7 8.5 (167.4) 624.7 

Operating earnings (loss) (IJ 1,412.7 103.8 32.2 (310.8) 1,237.9 

Segment assets 20,734.7 4,967.4 12,848.3 ' 38,550.4 

(I) Operating earnings (los~) ~:iccludes net realized capitai gains or los~es and .the other items d~scribcd in the reconciliation on page 109 .. 
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A reconciliation ofoperating earnings (I) to net income in 2011, 2010 and 2009 was as follows: 

(Millions) 

Operating earnings 

N~! realized c11pi1al gains 

\11llun1ary .:arly retimncnl program 

Transaction-related costs 

Litigation-related insurance proceeds . 

Severance and facilities charge 

ES! settlement 

Net income 

$ 

$ 

2011 2010 

J,965.7 $ I ,555.4 

109.1 183.8 

(89.J) 

(43.1} 

101.5 

(30.8) 

l,98S.7 $ 1,766.8 

$ 

$ 

2009 

1,237.9 

55.0 

24.9 

(60.9) 

19.6 

1,276.S 

(I) 1n addition to net realized capital gains, the following other items are excluded from operating earnings because we believe they neither 
relate to the ordinary course of our business nor reflect our underlying business performance: 

In 2011, we announced a voluntary early retirement program. In connection with the voluntary early retirement program, we 
recorded a one-time charge of $89. i million ($137 .0 million pretax) during 201 i. . 
In 2010, we recorded.transaction related costs of$43.I million ($66.2 million pretax). These costs related to our Phannacy 
Benefit Management Subcontr'act Agreement with CVS Caremark Cotporation and the announced acqu_isition ofMedicity. 
Followi11g a.Pennsylvar.ia Supreme Court ruling in June 2009, we recorded litigation-related insurance proceeds ofS-101.5 
million ($156.3 million' preiax) iri 2010 and $24.9 million ($38.2 million pretax) in 2009 from our liability insurers related to 
certain litigation we settled in 2003. · 
In 2010 and 2009, we recorded sever~nce and faciiities charges of$30.8 million ($47.4 million pretax) and $60.9 million ($93. 7 
million pretax), respectively. The severance and .facilities charges in each year related to actions taken that year or committed to 
be taken in the following year. . 
In 2009, we reached an agreement with· Express Scripts, Inc: and one of its subsidiaries (collectively "ESI") to settle certain 
litigation in which we were the plaintiff. Under the applicable settlement, we received approximately $19.6 million ($30.2 
million pretax}, net offees and expenses, in 2009. 

Revenues from external customers by product in 2011, 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 

(MiUions) 

· Health care. premiums 

Health care fees and other revenue 
Group life 

Group disability 

Group long-tenn care 
Large case pensions. 

Total revenue from external customers <•>c2> 

$ 

$ 

2011 

27,189.2 
3,604.7 

1,036.7 
632.6 

4S.9 
172.0 

. 32,681.1' 

2010 2009 
$ 27,610.6 $ 28,243.8 

3,413.3 3,387.8 

1,084.9 1,095.6 
639.I 663.7 

52. \ 67.8 

162.2 183.8 

$ 32,962.2 $ 33,642.5 

(I) 
All within the U.S .. except app~oximateiy $590 million, $429 million and $240 million in 201 I, 2010 and 2009, res~ective]y, which 
were derived from foreign customers. 

(2) Revenue from the U.S. federal government was $7.0 billion, $7.5 billion and $7.2 billion in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, in the 
Health Care and Group Insurance s·egments. These amounts exceeded I 0 percent of our total revenue from external' customers in each of 
20ll,2010and2009._ , · 

The following is a reconcili~tion of ~evenue from external customers to total revenues included in our statements of 
income in 2011, 2010 and 2009: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 . 2009 
Revenue from external customers $ 32,681.1 $ 32,962.2 $ 33,642.S 

Net investmenl income 930.8 1,056.3 1,036.4 
ESI scttlemem <•l 30.2 

Nc1 realized capital gains · 167.9 227.5 55.0 

To1al revenue S. 33,779.8 s 34,246.0 $ 34,7~.I 

(I) ln 2009, we reached an agreement with Express Scripts, Inc. and one of its subsidiaries (collectively "ESI''.} to senle certain litigation in 
which we were _the plaintiff. Under the applicable settlement, we received approximately $19.6 million ($30.2 million pretax), net of . 
fees and expenses, in 2009. 
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Long-lived assets; which are principally within the U.S., were $557 million and $529 million at December 31, 2011 
and 2010, respectively. · 

20. Discontinued Products 
.......... ' . ... . . . ., -·-· 

Prior to I 993, we sold single-premium annuities ("SPAs") and guaranteed investment contracts ("GICs"), primarily . 
to employer sponsored pension plans. In I 993, we discontinued selling these products to Large Case Pensions 
customers, and now we refer to these products as discontinued products. 

We discontlnue4 selling these products because they were generating losses for us, and we projected that they 
wou~d continue to generate losses over their life (which is currently greater than 30 years for SPAs and less than 5 
years for GICs); so we established a reserve for anticipated future losses at the time of discontinuance. This reserire 
represents the present value (at the risk-free rate of return at the time of discontinuance, consistent with the duration 
of the liabilities) of the difference between the expected cash flows from the assets supporting these products and 
the cash flows expected to be required to meet the obligations of the outstanding contracts. Because we projected 
anticipated cash shortfalls in our discontinued products, at the time of discontinuance we established a receivable 
from Large Case J>ensions' continuin·g products (which is elimin~ted in consolidation). 

Key assumptions in setting this reserve include future investment results, payments to retirees, mortality and 
retirement rates and the cost of asset management and customer service. In 1997, we began the use of a bond 
default assumption to reflect. historical default experience. In 1995, we modified the mortality tables used in order 
to reflect a more up-to-date 1994 Uninsured Pensioner's Mortality table. Other than these changes, since 1993 
there have been no significant changes to the asswnptions underlying the reserve. 

We review the adequacy of this reserve quarterly based on actual experience. As long as our expectation of future 
losses remains consistent with prior projections, the results of the discontinued products are applied to the reserve 
and do not affect net income. However, if actual or expected future losses are greater than·we currently estimate, 
we may increase the reserve, which could adver~ely impact net income .. If ·acnial or expected future losses are less 
than we currently estimate, we may decrease the reserve, which could favorably impact net income. As a result of 
this review, the reserve at each of December 31 , 2011 and 2010 reflects management's best estimate of anticipated 
future losses, and is included in future policy benefits on our balance sheet. 

The activity in the resei-Ve for anticipated futu.re losses. ~n discontinued products in 2011, 20 I 0 and 2009 was as 
follows (pretax): 

(Millions) 

Reserve, begiMing of period 

Operating loss 

· Net realized capital gains (losses j 

Cumulative effect of new accounting standard as of April 1, 20090l 

Reserve, end of period 

$' 

$ 

20ll 

884.8 $ 

(16.9) 

28.4 

896.3 $ 

2(}10 2009 
789.2 $ 790.4 

(15.4) (34.8) 

111.0 (8.5) 

42.1 

884.8 $ 789.2 

{I) The adoption of new accounting guidance fi'om other-than-temporary impairments of debt securities in 2009 resulted·in a cumulative 
effect adjustm_entat April 1, 2009. Refer to Note 2 beginning on page 66 for additional information. This amount is not renected in 
accumulated other comprehensive loss and retained earnings in our shareholders' equity since the resultS of discontinued products do not 
impact our ·operaiin·g results. . 

In 2011, our discontinued products reflected net realized capital gains, primarily attributable to gains from the sale 
of debt securities partially offset by losses from derivative transactions. In 2010, our discontinued products 
reflected net realized capital gains, primarily attributable to gains from the sale of debt securities and investment 
real estate. In 2009, discontinued products reflected net realized capital losses aitrTtiutable to 'the-'imfavorable . 
investmenl conditio_ns :that existed. during the first half of 2009. During 2011 , 2010 and 2009, our discontinued 
products also reflected operating losses. We evaluated the operating loss in 2011 against our expectations of future 
cash. flows assumed in estimating the reserve and concluded that no adjustment to the reserve was required at 
December 31, 2011. 
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The anticipated run-off of the discontinued products reserve balance at December 31, 2011 (assuming that assets are 
held until maturity and that the reserve run-off is proportional to the liability run-off) is as follows: 

(Millions) 

2012 s 47.9 

2013 47.0 

2014 46.0 

2015 44.9 

2016 43.6 

Thereafter 666.9 

Assets and liabilities supporting discontinued products at 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 0 > 

(Millions) 2011 2010 

Assets: 

Debt and equity securities available for sale $ 2,589.7 s 2,611 .9 

Mortgage Joans 437.I 498.8 

Other invesnnents 619.2 601.6 

Total investments 3,646.0 3,7123 

Other assets 130.0 90.4 

Collateral received under securities loan agreements 35.1 

Current and deferred income taxes 15.7 2().7 

Receivable from continuing products cii 523.2 492.4 

Tot~ I assets s 4,314.9 s 4,350.9 

Lbllilitics: 

Furure policy benefits s 3,005.8 . $ 3,162.2 

Policyholdc:rs' funds 8.2 10.2 

Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products 896.3 884.8 

Collateral payable under securities Joan agreements 35.1 

Other liabilities 131 404.6 . 258.6 

Total liabilities s 4,314.9 $ 4,350.9 

rii Assets supporting the discontinued products are distinguished from assets supporting continuing products. 
(ll The receivable from continuing products is eliminated in consolidation. 
(JJ Net unrealized capital gains on the available-for-sale debt securities are included in other liabilities and are not reflected in consolidated 

shareholders' equity. 

The discontinued products investment portfolio has changed since inception. Mortgage loans have decreased from 
. $5A billion (37% of the investment portfolio) at Decei:nber 31, 1993 to $437 miJlion (12% of the investment 
portfolio). at December 31, 2011. This was a result of maturities, prepayments and the securitization and sale of 
commercial mortgages. Also, real estate decreased from $500 million (4% of the investment portfolio) atDecember 
31, 1993 to $67 million (2% ofihe investment portfolio) at December 31, 2011 , primarily as a result of sales. The 
resulting proceeds were primarily reinvested in debt and equity securities. Over time, the then-existing mortgage 
loan and real estate portfolios and the reinvested proceeds have resulted in greater investment returns than we 
originally assumed in 1993. 
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At December 31, 201 l, the.expected run-off of the SPA and GIC liabilities, including future interest, was as 
follows: 

(Millions) 

2012 $ 423.4 

2013 410.6 

2014 ............. . . 
387;0 

2015 369.6 

2016 352.4 

Thereafter 4,475.S 

The expected run-off of the SPA and GIC liabilities can vary from actual due to several factors, including, among 
other things, contract holders redeeming their contracts prior to contract maturity or additional amounts received 
from existing contracts. The liability expected at December 31, 1993 and actual liability balances at December 31, 
2011, 2010 and 2009 for the GIC and SPA liabilities were as follows: 

Expected Actual 

(Millions) GIC SPA GIC 
2009 $ 19.1 $ 3,103.9 $ 12.l $ 

2010 18.0 2,943.5 10.2 

2011 17.0 2,780.5 8.2 

The GIC balances· were lower than expected in each period because several contract holders redeemed their 
contracts prior to contract maturity. The SPA balances· in each period were higher than expected because of 
additional amounts received under existing contracts. 

SPA 

3,301.0 

3,162.2 

3,005.8 

The distributions on our discontinued products consisted of scheduled contract maturities, settlements and benefit 
payments of $412.0 million, $432.2 million and $447.l million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 
2009, respectively. Participant-directed withdrawals from our discontiiiued products were not significant in the 
years ended ended December 31, 201 l, 2010 or 2009. Cash required to fund these distributions was provided by 
earnings and scheduled payments on, and sales of, invested assets. 

21. Subsequent Events 

In January 2012, we enlered into three-year reinsurance agreements with Vitality Re ID Limited, an unrelated 
insurer. The agreements allow us to reduce our required statutory capital and provide $150 million of collateralized 
excess of loss reinsurance coverage on a portion of Aetna's group Commercial Insured Health Care business. 

On February 24, 2012, our Board declared a cash dividend of$.175 per common share that will be paid on April 27, 
2012, to shareholders of record at the. close of business on April 12, 2012. . 

Also on February 24, 2012, our Board approved a new share repurchase program that authorizes us to repurchase up 
to $750 million of our common .stock. 
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Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting 
("JCOFR") for the Company. ICOFR is defined as a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and.the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
withGAAP. 

Our ICOFR process includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance ofrecords that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our as.sets; (ii) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to pennit preparation of consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in.accordance with 
authorizations of otir management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of wtauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our 
consolidated financial statements .. 

Because of its inherent lirriitatiorts, I CO FR may not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to .futi.rre p~riods are subject to the .risk that controls may become inadequate becau~e of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree 'of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. . 

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive and Chief Financial 
. Officers, management assessed the effectiveness of our I CO FR at December 31, 201 i. In making this assessment, 
management used the framework set forth by the Conunittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission in "Internal ControJ - Integrated Framework." Based on this assessment, management concluded that 
our ICOFR was effective at December 31, 2011. Our ICOFR as well as our consolidated financial statements have 
been audited by KPMG LLP; an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is 
included on page 114. · 

Management's Responsibility for Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for ·our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with 
GAAP. Management believes the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects our financial position, results of operations and cash flows as of and for 
the periods presented in this report. · · ' 

The financial statements are the product of a number of processes that include the gathering of financial data 
developed from the records of our day-to-day business transactions. lnfonned judgments and estimates are used for 
those transactions not yet complete or for which the ultimate effects cannot be measured precisely.:: We emphasize 
the selection and training of persorutel who are qualified to perfonnthese'functions. In addition, our personnel are 
subject to rigorous standards of ethical conduct that are widely communicated throughout the organization. 

The Audit Committee of Aetna's Board. of Directors engages KPMG ·LLP, an independent registered public 
accounting firm, to audit our consolidated financial statements and express theii opinion thereon. Members of that 
finn also have the right cif full access to each member of management in conducting their audits. The report of 
KPMG LLP on their audit ofour consolidated financial statements appears on page'l 14. 

Audit Committee Oversight 
The A11dil Corrunittee of Aetna's Board of Directors is comprised solely of independent directors. The Audit 
Commiltee meets regularly with management, our internal auditors and KPMG LLP to oversee and monitor the 
work of each and to inquire of each as to their assessment of the perfonnance of the others in their work relating to 
our consolidated financial statements and ICOFR. Both KPMG LLP and our internal auditors have, at all times, the 
right of full access to the Audit Committee, without management present, to discuss any matter they believe should 
be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee. 
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KPMG LLP 
One Financial Plaza 
755 Main Street 
Hartford, CT 06103 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Aetna Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Aetna Inc. and subsidiaries 
(the "Company") as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of 
income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended 
December 31, 201 r. We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committ.ee of Sponsoring Organizations.of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO). The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, 
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying 
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company's 
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whe.ther the financial statements are free of material 
m~sstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in 
all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included examining, on 
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing t_be c.ccounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over 
financial reporting !ncluded obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and. evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also 
included perfonning such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable.basis for our opinions. 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process d_esigned to provide 
reasonable ~surance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (I) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transaetions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide 
reaso.nable assurance that transactions are ·recorded as necessary to. permit preparation of 
financial . statements . in acc.ordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that · 
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accorqance,with aut.horizations 

. . . . . . -

KPMG LLP Is a Dolawere ~mlted .1iablli:y partner&hip, 
ll'lo v.s. member f1nn or KPMG lntematilonal ~erattve 
("KPMG l•l•mallonol"), • SwiOI onlily. 
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The Board of bi rectors arid Shareholders 
Aetna Inc. 
Page 2 of2 

of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detettion of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's 
assets that could have a material effect' on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitatioris, internal control ·over financial reporting may not. prevent or 
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls ina)'"become inadequate because of changes in· conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with. the policies or procedures may d_eteriorate. 

In our opinion, ttie consolidated financial statements referred to above present · fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2011 and 20 I 0, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the" three-year period ended 
December 31, 201 I, in conformity with ·u.s. generally accepted accounti~g principles. Also in 
our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control -
fmr:grated Framework issued by COSO. 

February 24, 2012 
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Quarterly Data (Unaudit~d) 

(Millions, except per share and common stock data) f'irst Second Third Fourth 

2011 

Total revenue s 8,387.8 $ 8,344.4 s 8,475.3 s 8,572.3 

Incoine. before income taxes $ 898.4 s 821.J- s 751.4 $ 606.9 
lncome taxes (312.4) (284.4) (261.0) (234.3) 

Net income $ 586.0 $ 536.7 s 490.4 $ 372.6 

.-Nee income per share - basic <11 $ 1.53 $ 1.42 $ 1.33 s 1.04 

Ne1 income per share - diluted ( l) 1.50 1.39 1.30 l.02 

Divideads declared per share s .15 s .15 $ .IS s .175 

Conunon siock prices, high 38.87 45.91 45.23 43.73 

· Common stock prices, low 31.04 36.52 34.55 34.33 

2010 

Total revenue $ 8,621.5 $ 8,545.8 $ 8,538.8 $ 8,539.9 

Income before income taxes $ 801.0 $ 763.5 $ 767.2 $ 312.5 

Income taxes (238.4) (272.5) (269.6) (96.9) 

Net income $ 562.6 $ 491.0. s · 497.6 $ 21 5.6 

Net income per share - basic C•l $ l.30 $ 1.16 $ 1.21 $ .54 

Net income per share - diluted<•> 1.28 1.14 1.1 9 .53 

Dividends declared per share $ $ $ .04 $ 

Common stock prices, high 35.38 35.17 31 .61 31.99 

Common stock prices, low 28.63 26.38 25.99 29.62 

(I) Calculation of net income per share is based on weighted average shares outstanding _during each quarter and, accordingly, the sum may 
not equal the total_ for the year. 
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Corporate Peaormance Graph 

The following grapb compares the ~urnul~tlve total shareholder return on OUr common Stock (assuming . 
reinvestment of dividends) with the cumulative total return on the published Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index 
("S&P 500") and the cumulativ~ total return on the published Morgan Stanley Healthcare Payors lnde~ ("MSHPI") 
from December 31, 2006 through December 31, 2011. The graph assumes a $100 investment in shares of our 
conunon Stock oil.December 31, 2006. -

(I) 

Cumutative·Totai RetumJrom becember:3fi 2006,to.c>ecember 3\ 2·011 ·: . :" - · .~: -.~ .· ... ,;~--·.··-··-·····. ·: . .-_;:(·-·: ~ - ·"--: : .. ~;!:. ........ -:.:·;. ~: 1.,·····:·;'·.~·-· >·.·:· .... ·:··~-· · : . 

ofAetna·Common ·stock1.:S&P'500:·and MSHPI . 
.:• . .. . , .. ·'-· ..... ·- .... ' .. ···.·· .. . · ... ·.... . ·..... . . . . ... . 

·s 66.bo. 

s 40.00 . . 

$ ~0.00. 
;;~ii,::-·--~~;. ;~:~· .. -~,~, . ' ' .Jo' • .. ,, . 

$ - ... 
·2011 

•' .: ... · ,_ ... .:,-. 

._2008 2009 2010· 2001· 
.. _,,_ AET 

: · . .. ~. SGtL1.6 ... ...... _ .,..; 

'iOO':oo . .•105:49\ 
I ~.•.• • • .,._~•· ~ 

. ··+· MSHPkl1i' 
•. . • ••. 4 • •. 

At December 31, 2011 .• the companies focluded in the MSHPI were: Aetna Inc., Amerigroup Corporation, Centene 
Corporation, CIGNA Corporation, Coventry Health Care, Inc., Health Net, Irie., Humana Inc., Molina Healthcare, Inc., 
UnitedHealth Group Incorporaied,Wellcare Health Plans, Inc. and Wellpoint, Inc. 

Shareholder returns over the period shown on the corporate petformance graph should not be considered indicative 
of future shareholder returns. · 

Annual Report- Page I 17 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS; MANAGEMENT AND CORPORA TE SECRET ARY 

·Board of Directors 

Fernando Aguirre Barbara Hackman Franklin 
Chail'man. President and President and Chief Executive Officer 
Chief Executive Officer Barbara Franklin Enterprises 
Chiquita Brands International, Inc. Former U.S. Secretary of Commerce 

Mark T. Bertolini Jeffrey E. Garten 
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Juan Trippe. Professor in the Practice 
President of International Trade, Finance and 
Aetna Inc. Business 

Yale University 
Frank M. Clark 
Former Chairmqn and Chief Executive Gerald Greenwald• 
Officer Founding Principal 
Commonwe~Jth Edison Company Greenbriar Equity Group 

Retired Chairman and Chief 
Betsy Z. Cohen Executive Officer •. 

Chief Executive Officer UAL Corporation 
The Bancorp, Inc. 

Ellen M. Hancock 
Molly J. Coye, M.D. Former P.resident 
Chief Innovation Officer Jazz Technologies, Inc. 
UCLA Health System Former Chairman and Chief 

Executive Officer 
Roger N. Farah Exodus Communications, Inc. 
President, Chief Operating Officer and 
Director 
Ralph Lauren Corporation 

Management 

Mark T. Be~tolini · . ~-Margaret M. McCarthy 
Chairman. Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President, 
President . . Operations and Technology 

William J. Casazza 
Senior Vice President and General 
Counsel 

Jeff D. Emerson 
Senior Vice President, 
Health Care Management and Regions 

Kristi Ann Matus 
Executive Vice President, 
Government Services 

Corporate Secretary 

Judith H. Jones 
Vice President and Cor orate Secreto 

Frank G. McCauley 
Executive Vice President, 
Commercial Businesses 

Robert M. Mead 
Senior Vice President, 
Marketing, Product and 
.Communications 

Sandip Patel 
Senior Vice President, 
International Businesses 
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Richard J. Harrington 
Chairman 
The Cue Ball Group 
Former President and Chief Executive 
Officer 
The Thomson Corporation 

Edward J. Ludwig 
Chairman of the Board 
Becton, Dickinson and Company 

Joseph P. Newhouse: 
John D. MacArthur Professor of 
Health Policy ·and Management 
Harvard University 

"'Mr. Greenwald will not stand for 
election at the 2012 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders and will retire from·the 
Board immediately prior t9 the Annual 
Meeting. 

Lonny Reisman,M.D. 
Senior Vice President, Chief Medical 
Officer 

Elease E. Wright 
Senior Vice Presideni, 
Human Resources 

Joseph M. Zubretsky 
Senior Executive Vice President, 
Chief Financial Officer and Chief 
Enterprise Risk Officer 



SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

Annual Meeting 
The annual meeting of shareholders of Aetna Inc. ("Aetna" or the "Company") will be held on Friday, May 18, 2012, 
at the Gaylord Opryland Hotel & Convention Center in Nashville, Tennessee .. 

Corporate Headquarters 
I 51 Farmington A venue 
Hartford, CT 06156 
Phone:860-273-0123 

Stock Exchange Listing 
Aetna's common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (''NYSE"). The NYSE symbol for the common 
shares' is AET. As of January·J l; 20 i 2; there were 8,454 record holders of Aetna's:conmion shares. . . . 

Website Access to Aetna's Periodic and Current Reports and Corporate Governance Materials 
Aetna makes available free of charge through its website at www.aetna.com itsAnnual Reports on Fonn 
10-K, Quarterly Reports on Fonn 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendmerits to those reports as soon as 
reasonably practicable after Aetna electronically files or furnishes such materials with the U.S. Se.curities and 
Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Aetna also makes available free of charge through its website the Company's 
Annual Report, Financial Report to Shareholders, Proxy Statements and quarterly financial results. Shareholders 
may request printed copies of these reports free of charge by calling 1-800-237-4273. 

Aetna's Annual Report on Fonn 10-K provides additional details about the Company's business as well as other 
financial information not inClude~ in this Annual Report, Financial Report to Shareholders. Tei' receive a·copy·of the 
Annual Report on Form 10-K without charge, call 1-800-237-4273 or mail a written request to Judith H. Jones, 
Aetna's Corporate Secretary, anSl Farmington Avenue, RW61, Hartford, CT 06156. 

Shareholders may call l-800-237-4273 to listen to the Company's latest quarterly earnings ·release and dividend 
infonnation. 

Also available on Aetna's website at www.aetna.com/governance are the following Aetna corporate governance 
materials: Articles oflncorporation and By-Laws; Code of Conduct for Directors, officers arid employees (and 
information regarding any amendments.or waivers relating to Aetna's Directors, executive officers arid principal 
financial and accounting officers or persons performing similar functions); independence Standards for Directors; 
Corporate Governance Guidelines; Board of Directors; and Charters for the key standing Committees of the Board of 
Directors (Audit Committee, Committee on Compensation and Organi.zation, Executive Committee';' Investment and 
Finance Committee, Medical Affairs Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Com~ittee). 

Section 16 reports are filed with .the SEC by Aetna on behalf of Directors and those officers subjeCt to Section 16 of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, to reflect a change in their beneficial ownership of Aetna's 
securities. Such reports are available through Aetna's website at www.aetna.com. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors can be contacted confidentially by those seeking to raise concerns or 
complaints about the Company's accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters by calling AlertLine®, an 
independent toil-free service, at 1-888-891-8910 (available seven days a week, 24 hours a day), or by writing: 

Corporate Compliance 
P.O. Box 370205 
West.Hartford, CT 06137-0205 

Anyone wishing to make their concerns known to Aetna's nonmanagement Directors or the Lead Director or to send a 
communication to the entire Board of Directors may contact Aetna's Lead Director by writing to P.O. Box 370205, 
West Hartford, CT 06137-0205. All communications will be kept confidential and forwarded directly to the Lead 
Director. Aclna's Lead Director, among other things, presides over the independent Directors' sessions. To contact 
Aetna's Chairman you may write to Chairman at Aetna Inc., 151 Farmington Avenue, Hartford, CT 06156. 
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Investor Relations 
Securities analysts and institutional investors can contact: 

Thomas F. Cowhey 
Vice President, Investor Relations 
Phone: 860-273-2402 
Fax: 860-273-4191 
e-mail address: CowheyT@aetna.com 

Shareholder Services 
. Computershare Trust Company, N .A. ("Computershare"), Aetna's transfer agent and registrar, maintains a telephone 

response center and a website to service registered shareholder accounts. }legistered shareh_olders may contact 
Computershare to inquire about replacement" dividend checks, address changes, stock transfers and other account 
matters. 

Computers/tare /m1estment Pla11 ("CJP'') 
Current shareholders and new investors can purchase Aetna common shares and reinvest cash dividends through the 
CIP sponsored by Computershare. 
Contacting Computershare by mail: 

Computershare Trust Company, N.A. 
P.O. Box 43078 
Providence, RI 02940-3078 

Contacting Computershare by telephone: 
1-800-446-2617 or I-781-575-2725 

Contacting Computershare by Internet: 
www.computershare.com/investor 
Current registered shareholders who have a user ID and password can access account information under 
"Login." New users can click "Create Login" to set up their user ID and password for the first time. 

New investors in the CIP: · 
. Click "buy stock direct" and search by ticker symbol "AET" to view or print the plan materials and/or to open a 

new shareholder account completely online •. ,.; 
. ).~ 

Electronic Delivery of Shareholder Materials 
Shareholders may participate in a program to receive Aetna shareholder meeting materials online, including annual 
reports, notices of annual and special meetings, proxy stateinents and proxy cards on line. To consent to receive annual 
meeting materials and materials for any special shareholder meeting over the internet rathe.r than by mail, visit any one 
of the websites below that applies: 

Beneficial Shareholder: 
If you hold your stock through a bank or broker, you can enroll if your bank or broker is among the majority that 
participates in this electronic delivery service. You will need your account number. To enroll visit: 
http://enroll.icsdelivery.com/aet 

Registered Shareholder: 
If your shares are registered directly in your name with Aetna's transfer agent, Computershare, to enroll visit: 
www.computershare-na.co"1/green/ 
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Other Shareholder Inquiries 
Office of the Corporate Secretary 
Aetna Inc. 
151 Farmington Avenue, RW61 
~artford._CT 06156-3215 
Fax: 860-293-1361 
E-mai·I address: Shareh..old·erRelations@aetna.com 

Aetna Equity-Based Grant Participants and Aetna Employee Stock Purchase Plan Participants 
Employees with outstanding equity-based grants (stock options, stock appreciation rights, market stock units, restricted 
stock units, perfonnance stock units) or who own shares acquired through the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
("ESPP") should address all questions to UBS Financial Services, Inc. regarding their accounts, outstanding grants or 
shares received through exercises, market stock unit vesting, restricted stock unit vesting, performance stock unit 
.vesting or ESPP purchases. · . .. , ; . 

-UBS Financial Ser\rices; Inc. 
Corporate Employee Financial Services 
499 Washington Boulevard; 9th Floor 
Jersey City, NJ 07310USA , 
Phone: 1-888-793-763 f · . 
('ITY"for the hearing impaired: 1-877-352-35.95) 

Online access to UBS: .. · · 
www.ubs.com/onesource/aet 

. . . 
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